
  City of Nevada City 
PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL MEETING 

AGENDA 
THURSDAY, JANUARY 26, 2017 1:30 PM 

Council Chambers – City Hall 
317 Broad Street - Nevada City, CA  95959 

_______________________________________________________________________________ 
•AUDIENCE MEMBERS DESIRING TO ADDRESS THE PLANNING COMMISSION ON ITEMS ON THE
AGENDA:  After recognition by the Chair, state your name, address and your comments or questions.  Please direct your
remarks to the Commission.  So that all interested parties may speak, please limit your comments to the item under
discussion.  All citizens will be given the opportunity to speak, consistent with Constitutional rights.  Time limits are at the
discretion of the Chair.  •If you challenge the Commission’s decision on any matter in court, you will be limited to raising
only those issues you or someone else specifically raised or delivered in writing to the Planning Commission at or prior to
the meeting.  •Requests for disability-related modifications or accommodations may be made by contacting the City
Planner and should be made at least 72 hours prior to the meeting.
__________________________________________________________________________________________

Mission Statement 
The City of Nevada City is dedicated to preserving and enhancing its small town character 

 and historical architecture while providing quality public services 
 for our current and future residents, businesses and visitors. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

ROLL CALL (currently one vacant position) Chair Dan Thiem, Vice-Chair Stuart Lauters, Commissioners Steffen 

Hawkins-Snell, Skyler Moon 

APPROVAL OF ACTION MINUTES  

December 15, 2016 

HEARING FROM THE PUBLIC: Comments on items not on the agenda are welcome and are limited to three 

minutes.  However, action or discussion by the Commission may not occur at this time.  

SIGN REVIEW 

1. 311 Broad Street – Gerardo Torres, business owner “Stella’s” Mexican restaurant

DEMOLITION APPLICATION REVIEW 

2. 114 Silva - Demolition

CITY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATION 

3. Recommendation to City Council for a Medical Cannabis Dispensary Ordinance

4. Recommendation to City Council for Cannabis Cultivation Ordinance

5. Strategic Objectives Workshop – Rules and Regulations

PLANNING COMMISSION LIAISON REPORTS –Previously approved projects – informational only 

STAFF APPROVALS AND DETERMINATIONS – (for information only): 

325 American Hill Road – Interior remodel, minor exterior alterations  

242 Brock Road- removal of 2 dead Ponderosa Pines 

464 Monroe Street – 20 dead Ponderosa Pines 

420 Nursery Street – removal of 2 dead Ponderosa Pines 

355 Nile Street - Re-roof 

CORRESPONDENCE 

ANNOUNCEMENTS: 

Damskey Resignation 

Next Regular Meeting – February 16, 2017 

Planning Commissioner Resources   

ADJOURNMENT  



  City of Nevada City 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION MINUTES  
THURSDAY, DECEMBER 15, 2016 1:30 PM 

Council Chambers – City Hall 
317 Broad Street - Nevada City, CA  95959 

_______________________________________________________________________________ 
•AUDIENCE MEMBERS DESIRING TO ADDRESS THE PLANNING COMMISSION ON ITEMS ON THE 
AGENDA:  After recognition by the Chair, state your name, address and your comments or questions.  Please direct your 
remarks to the Commission.  So that all interested parties may speak, please limit your comments to the item under 
discussion.  All citizens will be given the opportunity to speak, consistent with Constitutional rights.  Time limits are at the 
discretion of the Chair.  •If you challenge the Commission’s decision on any matter in court, you will be limited to raising 
only those issues you or someone else specifically raised or delivered in writing to the Planning Commission at or prior to 
the meeting.  •Requests for disability-related modifications or accommodations may be made by contacting the City 
Planner and should be made at least 72 hours prior to the meeting. 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
          Mission Statement 

The City of Nevada City is dedicated to preserving and enhancing its small town character 
 and historical architecture while providing quality public services 

 for our current and future residents, businesses and visitors. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
ROLL CALL Chair Dan Thiem, Vice-Chair Stuart Lauters, Commissioners Gail Damskey, Steffen Hawkins-Snell, Skyler 
Moon 
 
APPROVAL OF ACTION MINUTES   
November 17, 2016 
 
Motion by S. Hawkins-Snell to approve minutes as presented 
Seconded by S. Moon 
Vote: 5/0, motion carries 
 
HEARING FROM THE PUBLIC: Comments on items not on the agenda are welcome and are limited to three 
minutes.  However, action or discussion by the Commission may not occur at this time.  
N. Locke: Cupcake Day 
 
SIGN REVIEW 
 

1. 311 Broad Street – Gerardo Torres, business owner “Stella’s” Mexican restaurant  
 
No representative present. No discussion and no action taken. 
 
2. 325 Spring Street- Request for guidance on the Miners Foundry sign replacement  

Representatives: Peter Van Zant, Gretchen Bond 
Recommendation:  

 Utilize the signage for directional signage and Foundry signage and remove reference to the Nevada 
City Winery thereby reducing the overall size. 

 Provide an inventory of existing signage and their dimensions. 
 
ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW 
 

3. 201 High Street-  Ronald Cherry’s, Senior Church Warden: Alteration to Exterior Doors at the Trinity Church 
Representative: Ronald Cherry 
 
Motion by S. Moon to approve as presented 
Seconded by S. Hawkins Snell 
Vote:4//0/1 (Damskey absent); Motion carries. 



December 15, 2016 PC 

Action minutes 

Page 2 of 3 

 

 

4. 437 Broad Street – Jody and Richard Beaty, property owners: garage door replacement on carriage house facing 
Spring Street 

Representative: Richard Beaty 
Public: None 
Recusal: S. Moon due to residential proximity 

Motion by S. Lauters  to approve as modified at the hearing and conditioned below to replace garage doors with  
Clopay Coachman manufactured wooden door with the 12-panel door and 12 upper windows. 
Seconded by S. Hawkins-Snell 
Vote: 3/0/1 (Damskey absent)/1(Moon recused); Motion carries 

  

 Conditions: 

 Garage doors shall be replaced with the Clopay manufactured doors with the wood composite overlay, 

painted to be consistent with the existing painting scheme.  

 The Clopay selection shall be the 12-panel style, with twelve upper windowsCommissioner Liaison: S. 

Hawkins-Snell 

MAP  EXTENSION 
5. 400 Gracie Road - Glenn Christ, Applicant/Owner: Request to extend recordation of Final Map/Use Permit for 

16-unit subdivision known as “Gracie Commons” for 2 years, pursuant to City’s Subdivision Ordinance Section 
16.04.380 
Representative: Andy Cassano, Glenn Christ 
Public: 
Motion by S. Hawkins-Snell 
Seconded by S. Moon 
Vote: 4/0/1 (Damskey absent); Motion carries 

 

CITY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATION  

6. Recommendation to City Council for an Ordinance Regulating Mobile Food Vending 

Public: none 

Motion to recommend to the City Council without changes. 

Seconded by S. Moon 

Vote: 4/0/1(Damskey absent); Motion carries 
 

PUBLIC OUTREACH UPDATE 
7. Medical Cannabis Dispensary Workshop held on December 1 and extension of public comment period 

Public: See video record 

 

Motion to extend the public comment period by S. Lauters through January 9, 2017. 

Seconded by S. Moon 

Vote:4/0/1 (Damskey absent); Motion carries 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION LIAISON REPORTS –Previously approved projects – informational only 
 
 
STAFF APPROVALS AND DETERMINATIONS – (for information only): 

108 Gold Nugget- Residential Roof Mounted Solar 

401 N. Pine Street- removal of 2 Liquidambars – roots repeatedly interfere in sewer line 

212 Church Street- removal of one Black locus compromising a retaining wall 



December 15, 2016 PC 

Action minutes 

Page 3 of 3 

 

 

 
CORRESPONDENCE 

ANNOUNCEMENTS:   Next Regular Meeting – January 19, 2017     

ADJOURNMENT   

Move to adjourn by S. Lauters 

Seconded by S. Hawkins-Snell 

Vote: Vote:4/0/1 (Damskey absent); Motion carries 

 
Adjourn: 3:23 PM 



City of Nevada City 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

TO:  Planning Commission 

FROM: Amy Wolfson, City Planner 

SPECIAL MEETING DATE:

RE: Sign Application –311 Broad Street – Gerardo Torres, business owner 

ATTACHMENT: 1) Application for Historic District Sign

2) Detailed exhibit of signage

3) Photos of existing bracket

APPLICATION: 

The owner of the business, Gerardo Torres, is requesting approval of a sign for “Stella’s” a new Mexican 

restaurant at 311 Broad Street.  The proposed sign will hang from the existing bracket attached to the 

building.   

The details of the sign are as follows: 

Sign Material: Wood (Medium Density Overlay (MDO) Plywood) 

         Color Pallet: Background: Mermaids Tale # 577 (teal) 

Lettering: Graceful Sea #767 (medium tone blue) 

Graphic: Pink Ladies #1347 (pink) 

Sign graphics: Place Setting 

Two-Sided Yes 

Dimensions 3-feet x 4-feet 

Sign Face Area: 24 square feet 

Lettering Style: Exotic 350 Bd BT (identified as a suitable font in the City’s Signage guidelines) 

FINDINGS: In order to approve this application, the following finding must be made: 

1. That the exterior appearance of the proposed signage is consistent with the Mother Lode type of

architecture (17.68.080).

PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION: 

After discussion and hearing from the public, the Commission can make a motion to approve the sign 

application, with the following conditions as agreed to by the applicant: 

1. No neon is permitted.

2. No banners are permitted.

3. The sign shall be located at least 8 feet from the sidewalk to the bottom of the sign.

4. The decision of the planning commission may be appealed to the city council not later than

fifteen (15) days after this final action or decision. Any work during this period is at the

applicant’s own risk.

January 26, 2017



Attachment 1.1



Attachment 1.2



Attachment 2



Attachment 3.1



Attachment 3.2



                               City of Nevada City 

 
City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

 

 

 

 
TO:    Planning Commission 
 
FROM: Amy Wolfson, City Planner 
 
SPECIAL MEETING DATE:  January 26, 2017 
 
APPLICANT: Aisling O’Brennan & Stephen Dunne, Owners/ Patricia Dunne, representative 
 
RE:  Demolition of the Residence at 114 Silva Avenue 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. City Engineer’s Statement 
2. Email Correspondence- Patricia Dunne 
3. Approved Architectural Plans 
4. Revised Floor Framing Plan 
5. Demolition Application 
6. Project Engineer’s Statement 

 
ACTIONS REQUESTED 

1. Provide formal approval for the demolished residence 
 
SITE SPECIFICATIONS 
Lot Size 0.34 acre 

Zoning R1-PD: Single-Family Residential-Planned Development 

Setbacks Front yard: 30-feet, Rear Yard: 25-feet, Interior side yards: 5-feet, exterior side: 10-feet 

Lot Coverage 50% 

Building Height  35-feet 

Historical District Outside  

BACKGROUND 
At their March 17, 2016 meeting, the Planning Commission considered the application by applicants Aisling 
O’Brennan and Stephen Dunne and approved their request for removal of three trees, demolition of an 
accessory shed, and addition of 1,642 square feet to the original 924 square foot residence. After removing 
siding and ceiling material, the applicant noted significant damage to that had previously not been apparent.  On 
November 18, 2016 City Engineer, Bryan McAlister inspected the structural conditions of the original residence 
at the request of the applicant. McAlister’s recommendation is that the conditions were such that a full 
reconstruction was warranted (See Attachment 1). After receiving this recommendation, the architect reached 
out to Planner Wolfson to determine the best way to proceed. After consulting with Chair Thiem, it was 
determined that the matter was required to come back before the Planning Commission for formal consideration 
of a demolition application.  However, while staff was determining the appropriate course of action, the 
applicant revised their building permit plans at the Building Department to reflect new floor framing at the 
original house site (effectively representing the demolition of the original residence) with an assumption that the 
City Engineer’s statement provided them the authority needed.  
 
PREVIOUS MEETING 
At the meeting of March 17, 2016, Richard Baker of Siteline Architecture presented the project on the 
applicant’s behalf. During the discussion, Chair Croul questioned the reasoning for retaining the original 



Dunne Demolition 
Page 2 of 3 

 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

residence as opposed to demolishing the structure altogether. Commissioners Meek and Parent also echoed this 
sentiment and acknowledged that the project will effectively result in a visual demolition.   Baker responded 
that the decision to retain something of the original residence was based on his knowledge of the City’s 
sensitivity to demolishing pre-1942 structures.   
 
The applicant had indicated that none of the exterior finishes were to be retained. The existing horizontal wood 
siding was prospered to be replaced with like material that would also be used on the addition. All windows, 
doors, and trim were also proposed for removal. Windows will be clad wood with divided lites and trim will be 
a composite material or wood. The only original feature that Baker thought could be salvaged was the front 
porch posts. The applicant has committed to salvaging these and any material that continues to have functional 
integrity (see Attachment 2).  Given that almost none of the finish materials were proposed to be preserved, the 
previous elevation sheets remain applicable to the updated plans (See Attachment 3). The only revision is to the 
floor foundation, which now reflects completely new framing (See Attachment 4).  
 
The full Planning Commission discussion can be viewed via the following video link, located on 
NevadaCityCA.gov at the “Agendas & Minutes” subpage: 
http://nevco.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=2&clip_id=6487. The exact minutes of the video 
pertaining to this item begin at minute 42:05 and end at 1:14:24. 
 
PROJECT PROPOSAL 
 
DEMOLITION (Attachment 5): The applicant has submitted an application for the already demolished 
residence.  As indicated by the City Engineer, a previous fire caused extensive damage to the structural integrity 
of the residence. As such, he recommended that the applicant fully reconstruct the building.  
 
Section 17.88.040 of the City Municipal Code prohibits the demolition of those buildings of special historical 
interest or value, or which are an example of the Mother Lode type of architecture unless the planning 
commission makes a finding that the building is so damaged or dilapidated that it cannot be reasonably repaired 
or restored. The planning commission may require the applicant to pay for city staff or one or more expert 
consultants to evaluate the historical significance and/or condition of the building. Section 17.68.030 defines 
“Mother Lode type of architecture” as that type of architecture generally used in the Mother Lode region of the 
state of California during the period from 1849 and 1900.Such type of architecture involves the use of wood and 
brick as primary material, and is generally characterized by such design features such as gabled or shed roofs, 
tall and narrow windows and doors, dormer windows, iron or wooden shutters balconies, wooden awnings, and 
ornamental scroll work.” 
 

  
View from Silva (front) View from Nimrod (west side) 

 

http://nevco.granicus.com/MediaPlayer.php?view_id=2&clip_id=6487


Dunne Demolition 
Page 3 of 3 

 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

  
Proposed South Elevation (Silva Avenue) Proposed West Elevation (Nimrod Street) 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW  
Because a residence meets criteria in the R1 zoning designation, as an allowed use on the property, local 
authority can only be ministerial in nature. Sections 21080 of the Public Resource Code, of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), exempts ministerial projects from environmental review.   
 
RECOMMENDED MOTIONS 

 
1. In approving/denying the Demolition application, as conditioned, for the existing residence located at 

114 Silva Avenue, Nevada City, CA, the Planning Commission finds: 
 

a. that the structure does/does not hold special historical interest or value; and  
 

b. that the structure is/is not an example of Motherlode architecture; or 
 

c. that the structure is so dilapidated that it cannot be reasonably repaired or restored 
 
 





From: Patricia Dunne [mailto:dunnepainting@yahoo.com] 
Sent: Friday, January 20, 2017 1:08 PM 
To: Amy Wolfson <Amy.Wolfson@nevadacityca.gov> 
Subject: Re: Front porch posts 

Hi Amy, 
I talked to Stephen this morning and I asked him about the posts and any other 
materials that he saved. 
He has a lot of materials stored in the shed next to the proposed building. The front 
posts he is going to clean up and see how bad of a condition they are in. He said they 
did have dry rot at the ends and if he can cut the bottoms off and splice in some new 
wood he will reuse. I also asked him about the original siding and he said there were a 
few different types of siding 1x6, 1x4 v rustic and shiplap. Due to the original true sizes 
when they first built the house it's almost impossible to match in the old with the new 
and a lot of it was damaged by the elements. He did remove all the nails and keep it to 
reuse where possible. 
I have attached the Demolition Permit, City engineers report, and a note by email from 
Stephen authorizing me to assist him with any paperwork needed. Let me know if I have 
forgotten anything otherwise I will see you on the 26th. Thank you for all your help. 

Sincerely 

Patricia Dunne 

415-516-8445

On Friday, January 20, 2017 9:36 AM, Amy Wolfson <Amy.Wolfson@nevadacityca.gov> wrote: 

Hi Richard, 

I just went through the previous Planning Commission meeting  for 114 Silva and 
several Commissioners acknowledged that effectively the project would result in a 
demolition since almost no finish material would be salvaged. You did, however, 
mention that the front porch posts could potentially be re-purposed for the new porch. Is 
that still accurate? I’d like to state that in the staff report.  

Amy Wolfson 
City Planner 
(530) 265-2496 x130

Attachment 2.1

mailto:Amy.Wolfson@nevadacityca.gov


23567891011121314 1415

L

K

D

E

F

G

H

I

J

A

B

C

L

K

D

E

F

G

H

I

J

A

B

C

23567891011121314 1415

D
un

ne
 R

e
s

_
1

6
.p

ln

31,OCT. 2017

15-332

6/23/16

Revisions

 date:

 scale:

 job #:

A0

A
nd

re
w

 J
. P

aw
lo

w
sk

i, 
A

rc
hi

te
ct

, L
E

E
D

 A
P

64
4 

Zi
on

 S
tre

et
N

ev
ad

a 
C

ity
 C

A 
95

95
9

53
0.

47
8.

94
15

 - 
t

53
0.

47
8.

94
16

 - 
f

w
w

w
.s

ite
lin

ea
rc

h.
co

m

COVER SHEET

si
te

lin
e 

ar
ch

ite
ct

ur
e

R
E

S
ID

E
N

T
IA

L
 R

E
M

O
D

E
L

/
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
fo

r

A
IS

L
IN

G
 O

'B
R

E
N

N
A

N
 &

 S
T

E
P

H
E

N
 D

U
N

N
E

1
1

4
 S

IL
V

A
 A

V
E

., 
N

E
V

A
D

A
 C

IT
Y

, A
P

N
:0

5
-4

6
0

-1
8

© 2 0 1 6 S i t e l i n e
A r c h i t e c t u r e - A l l
rights reserved. These
d e s i g n s , p l a n s a n d
s p e c i f i c a t i o n s a r e
p r o t e c t e d u n d e r
federal copyright laws.
U n a u t h o r i z e d
duplication of these
d o c u m e n t s o r t h e
contents   herein is in
violation of federal
copyright law.

IMPERVIOUS AREAS:

TOTAL PARCEL SIZE

(E) HOUSE

NEW ADDITION

SQ. FT.  %

14,344  100.0

 1,107  7.7

1,648  11.5

TOTAL IMPERVIOUS AREA

TOTAL PERVIOUS AREA

2,755  19.2

11,589  80.8

SITE COVERAGE:

SCOPE:

SITE:

OWNER:

ZONING:

LOT SIZE:

OCCUPANCY:

CONSTRUCTION
TYPE:

SQUARE
FOOTAGE:

RESIDENTIAL REMODEL/ADDITION

114 SILVA AVE.
NEVADA CITY, CA 95959
####

AISLING O'BRENNAN & STEPHEN DUNNE
9 OLIVER PLUNKETT ST.
MULLINGER, CO. WESTMEATH
IRELAND

00.35.38.72.60.09.225

R1/ PD NEVCITY

0.34 ACRES

R-3/U

V-B, SPRINKLERED

EXISTING RESIDENCE:
936± S.F.

EXISTING FRONT PORCH (COVERED)
171± S.F.

NEW/ADDED CONDITIONED SPACE:
1,245± S.F.

NEW ATTACHED GARAGE:
403± S.F.

NEW REAR DECK (UNCOVERED):
372± S.F.

A0
A1

A1.1
A3
A5
A7

A6.1
A6.2

A8
E1

S1.1
S1.2
S1.3
S1.4

T24-1

COVER SHEET
SITE PLAN, MANDATORY MEASURES
MANDATORY MEASURES
FLOOR PLAN
EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
ROOF PLAN
SECTIONS
SECTIONS
DETAILS
ELECTRICAL PLAN
FOUNDATION PLAN
FLOOR FRAMING PLAN
ROOF FRAMING PLAN
STRUCTURAL DETAILS
TITLE 24 ENERGY REPORT

N

SITE

PROJECT INFORMATION

VICINITY MAP

SHEET INDEX

 RESIDENTIAL REMODEL/ADDITION

FOR

AISLING O'BRENNAN & STEPHEN DUNNE

DEFERRED SUBMITTAL ITEMS:

1. FIRE SPRINKLER DRAWINGS

ALL WORK SHALL CONFORM TO THE 2013 CBC AND THE CURRENT
EDITIONS OF THE CMC, CPC, CEC, CGSBC, CALIFORNIA ENERGY
REGULATIONS, AND ALL LOCAL CODES AND ORDINANCES. 

DO NOT SCALE THE CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS. WRITTEN DIMENSIONS
TAKE PRECEDENCE OVER SCALED GRAPHICS.

SPECIFICATIONS, DRAWINGS, AND DETAILS TAKE PRECEDENCE OVER
THESE GENERAL NOTES.

VERIFY EXISTING CONDITIONS PRIOR TO BEGINNING WORK, NOTIFY
ARCHITECT OF ANY DISCREPANCIES PRIOR TO PROCEEDING.

UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE, DIMENSIONS ARE TO FACE OF STUD AT NEW
CONSTRUCTION AND FACE OF FINISH AT EXISTING CONSTRUCTION.

CEILING HEIGHT NOTATIONS INDICATE FINISH CEILING SURFACE.

DO NOT PROCEED WITH SHOP FABRICATION PRIOR TO OBTAINING FIELD
DIMENSIONS.

THE WORK IN THE BUILDER’S CONTRACT WITH THE OWNER SHALL INCLUDE
ALL MATERIALS, EQUIPMENT, AND LABOR REQUIRED TO COMPLETE THE
WORK AS SHOWN IN THE DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS. ANY
CUSTOMARY AND NECESSARY ITEMS WHICH ARE REASONABLY IMPLIED
AND REQUIRED TO COMPLETE THE WORK SHALL BE FURNISHED, EVEN IF
NOT SHOWN IN THE DRAWINGS OR SPECIFICATIONS.

FURNISH AND INSTALL SUPPORT BRACKETS, BACKING, AND STIFFENERS AS
REQUIRED AT ALL MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT AS WELL AS
FIXTURES AND ACCESSORIES.

DO NOT MODIFY, CUT, OR OTHERWISE COMPROMISE THE INTEGRITY OF
STRUCTURAL ELEMENTS WITHOUT WRITTEN CONSENT AND GUIDANCE
FROM THE STRUCTURAL ENGINEER.

CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE DOCUMENTATION CERTIFYING THE WORK
CONFORMS TO TITLE 24 REQUIREMENTS AND THE ENERGY COMPLIANCE
DOCUMENTATION FOR THE PROJECT.

PROVIDE A MINIMUM 42” HIGH GUARD RAIL AT ANY LOCATION WHERE
SURFACE OF WALKWAY IS MORE THAN 30" ABOVE ADJOINING GRADE.
PROVIDE INTERMEDIATE RAILS SPACED SUCH THAT A SPHERE 4" IN
DIAMETER CANNOT PASS THROUGH.

UNLESS NOTED TO BE EXPOSED CONSTRUCTION ON FINISH SCHEDULE, DO
NOT EXPOSE PIPES, CONDUITS, DUCTS, ETC. 

WHERE REQUIRED TO MAINTAIN CONTINUITY OF FIRE RESISTIVE
ASSEMBLIES, CONTINUE GYPSUM BOARD OR OTHER FINISH MATERIALS
BEHIND ALL RECESSED ACCESSORIES, CABINETS, AND PANELS.

PROVIDE AN ACCESS DOOR (MIN. 18" X 24") WITHIN 20'-0" OF THE MAIN
PLUMBING CLEANOUT.

AT DOORS ADJOINING WALLS, LAYOUT DOOR INSTALLATION TO PROVIDE
MINIMUM 4” CLEARANCE BETWEEN WALL SURFACE AND FACE OF DOOR IN
90 DEGREE OPEN POSITION, UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

CONNECT ALL DOWNSPOUTS TO SUB-SURFACE DRAINAGE PIPING.

GENERAL NOTES

FOR PROJECTS WITH PRE-FABRICATED TRUSSES, REFER TO
FABRICATOR’S DRAWINGS FOR LAYOUT.

PROVIDE CONTINUOUS VENTING AT ALL RIDGES.

PROVIDE SUSPENDED EQUIPMENT WITH SUFFICIENT LATERAL BRACING

ALL MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT, AIR CONDITIONING UNITS, HEATING UNITS, AND
UTILITIES SHALL BE SCREENED FROM THE VIEW OF ADJACENT
PROPERTIES OR ROADWAYS. ALL GUTTERS, SCREENS, VENTS, AND
FLASHING SHALL BE PAINTED TO PREVENT GLARE AND TO MATCH
ADJACENT BUILDING COLORS. 

DIVISION 2 – SITEWORK

COMPLETED GRADING SHALL RESULT IN A MINIMUM 5% SLOPE AWAY FROM
ALL BUILDING WALLS AT UNPAVED AREAS, A MINIMUM DISTANCE OF 5’-0”,
AND 2% SLOPE AWAY FROM ALL BUILDING WALLS AT WALKS, PATIOS,
DRIVEWAYS, AND SOLID DECKING SURFACES AND STAIR LANDINGS. 

PROVIDE ADDRESS NUMERALS FOR ALL NEW BUILDINGS. LOCATE TO BE
PLAINLY VISIBLE AND LEGIBLE FROM THE STREET FRONTING THE
PROPERTY.

DIVISION 5 – METALS

PROVIDE GALVANIC ISOLATION BETWEEN DISSIMILAR METALS

DIVISION 6 – WOOD AND PLASTICS

PROVIDE DOUBLE FLOOR JOISTS UNDER ALL TUBS, STOVES, FIREPLACES,
AND AT ALL PARTITIONS THAT ARE PARALLEL TO THE DIRECTION OF THE
FLOOR FRAMING. 

ALL TIE DOWNS SHALL BE ATTACHED TO DOUBLE STUDS OR POSTS. 

MINIMUM VERTICAL CLEARANCE FROM SOIL AT UNDERFLOOR AREAS TO
GIRDERS SHALL BE 12”, TO JOISTS 18”. 

PROVIDE BLOCKING WHERE PLYWOOD JOINTS ARE PERPENDICULAR TO
STUDS

ALL INTERIOR WALL SHEAR PANELS SHALL BE CONTINUOUS TO ROOF.
SHEAR MUST BE TRANSFERED FROM THE WALL DIAPHRAGM TO THE ROOF
DIAPHRAGM 

PROVIDE FIRE BLOCKING MAXIMUM 10’-0” ON CENTER HORIZONTALLY
AND AT ALL INTERSECTIONS BETWEEN CONCEALED WALL AND
HORIZONTAL SPACES SUCH AS SOFFITS, ROOFS OR CEILINGS. 

BORED HOLES IN BEARING LUMBER SHALL BE NO GREATER THAN 40% OF
MATERIAL WIDTH. (ALL HOLES MUST BE MIN. 5/8" FROM EDGE) NOTCHES IN
BEARING LUMBER SHALL BE NO GREATER THAN 25% OF WIDTH OF
MATERIAL.BORED HOLES IN NON-BEARING LUMBER SHALL BE NO
GREATER THAN 60% OF MATERIAL WIDTH.  (ALL HOLES MUST BE MIN. 5/8"
FROM EDGE) NOTCHES IN NON-BEARING LUMBER SHALL BE NO GREATER
THAN 40% OF WIDTH OF MATERIAL. 

PROVIDE A MINIMUM 22’ X 30” ATTIC ACCESS IN AN UNCONFINED AREA,
WITH MINIMUM 30” HEAD CLEARANCE ABOVE.

DIVISION 7 – THERMAL AND MOISTURE PROTECTION

PROVIDE FLASHING AT INTERSECTION OF ROOF PLANES AND WALLS, ALL
ROOF PENETRATIONS, ALL EXTERIOR OPENINGS, AND AT CHIMNEYS. 

ATTIC AND UNDERFLOOR AREAS SHALL BE PROVIDED WITH VENTILATING
AREA PER CBC 1203 AND/OR 706A. ALL OPENINGS SHALL BE COVERED
WITH CORROSION RESISTANT METAL MESH.

PROVIDE MINIMUM 12” BETWEEN CENTER OF ROOF VALLEY FLASHINGS
AND CENTER OF ANY ROOF PENETRATION FLASHINGS.

FLASH, CAULK, AND SEAL WHERE SHOWN IN DRAWINGS AND WHERE
REQUIRED TO PREVENT THE INFILTRATION OF MOISTURE.

PROVIDE FLASHING SET IN CAULKING BED UNDER THRESHOLDS AND SILLS,
DOWN AND OVER EXTERIOR WALL FINISH.

PENETRATIONS THROUGH FIRE RATED ASSEMBLIES SHALL BE SEALED
WITH FIRE STOPPING ACCEPTABLE TO THE LOCAL FIRE MARSHALL.

DIVISION 8 – DOORS AND WINDOWS

EGRESS OR RESCUE WINDOWS SHALL HAVE A MINIMUM NET CLEAR
OPENING OF 5.7 SQUARE FEET, A MINIMUM NET CLEAR OPENING HEIGHT OF
24”, A MINIMUM NET CLEAR OPENING WIDTH OF 20”, AND A MAXIMUM SILL
HEIGHT OF 44”.

INSTALL GASKETING, WEATHERSTRIPPING, ETC AT EXTERIOR DOORS AND
DOORS OPENING TO UNCONDITIONED AREAS. 

DIVISION 9 - FINISHES

ALL ROOF FLASHING TO BE PAINTED TO MATCH ROOFING COLOR.

WHERE FINISHES ARE NOT DETAILED, WORK SHALL CONFORM TO THE
BEST PRACTICES OF THE TRADE.

GARAGE WALLS AND CEILINGS ADJACENT TO OR UNDER DWELLING
AREAS SHALL BE OF ONE-HOUR FIRE-RESISTIVE CONSTRUCTION
EXTENDING TO THE UNDERSIDE OF THE ROOF SHEATHING. 

PROVIDE WATER RESISTANT GYPSUM BOARD BEHIND TUB AND SHOWER
ENCLOSURES, FINISHED WITH HARD, NON-ABSORBENT MATERIALS TO A
HEIGHT OF 70 INCHES MINIMUM ABOVE DRAIN INLET.  WATER RESISTANT
GYPSUM BACKING BOARD SHALL NOT BE USED WHERE THERE WILL BE
DIRECT EXPOSURE TO WATER, OR IN AREAS SUBJECT TO CONTINUOUS
HIGH HUMIDITY. (R702.3.8.1)

DIVISION 11 – EQUIPMENT 

PROVIDE 30 INCHES CLEARANCE ABOVE RANGE TO UNPROTECTED
COMBUSTIBLE MATERIAL OR 24 INCHES CLEARANCE ABOVE RANGE OR
OPEN TOP BROILER WHEN EQUIPPED WITH METAL VENTILATING HOODS. 

IF LOCATED IN GARAGE, APPLIANCES GENERATING GLOW, SPARK OR
FLAME MUST BE INSTALLED A MINIMUM 18" ABOVE THE FLOOR

DIVISION 15 – MECHANICAL AND PLUMBING 

PROVIDE COMBUSTION AIR OPENING WITHIN 12 IN. OF FLOOR AND CEILING
FOR GAS BURNING HOT WATER HEATERS AND HVAC EQUIPMENT.

WATER HEATER MUST BE STRAPPED TO WALL IN UPPER AND LOWER
THIRDS, WITH LOWER STRAP AT LEAST 4 INCHES ABOVE CONTROLS.

WATER HEATERS WHICH DEPEND ON THE COMBUSTION OF FUEL FOR HEAT
SHALL NOT BE INSTALLED IN A ROOM USED OR DESIGNED TO BE USED
FOR SLEEPING PURPOSES, BATHROOM, CLOTHES CLOSETS OR IN A
CLOSET OR OTHER CONFINED SPACE OPENING INTO A BATH OR
BEDROOM. (EXCEPTION: DIRECT VENT WATER HEATERS)

WATER CLOSETS WILL BE INSTALLED IN A SPACE WITH A MINIMUM CLEAR
WIDTH OF 30" AND MINIMUM OF 24" CLEAR SPACE IN FRONT.

FIREPLACE GAS VALVES SHALL BE LOCATED OUTSIDE OF REQUIRED
HEARTH AREA, IN THE SAME ROOM AS THE OUTLET, BUT NOT MORE THAN 4
FEET FROM THE OUTLET.

AIR HANDLER UNITS LOCATED IN ATTICS OR FURRED SPACES (OR WOOD
FLOOR FRAMING) WHERE DAMAGE MAY RESULT FROM CONDENSATE
OVERFLOW SHALL BE PROVIDED WITH A WATERTIGHT PAN WITH A 3/4
INCH DRAIN OR A SECONDARY CONDENSATE DRAIN LINE DISCHARGING AT
A POINT THAT CAN BE READILY OBSERVED. 

PROVIDE A SMOOTH METAL DUCT FOR DRYER EXHAUST.

ALL EXHAUST DUCTING SHALL EXTEND TO THE EXTERIOR OF THE BUILDING. 

PROVIDE A 12-INCH MINIMUM ACCESS PANEL TO BATHTUB TRAP
CONNECTION. 

PROVIDE A NON-REMOVABLE BACKFLOW PREVENTION DEVICE ON ALL
EXTERIOR HOSE BIBS. 

PROVIDE THERMAL STATIC MIXING AND ANTI-SCALDING VALVES ON ALL
TUBS AND SHOWERS. 

FOR RESIDENTIAL PROJECTS, WATER CLOSETS SHALL USE NO MORE THAN
1.28 GALLONS PER FLUSH. 

NO GAS PIPING SHALL BE INSTALLED IN OR ON THE GROUND UNDER ANY
BUILDING OR STRUCTURE. ALL EXPOSED GAS PIPING SHALL BE KEPT AT
LEAST 6" ABOVE GRADE.

WALL FRAMING AT WASTE RISERS SHALL BE 2X6.

INSULATE SEWER DROP TO SEPARATE PIPING FROM BACK OF DRYWALL
AND SURROUNDING STUDS

EXTEND, ROUTE, AND GANG PLUMB PLUMBING/VENT RISERS TO THE
GREATEST REASONABLE EXTENT TO REDUCE OR AVOID PENETRATIONS
AT STREET SIDE OF ROOF.

PROVIDE CATWALK ACCESS TO ATTIC-MOUNTED HVAC EQUIPMENT FROM
ATTIC ACCESS TO UNIT

DIVISION 16 - ELECTRICAL

ELECTRICAL CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ELECTRICAL PLANS WITH
CONTRACTOR AND OWNER PRIOR TO BEGINNING INSTALLATION.

CITY APPROVAL

See Fire Conditions, Attached



23567891011121314 1415

L

K

D

E

F

G

H

I

J

A

B

C

L

K

D

E

F

G

H

I

J

A

B

C

23567891011121314 1415

D
un

ne
 R

e
s

_
1

6
.p

ln

31,OCT. 2017

15-332

6/23/16

Revisions

 date:

 scale:

 job #:

A1

A
nd

re
w

 J
. P

aw
lo

w
sk

i, 
A

rc
hi

te
ct

, L
E

E
D

 A
P

64
4 

Zi
on

 S
tre

et
N

ev
ad

a 
C

ity
 C

A 
95

95
9

53
0.

47
8.

94
15

 - 
t

53
0.

47
8.

94
16

 - 
f

w
w

w
.s

ite
lin

ea
rc

h.
co

m

SITE PLAN

si
te

lin
e 

ar
ch

ite
ct

ur
e

R
E

S
ID

E
N

T
IA

L
 R

E
M

O
D

E
L

/
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
fo

r

A
IS

L
IN

G
 O

'B
R

E
N

N
A

N
 &

 S
T

E
P

H
E

N
 D

U
N

N
E

1
1

4
 S

IL
V

A
 A

V
E

., 
N

E
V

A
D

A
 C

IT
Y

, A
P

N
:0

5
-4

6
0

-1
8

© 2 0 1 6 S i t e l i n e
A r c h i t e c t u r e - A l l
rights reserved. These
d e s i g n s , p l a n s a n d
s p e c i f i c a t i o n s a r e
p r o t e c t e d u n d e r
federal copyright laws.
U n a u t h o r i z e d
duplication of these
d o c u m e n t s o r t h e
contents   herein is in
violation of federal
copyright law.

SILVA AVENUE

N
IM

R
O

D

D
N

.

J6
A1

30'

5
'

1
0

'

25'

2
2

'-
4

 1
/

4
"

32'-7 1/2"

27'-10"

2
9

'-
9

 1
/

2
"

(E) SHED
(TO BE DEMOLISHED)

 S
T

R
E

E
T

(E) RESIDENCE

PROPOSED
ADDITION

PROPOSED
ADDITION

PROPOSED
GARAGE

REBUILT COVERED PORCH

PROPOSED DECK

150'-0"S84O19'49"W

N
1

1
O
2

0
'0

0
"E

1
0

0
.0

0
'

N
1

1
O
2

0
'0

0
"E

1
0

0
.0

0
'

FRONT SETBACK

SIDE SETBACK

SIDE SETBACK

REAR SETBACK

(E) DRIVEWAY
(GRAVEL)

N
E

W
 C

O
N

C
R

E
T

E
A

P
R

O
N

DN.

30" dia. CEDAR
(TO BE REMOVED)

36" dia. CEDAR
(TO BE REMOVED)

42" dia. PINE
(TO BE REMOVED)

"PRESUMED"
PROPERTY
LINE (TYP.)

NOTE:
INSTALL SEWER
BACKFLOW PREVENTER
PER CITY OF NEVADA CITY
STANDARDS,
SEE DETAIL

N

A15 SITE PLAN 1"   = 10'

J6 BACKFLOW PREVENTER AND CLEANOUT

NOTES

WILDLAND URBAN INTERFACE (CBC CHAPTER 7A/CRC SECTION 327)

1. EXTERIOR WALL COVERINGS SHALL EXTEND FROM THE TOP OF THE
FOUNDATION TO THE ROOF, TERMINATE AT 2 INCH NOMINAL SOLID
WOOD BLOCKING BETWEEN RAFTERS OR AT ENCLOSED EAVES.
BUILDING SHALL HAVE ALL UNDERFLOOR AREAS ENCLOSED TO THE
GRADE WITH EXTERIOR WALLS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THIS SECTION.

2. EXTERIOR WINDOWS, WINDOW WALLS, GLAZED DOORS AND GLAZED
OPENINGS WITHIN EXTERIOR DOORS SHALL BE INSULATING GLASS UNITS
WITH A MINIMUM OF ONE TEMPERED PANE, GLASS BLOCK UNITS, OR HAVE
FIRE RESISTIVE RATING OF NOT LESS THAN 20 MINUTES PER ASTM
E2010 OR SFM 12-7A-2.

3. EXTERIOR DOORS SHALL CONFORM TO SFM 12-7A-1 OR BE OF
APPROVED NONCOMBUSTIBLE, OR SOLID CORE WOOD HAVING STILES
AND RAILS NOT LESS THAN 1 3/8" THICK WITH INTERIOR FIELD PANEL
THICKNESS NO LESS THAN 1 1/4" THICK OR SHALL HAVE A FIRE
RESISTANCE RATING OF NOT LESS THAN 20 MIN. PER ASTM E2074.

4. THE UNDERSIDE OF APPENDAGES AND FLOOR PROJECTIONS SHALL
MAINTAIN THE IGNITION RESISTANT INTEGRITY OF EXTERIOR WALLS, OR
PROJECTIONS SHALL BE ENCLOSED TO GRADE.

5. ANY PORTION OF DECKING SURFACE, STAIR TREADS, RISERS AND
LANDINGS OF DECKS, PORCHES, AND BALCONIES WITHIN 10 FEET OF THE
PRIMARY STRUCTURE SHALL COMPLY WITH THE METHODS OUTLINED IN
CBC 709A/CRC R327.9.

6.  VENTILATION OPENINGS FOR ENCLOSED ATTICS, ENCLOSED EAVE
SOFFIT SPACES, ENCLOSED RAFTER SPACES FORMED WHERE CEILINGS
ARE APPLIED DIRECTLY TO THE UNDERSIDE OF ROOF RAFTERS, AND
UNDERFLOOR VENTILATION OPENINGS SHALL BE FULLY COVERED WITH
METAL WIRE MESH, VENTS, OTHER MATERIALS, OR OTHER DEVICES THAT
MEET THE FOLLOWING REQUIREMENTS:

 1. THE DIMENSION OF THE OPENINGS THERIN SHALL BE A MINIMUM OF
1/16 INCH (1.6mm) AND SHALL NOT EXCEED 1/8 INCH (3.2mm).

 
 2. THE MATERIALS USED SHALL BE NONCOMBUSTIBLE.
 
 EXCEPTION:
  VENTS LOCATED UNDER THE ROOF COVERING, ALONG THE RIDGE OF

ROOFS, WITH THE EXPOSED SURFACE OF THE VENT COVERED BY
NONCOMBUSTIBLE WIRE MESH, MAY BE OF COMBUSTIBLE MATERIALS.

 
 3. THE MATERIALS USED SHALL BE CORROSION RESISTANT.

7. OPEN ROOF EAVES. THE EXPOSED ROOF DECK ON THE UNDERSIDE OF
UNENCLOSED ROOF EAVES SHALL CONSIST OF ONE OF THE FOLLOWING
(CRC327.7.4) :

 
 1. NONCOMBUSTIBLE MATERIAL.

 2. IGNITION-RESISTANT MATERIAL.

 3. ONE LAYER OF 5/8 INCH TYPE X GYPSUM SHEATHING APPLIED BEHIND
AN EXTERIOR COVERING ON THE UNDERSIDE EXTERIOR OF THE
ROOF DECK.

 4. THE EXTERIOR PORTION OF A 1-HOUR FIRE RESISTIVE EXTERIOR
WALL ASSEMBLY APPLIED TO THE UNDERSIDE OF THE ROOF DECK
DESIGNED FOR EXTERIOR FIRE EXPOSURE INCLUDING ASSEMBLIES
USING THE GYPSUM PANEL AND SHEATHING PRODUCTS LISTED IN THE
GYPSUM ASSOCIATION FIRE RESISTANCE DESIGN MANUAL.

 EXCEPTIONS: THE FOLLOWING MATERIALS DO NOT REQUIRE
PROTECTION:

 1. SOLID WOOD RAFTER TAILS ON THE EXPOSED UNDERSIDE OF OPEN
ROOF EAVES HAVING A MINIMUM NOMINAL DIMENSION OF 2 INCH (50.8
MM).

 2. SOLID WOOD BLOCKING INSTALLED BETWEEN RAFTER TAILS ON THE
EXPOSED UNDERSIDE OF OPEN ROOF EAVES HAVING A MINIMUM
NOMINAL DIMENSION OF 2 INCH (50.8 MM).

 3. GABLE END OVERHANGS AND ROOF ASSEMBLY PROJECTIONS
BEYOND AN EXTERIOR WALL OTHER THAN AT THE LOWER END OF
THE RAFTER TAILS.

 4. FASCIA AND OTHER ARCHITECTURAL TRIM BOARDS.

1. EROSION CONTROL SEEDING OR PERMANENT LANDSCAPING SHALL BE
APPLIED TO ALL GRADED AND DISTURBED SOILS WITHIN THE WORK  AREA
PRIOR TO OCTOBER 15 OF GIVEN YEAR WHETHER THE PROJECT IS
COMPLETE OR NOT.

2. THE DEVELOPER SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ENSURING THAT ALL
ADEQUATE DUST CONTROL MEASURES ARE IMPLEMENTED IN A TIMELY
MANNER DURING ALL PHASES OF PROJECT DEVELOPMENT AND
CONSTRUCTION.  ALL MATERIAL EXCAVATED, STOCKPILED, OR GRADED
SHALL BE SUFFICIENTLY WATERED, TREATED, OR COVERED TO PREVENT
FUGITIVE DUST FROM LEAVING THE PROPERTY BOUNDARIES AND CAUSING
PUBLIC NUISANCE OR VIOLATION OF AN AMBIENT AIR STANDARD.  WATER
SHALL OCCUR AT LEAST TWICE DAILY, WITH COMPLETE SITE COVERAGE.
ALL MEASURES SHALL BE NOTED ON THE GRADING AND/OR IMPROVEMENT
PLANS.

3. SEED, FERTILIZER, AND MULCH SHALL BE APPLIED BETWEEN SEPTEMBER
15 AND OCTOBER 15 (IF POSSIBLE, SEEDING SHOULD OCCUR TOWARDS
THE MID-OCTOBER END OF THIS RANGE). REMOVAL OF THE NATIVE
VEGETATION SHALL BE MINIMIZED.

4. SEED, FERTILIZER, & MULCH SHALL BE APPLIED IN THE FOLLOWING RATES:
BLANDO BROME @ 18 LBS/AC; ANNUAL RYE GRASS @ 4 LBS/AC; 16-20-0
AMMONIUM PHOSPHATE @ 500 LBS/AC; MULCH WITH CLEAN STRAW @ 2
TONS/AC.  SEEDING SHALL BE APPLIED USING BROADCAST OR
HYDROSEED METHOD (IF HYDROSEEDING, SEED RATES SHALL BE
INCREASED BY 25% ). ON SLOPES GREATER THAN 2:1, OTHER MEASURES
SUCH AS NETTING OR TACKIFIERS SHALL BE ESTABLISHED.

5. IF EXCAVATION AND GRADING ACTIVITIES PROCEED PAST OCTOBER 15,
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL HAVE STOCKPILED ON-SITE ADEQUATE SUPPLIES
OF STRAW, SILTATION FENCING, STAKES, AND ANY OTHER FACILITIES
NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT EMERGENCY OR TEMPORARY EROSION
CONTROL MEASURES NECESSARY TO PREVENT EROSION.

EROSION CONTROL & WINTERIZATION

AS NOTED



23567891011121314 1415

L

K

D

E

F

G

H

I

J

A

B

C

L

K

D

E

F

G

H

I

J

A

B

C

23567891011121314 1415

D
un

ne
 R

e
s

_
1

6
.p

ln

31,OCT. 2017

15-332

6/23/16

Revisions

 date:

 scale:

 job #:

A5

A
nd

re
w

 J
. P

aw
lo

w
sk

i, 
A

rc
hi

te
ct

, L
E

E
D

 A
P

64
4 

Zi
on

 S
tre

et
N

ev
ad

a 
C

ity
 C

A 
95

95
9

53
0.

47
8.

94
15

 - 
t

53
0.

47
8.

94
16

 - 
f

w
w

w
.s

ite
lin

ea
rc

h.
co

m

EXTERIOR
ELEVATIONS

si
te

lin
e 

ar
ch

ite
ct

ur
e

R
E

S
ID

E
N

T
IA

L
 R

E
M

O
D

E
L

/
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
fo

r

A
IS

L
IN

G
 O

'B
R

E
N

N
A

N
 &

 S
T

E
P

H
E

N
 D

U
N

N
E

1
1

4
 S

IL
V

A
 A

V
E

., 
N

E
V

A
D

A
 C

IT
Y

, A
P

N
:0

5
-4

6
0

-1
8

© 2 0 1 6 S i t e l i n e
A r c h i t e c t u r e - A l l
rights reserved. These
d e s i g n s , p l a n s a n d
s p e c i f i c a t i o n s a r e
p r o t e c t e d u n d e r
federal copyright laws.
U n a u t h o r i z e d
duplication of these
d o c u m e n t s o r t h e
contents   herein is in
violation of federal
copyright law.

A9
A8

A12
A8

J12
A8

DECORATIVE VENT
W/ TRIM, PAINTED
WHITE

NEW CEMENTITIOUS
"DROP" SIDING PAINTED WHITE

NEW CLASS "A" COMP.
SHINGLE ROOFING (TYP.)
(WEATHERED WOOD (GREY))

WOOD TRIM (TYP.)
PAINTED WHITE

12
8

CEMENTITIOUS "BOARD AND
BATTEN" SIDING (SKIRTING)
PAINTED WHITE
(WHERE OCCURS)

NEW "TURNED" WOOD
COLUMNS PAINTED WHITE

NEW "OGEE" GUTTERS w/
DEBRIS SCREEN (TYP. )
(WHITE)

NEW CHIMNEY W/
MANUFACTURED BRICK
VENEER &APPROVED
SPARK ARRESTOR

CLAD WOOD WINDOWS (TYP.)
W/DIVIDED LITES (WHITE) TYP.

3
'

12
9

12
9

G15
A8

2
0

'-
1

 3
/

4
"

12
9

12
9

TYP

ELEVATION NOTES

1. EXTERIOR UNTREATED WOOD POSTS LOCATED ON A SLAB SUBJECT TO WATER
SPLASH TO BE AT LEAST 1 INCH ABOVE FLOOR/SLAB AND 6 INCHES ABOVE
EXPOSED EARTH.

2. ISOLATED PIERS SHALL EXTEND 8 INCHES ABOVE EXPOSED EARTH, UNLESS
SUPPORTING TREATED POSTS.

3.  PROVIDE UNDER-FLOOR VENTILATION WITH OPENING SIZES EQUAL TO 1 SQUARE
FOOT FOR EACH 150 SQUARE FEET OF UNDER-FLOOR AREA. LOCATE ONE VENT
WITHIN 3 FEET OF EACH CORNER OF BUILDING AND AND EVENLY DISTRIBUTE ALL
OTHER VENTS.

4. TOP OF CHIMNEY IS TO EXTEND A MINIMUM OF 2 FEET ABOVE ANY PART OF THE
BUILDING WITHIN 10 FEET OF THE CHIMNEY. PROVIDE SPARK ARRESTER.

UNDERFLOOR VENTILATION CALCULATIONS:

UNDERFLOOR AREA: 2,181.41 S.F /150 = 14.54 S.F. = 2,094.15 S.I.

VENTILATION REQUIRED = 2,094 S.I.

VENTILATION PROVIDED = 2,156 S.I.
 UNDERFLOOR VENTILATION (22 ) MIN. @ 14"x7" VENTS OR EQUIV.
 (LOCATED FOR CROSS-VENTILATION)

1/4" = 1'-0"



 

“For the Protection of Life and Property From Fire” 

SINCE 1860 

 

NEVADA CITY FIRE DEPARTMENT 
(530) 265-2351 • FAX (530) 265-8640 

317 BROAD STREET 

NEVADA CITY, CALIFORNIA 95959 
 

 

July 2, 2016 

 

 

114 Silva Ave 

Nevada City, CA  95959 

 

 

Subject:  Plan Review for Single Family Residence 

 

To Whom It May Concern: 

 

The Nevada City Fire Department reviews plans for all residential projects to insure the Fire and Life 

Safety Codes are adhered too.  The Nevada City Fire Department has reviewed your submitted plans and 

has granted approval with the following conditions. 

 

1. Addresses must be posted in such a position as to be plainly visible and legible from the street or 

road fronting the property 

 

2. All portions of the buildings shall remain within the 150 foot arc of the Department Access. 

 

3. The installation of a residential compliant fire sprinkler system will be required. 

 

4. All buildings shall comply with Public Resource Code Section 4290 and 4291 defensible space 

standards 

 

5. All materials and construction methods shall comply with California Building Code Chapter 7A 

and Chapter 47. 

 

6. The Fire Department requires a 48 hours notice for all inspections that are required at the various 

steps of construction. 

 

If you have any questions regarding these conditions please feel free to contact us at The Nevada City 

Fire Department (530) 265-2351. 

 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

Daniel Paulus 

Fire Captain 

Nevada City Fire 

 
Data/prevention/Silva Ave/114.Residental Remodel.07_02_2016 



23567891011121314 1415

L

K

D

E

F

G

H

I

J

A

B

C

L

K

D

E

F

G

H

I

J

A

B

C

23567891011121314 1415

D
un

ne
 R

e
s

_
1

9
.p

ln

31,OCT. 2017

15-332

10/24/16

Revisions

 date:

 scale:

 job #:

S1.1

A
nd

re
w

 J
. P

aw
lo

w
sk

i, 
A

rc
hi

te
ct

, L
E

E
D

 A
P

64
4 

Zi
on

 S
tre

et
N

ev
ad

a 
C

ity
 C

A 
95

95
9

53
0.

47
8.

94
15

 - 
t

53
0.

47
8.

94
16

 - 
f

w
w

w
.s

ite
lin

ea
rc

h.
co

m

FOUNDATION
PLAN

si
te

lin
e 

ar
ch

ite
ct

ur
e

R
E

S
ID

E
N

T
IA

L
 R

E
M

O
D

E
L

/
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
fo

r

S
T

E
P

H
E

N
 D

U
N

N
E

1
1

4
 S

IL
V

A
 A

V
E

., 
N

E
V

A
D

A
 C

IT
Y

, A
P

N
:0

5
-4

6
0

-1
8

© 2 0 1 6 S i t e l i n e
A r c h i t e c t u r e - A l l
rights reserved. These
d e s i g n s , p l a n s a n d
s p e c i f i c a t i o n s a r e
p r o t e c t e d u n d e r
federal copyright laws.
U n a u t h o r i z e d
duplication of these
d o c u m e n t s o r t h e
contents   herein is in
violation of federal
copyright law.

OCT.

20
17

31
, 

DN.

D
W

F

DW

DB
L

O
VE

N

D9
A8

A3
S1.4

A6
S1.4

A15
S1.4

A15
S1.4

1
'-

5
 1

/
2

"

E
Q

.
E

Q
.

E
Q

.
E

Q
.

13'-2 1/2" 2' EQ. EQ. EQ. EQ. 2'

27'-5" 10' 22'-11"

1
1

'-
1

0
 1

/
2

"
2

3
'-

6
 1

/
2

"

13'-3" 27'-10"

5
'-

3
"

1
3

'-
7

"
1

4
'-

6
 1

/
2

"
5

'-
8

 1
/

2
"

5
'-

8
 1

/
2

"

8
'-

1
0

"

1
'-

1
1

"

8
'-

4
"

4'-9 1/4" 7'-3 3/4"

6
'-

5
 1

/
2

"
1

0
'-

5
"

3
'-

6
"

6'

1'-6" (TYP.)

6" (TYP.)

1
'-

6
 1

/
2

"

1
2

'

6'-1 3/4"

9' 9' 9' 11'-3"

1
'-

2
"

P16
(TYP.)

P21

P21

P21

P21

P18

P18

LINE OF ROOF ABOVE, (TYP.)

TWO POUR
CONCRETE SLAB,
4" THICK, w/#3
REINFORCEMENT
BARS @ 16" O.C.
EACH WAY, OVER
COMPACTED
SUBFILL

CONCRETE CURB,
HEIGHT VARIES,
(TYP.) SEE DETAIL

4x4 POST w/PC,
PBS TO  P16, (TYP.)

PONYWALL PER SHEAR
SCHEDULE SHEET S1.2
AND DETAILS

SINGLE STORY
FOOTING, STEM WALL,
AND PONYWALL TO
UNDERSIDE OF (N) TJI'S

SINGLE STORY
FOOTING, STEM WALL,
AND PONYWALL TO
UNDERSIDE OF (N) 1-
PIECE 28' ± 11.875 TJI
230 ATOP (N)
PONYWALL. JOIST TO
BE EDGE NAILED BY (E)
DIAGONAL SHEATHING
AND (N) PANEL
SHEATHING

4x4 w/
PC, PBS
TO P21

4x4 w/
PC, PBS
TO P21

4x4 w/
PC, PBS
TO P21

4x4 w/
PC, PBS
TO P21

P21

P21
(TYP.)

22"x30"
UNDERFLOOR
ACCESS

22"x30"
UNDERFLOOR

ACCESS

STEM WALL, (TYP.)
SEE DETAILS

EDGE  OF
CONCRETE

FOOTING,
(TYP.)

SHEATH FROM
FOUNDATION TO ROOF
DIAPHRAGM

SINGLE STORY
FOOTING, STEM WALL,
AND PONYWALL TO
UNDERSIDE OF (N) TJI'S

P21

4x4 w/PC,
PBS TO P21

P21

4x4 w/
PC, PBS
TO P21

P21

P21

4" THICK CONCRETE LANDING w/
#3 REINFORCEMENT 18" O.C.
EACH WAY

4" THICK CONCRETE
LANDING w/#3

REINFORCEMENT, 18"
O.C. EACH WAY

22"x30"
UNDERFLOOR
ACCESS

22"x30"
UNDERFLOOR
ACCESS

22"x30"
UNDERFLOOR
ACCESS

LC

LC
LC

LC
LC

LC

LCLC LCLCLC

LC

LC LC

LC

LC
LC

A15
A6.2

A15
A6.2

A9
A6.1

A9
A6.1

G15
A6.2

G15
A6.2

G15
A6.1

G15
A6.1

A15
A6.1

A15
A6.1

A9
A6.2

A9
A6.2

H2

H2 H2

H2 H2

H2

H2H2

H2H2

H2

H2

Pier Design
0 # per ft over 1ft

Allowable Bearing 1500

Width (in.) Depth Weight Allowable Pier

Square (in.) Concrete (lbs.) point load (lbs.) Symbol bars E.W.

12 12 145 1355 P12 1

16 12 258 2409 P16 2

18 12 326 3049 P18 2

21 12 444 4150 P21 3

24 12 580 5420 P24 3

27 12 734 6860 P27 3

30 12 906 8469 P30 4

32 12 1031 9636 P32 4

33 12 1097 10247 P33 4

36 12 1305 12195 P36 4

39 12 1532 14312 P39 5

42 12 1776 16599 P42 5

45 12 2039 19055 P45 5

psf

# of # 4's (.0018, temp)

A9
S1.4

D9
S1.4

G6
S1.4P16

P21

H2 = HDU2 TO SSTB16
-SDS2.5 ON 4x DF POST
U.N.O  SEE DETAIL

PIER FOOTING, SEE
DETAIL

PIER FOOTING, SEE
DETAIL

H2

No. C-67693

N

FOUNDATION NOTES

1. CONCRETE SLABS MUST HAVE A MINIMUM THICKNESS
OF 3 1/2 INCHES.

2. ANCHOR BOLTS SHALL BE MINIMUM 1/2-INCH
DIAMETER, EMBEDDED AT LEAST 7 INCHES INTO THE
CONCRETE OR MASONRY FOUNDATION, AND SHALL
BE SPACED NOT MORE THAN 6 FEET APART. A BOLT
SHALL BE LOCATED NOT LESS THAN 4 INCHES OR
MORE THAN 12 INCHES FROM ENDS OF EACH PLATE.

3. PLATE WASHERS FOR ANCHOR BOLTS SHALL BE
MINIMUM .229 INCH THICK BY 3 INCH BY 3 INCH IN SIZE.

4. ALL HOLD DOWN DEVICES MUST BE SECURED IN
PLACE PRIOR TO FOUNDATION INSPECTION.

5. PROVIDE UNDER-FLOOR VENTILATION WITH OPENING
SIZES EQUAL TO 1 SQUARE FOOT FOR EACH 150
SQUARE FEET OF UNDER-FLOOR AREA, LOCATED
CLOSE TO CORNERS AND EVENLY DISTRIBUTED.

6. PROVIDE MINIMUM 18 INCH CLEARANCE FROM
GRADE TO BOTTOM OF FLOOR JOISTS AND MINIMUM
12 INCH CLEARANCE TO BOTTOM OF GIRDERS, OR
USE TREATED WOOD.

7. FOUNDATION SILLS SHALL BE TREATED WOOD, OR
FOUNDATION REDWOOD.

8. FASTENERS FOR PRESSURE-PRESERVATIVE
TREATED WOOD SHALL BE HOT-DIPPED
GALVANIZED, STAINLESS STEEL, SILICON BRONZE OR
COPPER.

9. PROVIDE 8-INCH MINIMUM VERTICAL DISTANCE
FROM GRADE TO WOOD FRAMING.

10. PROVIDE MINIMUM 2% GRADE SLOPE AWAY FROM
FOUNDATION AT PAVED AREAS.  PROVIDE MINIMUM
5% GRADE SLOPE FOR 10 FEET AT UNPAVED
AREAS OR IF OBSTRUCTED 5% TO AN APPROVED
ALTERNATIVE DRAIN .

11. BEARING PARTITIONS PERPENDICULAR TO JOISTS
SHALL NOT BE OFFSET FROM SUPPORTING GIRDERS,
BEAMS, WALLS, OR PARTITIONS MORE THAN THE
DEPTH OF THE JOISTS. JOISTS UNDER AND
PARALLEL TO BEARING PARTITIONS SHALL BE
DOUBLED.

12. STUDS IN BEARING WALLS ARE LIMITED TO 10 FEET
IN HEIGHT UNLESS AN APPROVED  ENGINEERING
DESIGN IS SUBMITTED.

13. ALL PONY WALLS SHALL BE FRAMED AND BRACED
PER CBC 2308.9.4, 2308.12.4.

14. PONY WALLS EXCEEDING 4 FEET IN HEIGHT SHALL
BE FRAMED OF STUDS HAVING THE SIZE REQUIRED
FOR AN ADDITIONAL STORY.

15. SPECIAL INSPECTION SHALL BE REQUIRED FOR
EPOXY SET HOLD-DOWN ANCHOR BOLTS PER  ICC
EVALUATION REPORT REQUIREMENTS.

16. FLOOR SLABS AND RETAINING WALLS SHALL
INCORPORATE CRYSTALLINE WATERPROOFING
ADDITIVE INTO THE CONCRETE MIX PER
MANUFACTURER'S SPECIFICATIONS.

17. ALL DECK JOISTS, POSTS, AND BEAMS TO BE PTDF
#2 W/O AMMONIA.

18. ALL DECK HARDWARE TO BE Z-MAX.

19. ALL DECK FASTENERS TO BE HOT DIP GALVANIZED.

20. PROVIDE UFER TYPE GROUNDING ELECTRODE W/
#2 COPPER WIRE.  BOND TO COLD WATER AND GAS
PIPING. (CEC 250.52)

GAS PIPING NOTES

1. ALL PLUMBING, ELECTRICAL AND GAS LINES SHALL BE
CONCEALED WITHIN THE BUILDING WALLS OR IN
APPROVED CONDUIT RUNS OR CHASES. WHEN CONDUIT
OR PIPE LINES ENTER A WALL, CEILING OR FLOOR, THE
OPENING AROUND THE LINES SHALL BE TIGHTLY SEALED
AND MADE SMOOTH.

2. GAS PIPE SIZED IN ACCORDANCE WITH TABLE
1216.2(27) OF THE 2013 CPC.
GAS PIPE SIZING TABLE FOR UNDILUTED PROPANE AT
11.0 IN.WC. WITH A 0.5 IN.WC. PRESSURE DROP.
A DISTANCE OF 40 FEET WAS USED AS THE LENGTH FROM
THE REGULATOR TO THE FURTHEST APPLIANCE.

STRUCTURAL ONLY

FOOTING SCHEDULE

1/4" = 1'-0"

LEGEND

Attachment 4.1



23567891011121314 1415

L

K

D

E

F

G

H

I

J

A

B

C

L

K

D

E

F

G

H

I

J

A

B

C

23567891011121314 1415

D
un

ne
 R

e
s

_
1

9
.p

ln

31,OCT. 2017

15-332

10/24/16

Revisions

 date:

 scale:

 job #:

S1.2

A
nd

re
w

 J
. P

aw
lo

w
sk

i, 
A

rc
hi

te
ct

, L
E

E
D

 A
P

64
4 

Zi
on

 S
tre

et
N

ev
ad

a 
C

ity
 C

A 
95

95
9

53
0.

47
8.

94
15

 - 
t

53
0.

47
8.

94
16

 - 
f

w
w

w
.s

ite
lin

ea
rc

h.
co

m

FLOOR FRAMING
PLAN

si
te

lin
e 

ar
ch

ite
ct

ur
e

R
E

S
ID

E
N

T
IA

L
 R

E
M

O
D

E
L

/
A

D
D

IT
IO

N
fo

r

S
T

E
P

H
E

N
 D

U
N

N
E

1
1

4
 S

IL
V

A
 A

V
E

., 
N

E
V

A
D

A
 C

IT
Y

, A
P

N
:0

5
-4

6
0

-1
8

© 2 0 1 6 S i t e l i n e
A r c h i t e c t u r e - A l l
rights reserved. These
d e s i g n s , p l a n s a n d
s p e c i f i c a t i o n s a r e
p r o t e c t e d u n d e r
federal copyright laws.
U n a u t h o r i z e d
duplication of these
d o c u m e n t s o r t h e
contents   herein is in
violation of federal
copyright law.

OCT.

20
17

31
, 

DN.

D
W

F

DW

DB
L

O
VE

N

PERPENDICULAR
BLOCK 1ST BAY @

48" O.C.

STAIR, SEE SHEET
A8

NOTCH BEAM FOR
ONE PLATE.

BOTTOM OF
DOUBLE TOP

PLATE TO BUTT
SIDES

PERPENDICULAR
BLOCK 1ST BAY @
48" O.C.

DTT2Z, OR HUC HANG
GIRDER FROM
CONTINOUS POSTS,
(TYP.) SEE DETAIL

2x LEDGER w/2
LEDGER LOK
SCREWS @ 32" O.C.,
LUS26Z HANGERS,
(TYP.)

2x LEDGER w/2
LEDGER LOK
SCREWS @ 32" O.C.,
LUS26Z HANGERS,
(TYP.) SEE  DETAIL

STAIR, SEE SHEET
A8

A15
A6.2

A15
A6.2

A9
A6.1

A9
A6.1

G15
A6.2

G15
A6.2

G15
A6.1

G15
A6.1

A15
A6.1

A15
A6.1

A9
A6.2

A9
A6.2

ADD 4x BLOCKING
BETWEEN STUDS

ADJACENT TO EACH
SIDE OF SILL AND

HEADER, CS 18
STRAP ACROSS

BLOCKING TO SILL/
HEADER TO

BLOCKING. FILL
EVERY OTHER HOLE

OF STRAP w/
FASTENERS.

ADD 4x BLOCKING
BETWEEN STUDS

ADJACENT TO EACH
SIDE OF SILL AND

HEADER, CS 18
STRAP ACROSS

BLOCKING TO SILL/
HEADER TO

BLOCKING. FILL
EVERY OTHER HOLE

OF STRAP w/
FASTENERS.

12.5'
B

5.5'
B

5.5'
B

A 28'

8.25'
A

8.25'
A

12.5' A

12.5' A

12.5'
B

6x POST TO P21 PBS,
OR ABU, AT BASE.
HUC HANG FLOOR
GIRDER.
POSITIVE CONNECTION
PER BUILDER AT TOP,
(TYP.)

2x LEDGER w/2 LEDGER
LOK SCREWS @ 32" O.C.,
LUS26Z HANGERS

(N) FOOTING AND
PONYWALL TO UNDERSIDE

OF (N) 1 PIECE 28' ±
11.875 TJI 230 ATOP (N)
PONYWALL. JOIST TO BE

EDGE NAILED BY (E)
DIAGONAL SHEATHING

AND (N) PANEL SHEATHING

(N) FOOTING AND
PONYWALL TO UNDERSIDE
OF (N) 1 PIECE 28' ±
11.875 TJI 230 ATOP (N)
PONYWALL. JOIST TO BE
EDGE NAILED BY (E)
DIAGONAL SHEATHING
AND (N) PANEL SHEATHING

LUSXX HANGER (E) FROM
(N) RIM

J12
S1.4

J9
S1.4

B11 4x10 DF (5.75' SPAN)

B12 4x8 PTDF (6.25' SPANS)

B12 4x8 PTDF (6.25' SPANS)

B11 4x10 DF (5.75' SPANS)

B11 4x10 DF (5.75' SPANS)

B
1

1
 4

x
1

0
 D

F
 (6

.2
5

' S
P

A
N

S
)

AREA OF EXISTING 2x6

FLOOR FRAMING TO REMAIN

1
1

.8
7

5
 T

JI
 1

1
0

'S
 @

 1
6

" O
.C

.

3
 S

P
A

N
S

 A
S

 S
H

O
W

N
 +

-1
1

.7
7

'

O
N

E
 P

E
IC

E
 C

O
N

T
IN

UO
US

R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
E

D

11.875 TJI 110'S @ 16" O
.C.

3 SPANS AS SHO
W

N ±11.5'

O
NE PEICE CO

NTINUO
US

R
ECO

M
M

END
ED

1
1

.8
7

5
 T

JI
 1

1
0

'S
 @

 1
6

" O
.C

.

3
 S

P
A

N
S

 A
S

 S
H

O
W

N
 ±

1
2

'

O
N

E
 P

E
IC

E
 C

O
N

T
IN

UO
US

R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
E

D

2x6 PTDF @ 16" O.C.

11.875 TJI 230'S @ 16" O
.C.

(14.5' OUT TO OUT) w
/23/32"

EDGE GOLD T&G PLY ATOP

NAILED w/8D'S @ 6" EDGE /12"

BOUNDARY

B13 4x10 PTDF (8.5' SPAN)

2x6 PTDF @ 16" O.C.

A 13'

A11.25'

PROVIDE SHEAR
ASSEMBLY FROM
FOUNDATION TO
ROOF DIAPHRAGM
ABOVE,  BREAK
SHEATHING ON RIM
JOIST

WHERE
OCCURS

3
-2x6 STUDS @ 16" O.C.
-1/2" CDX PLY;
-EDGE NAILING: 3" O.C.,
-FIELD NAILING: 12" O.C.
 w/8d COMMON (2 1/2" x .131")
-3X AT ALL PANEL JOINTS

#

Wall Shear
APN:  05-460-18

Nailing around windows is to be the same as edge nailing of adjacent walls.
Where aspect ratios are too great force transfer around windows shall be used

wall weight 12
wall height 8
Wall line % full height sheeting Adjust factor Total wall length Short wall Shear Wall shear adjusted End uplift Wall Type

sheeting FT FT fraction shear allow load
A 100 1 25.5 12.75 0.50 121 260 100 -282 A NT REQD
B 100 1 13 13 0.50 237 260 50 949 A NT REQD

C 100 1 11.25 11.25 0.64 204 260 50 808 A HDU2
D 100 1 28 28 0.36 46 260 50 -1676 A NT REQD

1 100 1 7 13 0.50 329 349 100 1355 B HDU2
2 100 1 7 13 0.5 329 349 100 1355 B HDU2
3 100 1 11 5.5 0.5 294 349 100 1810 B HDU2
4 73 0.9 16.5 8.25 0.5 196 234 100 758 A HDU2

Walls are considered perforated shearwalls wherever possible. Adjustment vales where applicable are off Table 4.3.3.5 NDS SDPWS

resistive holdown
plf

7
/1

8

2.5

SHEAR WALL TYPE
SEE SCHEDULE SHEET S1.2

SHEAR WALL
MINIMUM LENGTH

B

No. C-67693

N

FLOOR FRAMING NOTES

1. BEARING PARTITIONS PERPENDICULAR TO JOISTS
SHALL NOT BE OFFSET FROM SUPPORTING GIRDERS,
BEAMS, WALLS, OR PARTITIONS MORE THAN THE
DEPTH OF THE JOISTS, JOISTS UNDER AND
PARALLEL TO BEARING PARTITIONS SHALL BE
DOUBLED OR BLOCKED PER JOIST
MANUFACTURER'S SPECIFICATIONS.

2. STUDS IN BEARING WALLS ARE LIMITED TO 10 FEET
IN HEIGHT UNLESS AN APPROVED ENGINEERING
DESIGN IS SUBMITTED. 

3. INSTALL ALL TJI'S PER MANUFACTURER'S
SPECIFICATIONS:

 -  PROVIDE MIN. 1 3/4" BEARING AT END SUPPORTS;
3 1/2" MIN. AT MID SUPPORTS

 -  PROVIDE 2X SQUASH BLOCKS OR SOLID TJI
BLOCKING WHERE LOAD BEARING WALL OCCURS
ABOVE U.N.O.

 -  PROVIDE TJI LSL OR RIMBOARD AT ENDS WHERE
INDICATED ON PLAN.

4. FLOOR DIAPHRAGM:
 3/4" CDX T&G PLYWOOD
 FASTEN w/WSNTL 212S SCREWS
 6" O.C. EDGE
 12" O.C. FIELD

5. SHEATHING TO BE CONTINUOUS FROM PRESSURE
TREATED MUDSILL TO ROOF DIAPHRAGM.

SHEAR WALL LEGEND

SHEAR WALL SCHEDULE

1/4" = 1'-0"

STRUCTURAL ONLY

Attachment 4.2



Civil Engineer

Nevada County Building Department
950 Maidu Ave.
Nevada City, Ca 95959

RE: APN 05-460-18 Nevada County

To whom it may concern,
This letter is in regards to the in progress project at the above APN.  It has come to my attention that 

the existing floor framing in the front part of the home is deteriorated beyond use. The builder has proposed 
replacing the floor framing with the same framing members which have been specified for the longer span 
behind this area. This is an acceptable fix to the situation.

Very Truly Yours,

William Prechter PE.
No. C-67693

Attachment 6



City of Nevada City 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

TO:  Planning Commission 

FROM: Amy Wolfson, City Planner 

MEETING DATE:  January 26, 2017 

RE: Medical Cannabis Dispensary Ordinance 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Workshop comments as written
2. Workshop comments organized by theme
3. Public Comments Received through January 16, 2017 (including two petitions)
4. Resolution 2017-XX recommending CEQA exemption and attached NOD
5. Resolution 2017-XX recommending adoption of Ordinance
6. DRAFT Medical Cannabis Business Permit and Selection Procedure

BACKGROUND: At the August 25, 2016 City Council Strategic Planning Workshop, staff was 
directed to research the possibility of allowing a medical cannabis dispensary within the city.  On 
September 28, Council was presented with a draft ordinance which Council referred to the Planning 
Commission for review and recommendation. At their November meeting, the Planning Commission 
recommended that staff open up a public comment period and also directed staff to hold an evening 
public workshop on December 1st.  Staff provided an informational overview of the information 
obtained at the workshop to the Planning Commission at their December meeting. In order to meet the 
appropriate noticing requirement for this public hearing item, staff postponed the regular meeting of 
January 19th to this Special Meeting of January 26, 2017, and therefore extended the comment period 
until January 16th.    

Under current state law (the Medical Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act), the City is permitted to 
allow medical marijuana businesses including cultivators, manufacturers, distributors, transporters, 
testing facilities, and dispensaries to operate within the City.  Currently, the City prohibits all types of 
medical marijuana businesses within the City, and explicitly bans medical marijuana dispensaries in 
Chapter 9.22 of the Nevada City Municipal Code.   

PUBLIC OUTREACH 

Public Workshop: The workshop was attended by approximately 64 people. A poll of the attendees 

revealed that of the 64 attendees, nine of those were City residents who favored an ordinance, and 8 of 

those were City-residents who opposed an ordinance allowing a dispensary. The majority of attendees 

appeared to be from outlying areas of the City.  

Attendees of the workshop were divided into four groups and were dispersed to various sections of the 

room to consider the following four categories of the draft ordinance: 1) Land Use/Zoning, 2) 

Operational Requirements, 3) Permittee Selection Process, and 4) Law Enforcement/Security. Each 

station was set up with large poster pads labeled with the ordinance category being considered. 

Participants were asked to consider the challenges of each of the four categories and then follow-up 

with suggestions to either add, remove, or modify language in the current draft. Once each group had a 

chance to visit each of the four stations, staff passed out five sticker dots to each of the remaining 



Updated Draft Ordinance 

January 26, 2017 
Page 2 of 4 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

participants. They were directed to place their dots on those suggestions that were most important to 

them for consideration by the City 

Staff has organized all of the comments as they appeared on the poster paper at the workshop in 

Attachment 1. Because I also wanted to group like-themes, many of which were expressed in multiple 

categories, Attachment 2 includes the same comments grouped by theme.  

Public Comment: At the Commission’s direction staff opened up a 19-day public comment period 
with the idea that comments received on or before December 6th, could be incorporated directly into 
the December Planning Commission packets. At that meeting the Planning Commission voted to 
extend the public comment period until January 9, 2017, in order to incorporate those comments into 
the Planning Commission staff report for January. In order to meet the appropriate noticing 
requirement for this public hearing item, staff postponed the regular meeting of January 19th to this 
Special Meeting of January 26, 2017, and therefore extended the comment period once again until 
January 16th. All comments received as of January 16th, are included directly in this report as 
Attachment 4. Any comments received after that time will be provided to the Commissioners in hard 
copy form at the meeting.  

DISPENSARY ORDINANCE SUMMARY: The draft Ordinance would amend Chapter 9.22 of the 

Nevada City Municipal Code to repeal the ban on medical marijuana dispensaries and would replace 

the language with a permitting procedure for medical marijuana businesses, whereby interested parties 

will submit an application, submit to a criminal background check, and provide other information 

necessary to determine eligibility.   

As currently drafted, the Ordinance would permit a single medical marijuana dispensary to locate 

within the City, but allow the City Council to authorize more than one, immediately or after a specified 

trial period if preferred.  Any successful permittee must also comply with the operational and other 

requirements contained in the draft ordinance.  As currently drafted, the requirements include:  

 Payment of a permit fee, and all required City business license fees, development fees, and

applicable taxes;

 Record keeping requirements;

 Verification of customer status as 18 and older, and with a valid medical recommendation or

valid primary caregiver status;

 Security requirements such as retention of licensed security guards, security cameras, alarm

system, panic buttons, and cannabis products must be securely stored to prevent loss or theft;

 No alcohol can be sold on-site;

 Operating hours are limited to 8 a.m. to 8 p.m. daily;

 Cannabis or cannabis-containing products may not be consumed on the premises;

 Minors are prohibited from being on the premises in any capacity;

 Odor controls devices and techniques must ensure that there are no odors released from the

building that can be detectable off-site;



Updated Draft Ordinance 

January 26, 2017 
Page 3 of 4 

City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

 Owner(s) of the business must also obtain a permit after undergoing a background check and

meeting requirements set forth in the ordinance; and

 There are three alternative sections applicable to employee qualifications and permitting for

the Planning Commission to choose from discussed in more detail below.

In addition to the amendments to Chapter 9.22, the draft Ordinance will also amend the Zoning Code 

to add Chapter 17.142 to the Municipal Code to designate Light Industrial areas as the appropriate 

zone for medical marijuana dispensaries to locate.  Chapter 17.142 would also require that dispensaries 

be located at least 600 feet from schools and parks.  State law requires that dispensaries be located at 

least 600 feet from schools.  The City may be more restrictive in its distance requirements but is not 

permitted to be less restrictive than the state law.   

DRAFT ORDINANCE MODIFICATIONS 

Consulting Attorney, Crystal Hodgson reviewed public comments from both the workshop and general 

submissions and incorporated those comments which posed legal concerns into an updated draft 

ordinance, See attachment 5. Among the changes is a terminology change from “Marijuana” to 

Cannabis.” It was suggested to staff that “Marijuana” carries a racist connotation. Ultimately, staff 

found that the legal definition of “Cannabis” was more encompassing in terms of the various plant 

strains and therefore more appropriate for use in the proposed Ordinance.  

Another notable change is the removal of Section 9.22.010.C. This section prohibited other cannabis-

related businesses until such time that the ordinance is amended to make them allowable.  Several 

public comments expressed concern over this language with an assumption that it constituted an 

outright ban of other cannabis business. Ultimately staff determined the language was unnecessary 

because uses are determined to be prohibited unless expressly permitted in the Municipal Code. Staff 

expects to review potential ordinance language in the future to allow cannabis-related businesses in the 

event the dispensary ordinance is adopted. Any such Ordinance would coincide with the 

implementation of the State’s regulatory process for cannabis-related businesses, anticipated in January 

2018. 

The modified draft Ordinance also contains an addition of two options at Section 9.22.030(B.4), which 

regulates the manner in which employees of the business are evaluated.  As originally drafted, this 

section required City staff to conduct background checks on all dispensary employees. Several public 

comments expressed concern that this provision is overly intrusive. Staff determined that this could 

also over-burden staff resources. As a result, staff has included a total of 3 options for regulating 

dispensary employee qualifications.  The original requirement that employees obtain a City permit 

after undergoing a background check is option 1.  Option 2 would require dispensary owners or 

operators to conduct background checks of potential employees before hiring.  Or option 3 allows 

owners and/or operators to make their own determination of employee qualifications to best suit the 

business model, without mandating a background check.  The idea behind Option 3 is that illegal 

activity is inherently undesirable for a business owner and the employer will take action to protect the 

business and no additional provisions need to be included under the ordinance. In the event 

Commissioners select either option 2 or 3, we will also change Section 9.22.090 (F.13), in so much 

that it refers to availability of employee criminal history information.  

The updated ordinance also amends Section 9.22.090(F.9.d through f) which originally called for strict 

signage restrictions on advertising the nature of the business. Several public comments expressed 

concern that the language was overly restrictive. Staff also concluded that much of the concern is 



City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

Updated Draft Ordinance 

January 26, 2017 

Page 4 of 4 

mitigated by existing signage regulations in the Municipal Code which restricts size and prohibits off-

site signage except in very specific circumstances.  

Finally, the consulting attorney’s office has drafted an application procedure for the permittee 

application and selection process. The Ordinance as drafted requires that the City Council develop a 

procedure for permittee selection. Staff received several public comments that expressed a desire to 

understand the ranking system and procedural requirements of that process prior to going to City 

Council. Therefore, a draft application procedure is included as Attachment 6 which constitutes staff’s 

recommendation to Council. As currently drafted, the procedure includes components intended to 

screen, evaluate, and rank applicants to identify those that may advance from the first phase of the 

process through the next four phases. The Planning Commission is welcome to provide feedback for 

Council’s consideration if desired. 

RECOMMENDATION: Staff is seeking direction on the following two potential actions:

1. Whether or not to make the following motions:

a. Make a motion to adopt Resolution 2017-XX recommending that the City Council find
the adoption of the ordinance is exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act
(CEQA) pursuant to sections   Section 15061(b) (3) because it can be seen with
certainty that there is no possibility that the activity in question may have a significant
effect on the environment; Section 15183 (projects consistent with a community plan,
general plan, or zoning) since the type of business permitted by the ordinance is
consistent with those contemplated by general plan and zoning, such as traditional
pharmacies; Section 15301 (existing facilities) since the permitted medical cannabis
dispensary business under the ordinance may locate in existing facilities, and any
additions to structures would be expected to be also exempt under 15301; and Section
15303 (new construction or conversion of small structures).  The medical cannabis
business will be established in an urban area, and given the build out of the existing
city, and sufficient existing leasable property, the amount of construction that would
occur is minimal to non-existent, and any such construction would be less than the
thresholds established in Section 15303.

b. Make a motion to adopt Resolution 2017-XX and accept the recommended
modification made by staff, selecting recommended option where appropriate, and
recommend that the City Council adopt the draft Ordinance as may be modified at the
Planning Commission meeting.

OR 

2. Whether or not to recommend that the City Council reject an ordinance permitting a medical

cannabis dispensary within the City.



Page 1 of 6 

Cannabis Dispensary Ordinance Workshop 

December 1, 2016 

Raw Data as written at workshop 

PERMITTEE SELECTION 

CHALLENGES: 

Challenge for non-local ownership 

Complete vetting and criminal records for all employees, not just owners and 
managers 

Minimal advertising aimed at youth (no billboards) 

Guarantee teens and youth can’t show up at dispensary with someone else’s 
marijuana card and get pot 

Don’t allow anyone under 18 admitted (their adult guardian can pick up meds) 

1-dot Fees and taxes to go for mitigation of unintended consequences of increased 
marijuana use among area teens and youth 

5-dots Make license transferrable with city approval 

1-dot Employee should not have 90-day grace period when they can work in dispensary 
while being approved/certified 

Not 18 year-old employees 

Guarantee teens and youth can’t show up at dispensary with someone else’s 
marijuana card and get pot 

REMEDIES-ADD 

4-dots- non-profit, local ownership covering expenses and giving back to locally impacted 
populations (i.e. food banks, hospitality house, youth centers, community centers, 
etc.) 

2 dots- giving back to not-for-profit environmental groups. 

“Gold Flat” area dots for Big Brothers/Big Sisters, Friendship club and Sierra forever 
Families 

“Argall/Searls” area- Presbyterian Preschool and R.O.P. (or RDP) 

1 dot- Must meet small business definition from State 

1 dot Mandatory non-profit status, including but not limited to, a requirement of 
mandatory giving back to local 501(c)(3). “Giving back” to mitigate negative impacts 
of the industry 

1 dot Run by local non-profit board of directors that represent community- respected local 
leaders from law enforcement, healthcare, social services, environmental stewards, 
etc. 

Minimum 5-year residency 

2-dots- Non-profit dispensary only 

4-dots Local ownership only 

2-dots: High-ranking for dispensary that gives back to the community for impacts 

2-dots: Local ownership a precondition 

2-dots Local employees and management 

4-dots For-profit dispensary (2018) 

No allowance for City Manager to pick three candidates 

Attachment 1.1



Page 2 of 6 
 

 Require dispensary to donate to non-profit stake holders 

 Selection criteria & process should be included in ordinance –not through resolution 

 Provision for Operating Compliance Manuals 

 Allow any medical marijuana recommendation the ability to vend to dispensaries (as 
it is now until 2018 when the law changes. 

 REMEDIES- REMOVE 

10- dots Selection criteria seems unusually stringent for all employees. Most city and counties 
only require this scrutiny for managers and/or owners. Typically, it is in best interest 
of the business to self-police in their hiring practices as they are incentivized to not 
rake risks that would risk losing a permit.  

 Section B-Does the City really want to screen each individual employee applicant’s 
employment history? I’d recommend this for owners and manages only but could be 
cumbersome for all employees.  

2-dots Section B-5- If it takes up to 90-days to hire an employee the application process 
could be burdensome. 

 REMEDIES-MODIFY 

2-dots Section 9.22.040-  I Recommend more than 1 dispensary to discourage pre-fixing a 
monopoly 

 Section 9.22.70 –Makes a proposing location a mandatory part of the application 
process. Does the property have to be controlled for the entire process as well, or 
would a letter of intent be sufficient?  

 Section 9.22.070 –consider modifying the language. “Licensed facilities” at the state 
level will not be available until at least Jan. 2018. Adjust the language to allow for 
purchase from vendors operating under the legal collective model. I want to see local 
products in the dispensary.   

2-dots.  Adjust the language to allow for purchase from vendor operating under the legal 
collective model. I want to see local products in the dispensary. 

 Allow any medical marijuana recommendation the ability to vend to dispensaries (As 
it is now until 2018 when the law changes). 

4 dots Someone who has psychology and/or therapeutic training to understand those 
walking in the door with compassion rather than judgement for their situation 
especially if facing end of life. 

2 dots More than 1 dispensary 

2-dots Add general business and all zoning 

 9.22.050 – Application fee: In establishing an application fee I’d recommend it adhere 
to Prop. 64, that fees in the amount to cover the cost of implementing ad maintaining 
the program and City can’t generate extreme revenue for the city through fees. 

 I support voter authorized tax initiatives that generate extra income for the city to 
benefit socially beneficial programs (homeless, veterans, education, panging, etc.) 

1 dot I support a phased approach to fee structures, meaning each phase has fees 
associated with that phase so as applicants move forward, their cost is reflective of 
how far along they are. The more they have moved along in the process, the less 
likely the applicant is to drop out.   

7 dots Priority given to applicants who have a mechanism to give back to community non-
profits such as environmental, social services, aging and disability, youth substance 
abuse organizations.  

 Must donate to 501 (c)3 community funds. 

Attachment 1.2



Page 3 of 6 
 

 Allow only Nevada County Residents and Nevada City residents with 2-year municipal 
residency. 

1 dot Make this a requirement for all _____ 

3 dots Local small business should have priority 

1 dot  IRS Rule 280(E)  must be considered when assessing fees. Such fees are non-
deductible and therefore extra onerous. Be fair. Keep patient costs low.  

3-dots Excessive burden on screening all employees. Should be restricted to owner and 
management. 

3 dots Allow advertising. Unfair Restriction. Gives “Weedmaps” a virtual monopoly 

1 dot More hours allowed. Let business owner and market determine. 

 Background checks on employees are unreasonable. Allow owner to do due diligence. 

 Not necessary to report addresses and personal information on growers vending 
dispensary. 

 Please be more specific on advertising. The language is vague; Please clearly 
designate where adds are allowed or not. 

 Record keeping – please make evident the city’s record keeping system 

7 dots  Allow for patients whom are under 18 years of age to become members and acquire 
medicine if they are verifiably, legitimate patients, accompanied by their caregiver, 
whom must be the patient’s parent or legal caregiver. There are a number of child 
patients who live up here that are suffering from seizures, and serious illness that can 
be relieved with cannabis 

OPERATIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
 

 CHALLENGES: 

 21 years old to work at retail facility 

 Concern that patients don’t want  4 years of their names kept;  1 year better. 

 600 feet is too little 

 600 feet may be too little 

 1 mile would be good 

 1 mile would be unreasonable 

 300 feet from residences, churches, social services, etc. is too little 

 Abatement issues – more than just asking shop should be listed 

2 dots Eliminate in ordinance that when it passes City Council, that they can immediately say 
more shops will/can be allowable. 

 Consumption should be allowed at dispensary and more places than just at home. 
Don’t make us go home to take any medicine.  

4 dots  Allow more than 1 dispensary –no monopoly  

4 dots Allow all State License types. 

 REMEDIES-ADD 

 OSHA (Operational Safety Hazard Association) Compliance for potential 
manufacturing. 

 Environmental Impact Report & Agricultural Auditing through private corporation.  

 Make sure employees of growers are protected with appropriate safety standards 
from pesticide use and mold on marijuana 

 Operated by locals with a non-profit-type structure with a board of directors. 

 Permittee should provide operation manual to demonstrate how compliance will be 
achieved, insured and monitored.  

Attachment 1.3



Page 4 of 6 
 

 REMEDIES-REMOVE 

4 dots  Section C: This legislation should not prohibit any other aspect of cannabis. 

 After operational glitches are worked out allow another dispensary. 

 Remove camera access for dispensary area of medicine as it violates patients’ HIPAA 
rights. Cameras should only be accessed by dispensary owners in this area (the rest of 
the business is fine). 

 REMEDIES-MODIFY 

 Background checks limited to violent crimes/felonies 

 Background check for all employees seems stringent; managers and owners only 

LAW ENFORCEMENT/SECURITY ORDINANCE 
 

 CHALLENGES 

 We are a no smoking town 

 Clarify who will regulate legitimacy of prescription (State, City, County, Consumer 
Affairs?) 

 Definitely require video surveillance 

5 dots Background Check for owner/operator necessary – no felony convictions 

7 dots Make sure all area youth and teens protected adequately 

 Is it a felony to smoke with anyone under the age 18 or 21. We are still a no smoking 
town! I advocate for homeless! 

 Resale to youth, especially edibles, topicals, etc. how to enforce when only 600-feet 
from a school, kids will be everywhere and susceptible, needs to be in ordinance 

 You must carry a card to get in to a dispensary  

 School kids will get weed from their backyard, or their friends’ backyards, not a 
dispensary 

 REMEDIES-ADD 

1 dot 5% of gross for law enforcement 

 Encourage law enforcement to be educated  

 Page 21 #4 Expand to reference additional Cannabis Board products such as oils, 
slaves, edibles.  

 Security on site review camera 

3 dots Police are already paid for in taxes. No other business pays separately that was tied in 
1920s with fire departments  

 Allow law enforcement to become patients. 

2 dots Adding 5% of gross for law enforcement (security will be provided) 

 REMEDIES- REMOVE 

2 dots Remove remote view camera (HIPAA) 

 Remove requirement for licensed security guard. Pharmacy licenses (Walmart, etc.) 
don’t have. 

 No camera system- privacy concerns 

 Keep security video feed.  

 Encourage LED to get to know how it works 

 REMEDIES- MODIFY 

 Employees not to be necessary for background checks. Allow employer to do their 
due diligence on their employees 

3 dot Remove need for a live video feed to the police department 

Attachment 1.4



Page 5 of 6 
 

 Do not remove need for a live video feed to the police department 

 Background checks for owners and management but not rest of employees. 

 Have dispensary cover costs of increased police calls that will come as a result. 

1 dot Police presence always, to enforce distances from homes parameter 1,000 at least 

1 dot  have a place other than dispensary for neighbors to voice concerns (noise, smell etc.) 

 300-feet away is too little 

 Increase distance requirements to make policing easier 

 Private, armed security firm paid for by dispensary to include armored vehicles similar 
to bank cash/bond transportation. 

 Modify: 

 Allow for onsite consumption for a safe place for people to learn, test, and provide 
education. What if people have children? The only place to consume is in the home. 
Let’s limit the access to children.  

LOCATION/LAND USE  
 

 CHALLENGES: 

5-dots Not enough locations under current zoning, you need to open it up to all zoning 

 Setbacks if increased to 1,200 feet would totally eliminate any locations. 

33 dots  Allow other types of marijuana business (i.e. advertising, processing, testing, 
manufacturing, delivery) –this is capitalism! 

 Allow manufacturing and other businesses 

 Allowing manufacturing and other businesses would be terrible. 

3-dots Allow a minimum of three dispensaries 

1 dot Allow all MCRSA license types 

1-dot  Allow for all MCRSA license types 

14-dots Allow: Commercial zones, anywhere that a liquor store or pharmacy is allowed. 

1-dot  LI area is still in residential neighborhoods 

2 dots  Not in neighborhoods inside Nevada City  (ex. Hoover Street -- Kids walk to school on 
Hoover 7-hills, Bost, Mohawk)(Big Bros, Big Sisters, Adoption agency, Friendship Club) 
Grass Valley Hwy, Ridge, 7Hills Business always have kids biking to/from schools 7Hills 
and Deer Creek Elementary, & Jr. high) 

12 dots Consider allowing in commercial areas of the city, not just limiting to LI 

 Re: Setbacks preschools & transitional kindergartens are not required by law. 
Consider removing.  

 REMEDIES-ADD 

 Put in Commercial zone 

 Put in downtown Nevada City or Rood Center 

14 dots Increase distance of dispensary (double at least to 1,200 feet from daycare, church, 
library, park, schools and residences) 

 1,000 or 1,500 feet from financial institutions and / or 1 lane to 1 ½ -lane roads.  

 Gold flat Road, east of freeway … this area as a “New Day” with many vulnerable 
people 

 Canvas the potential neighborhoods to determine appropriate community fit 

 Increase distance to 1,200 feet from schools, daycares, libraries 

3 dots  City might want to research locations and give applicants feedback 

 Change zoning ordinance so old airport could be considered 

Attachment 1.5



Page 6 of 6 
 

6 dots  ADA Compliance on public transit route, public sidewalk access 

 Add up to three locations 

 REMEDIES-REMOVE 

1 dot Remove the 1 zoning requirement 

1-Dot   Remove the ban on other marijuana activities; We need manufacturing locally 

1 dot  17.142.040 – must have supporting business activities allowed. Cultivating, 
manufacturing, testing, distribution, transport small cottage industry farmers should 
be allowed to produce at home and get tested at licensed testing facility 

8 dot Remove Location limit (creates monopoly) 

 REMEDIES-MODIFY 

1 dot More tax for social services (recovery, homeless, mitigation) 

1-dot No additional tax 

3 dots  Allow in any zone with pharmacy, hospital, doctors’ offices, & also in general business 
area. Buying and selling stuff is not a unique concept.  

13 dots Let only the people of Nevada City vote on the measure. 

1 dot Large county- everyone must be able to give feedback 

 Don’t allow dispensary at all. 

 Work with those opposed to continue to educate the general public on medical 
cannabis.  

 Recommendation: 600 feet from schools K-12 is required by State law, the inclusion 
of preschools and transitional kindergarten is not required. This may create an issue 
for otherwise viable locations, but something to look at.  

 Fencing and security issues need to be addressed 

1 dot Modify application fee: 9.22.050 in establishing application fees the city would need 
to adhere to Prop. 26 that requires fees in the amount to cover cost of implementing 
and we would be supportive of a voter authorized initiative that would generate extra 
revenue for the city, as well as for socially beneficial programs (i.e. homeless, 
veterans, education, parking etc).  

 

Attachment 1.6



Page 1 of 6 

Cannabis Dispensary Ordinance Workshop 

December 1, 2016 

Data as written at workshop Organized by Theme 

Local Ownership 

Challenge for non-local ownership 

1 dot Run by local non-profit board of directors that represent community- respected local 
leaders from law enforcement, healthcare, social services, environmental stewards, etc. 

Minimum 5-year residency 

4-dots Local ownership only 

2-dots: Local ownership a precondition 

2-dots Local employees and management 

Allow only Nevada County Residents and Nevada City residents with 2-year municipal 
residency. 

Operated by locals with a non-profit-type structure with a board of directors. 

3 dots Local small business should have priority 

Zoning/location 

2-dots Add general business and all zoning 

5-dots Not enough locations under current zoning, you need to open it up to all zoning 

14-dots Allow: Commercial zones, anywhere that a liquor store or pharmacy is allowed. 

12 dots Consider allowing in commercial areas of the city, not just limiting to LI 

Put in Commercial zone 

Put in downtown Nevada City or Rood Center 

Gold flat Road, east of freeway … this area as a “New Day” with many vulnerable people 

Canvas the potential neighborhoods to determine appropriate community fit 

3 dots City might want to research locations and give applicants feedback 

Change zoning ordinance so old airport could be considered 

1-dot LI area is still in residential neighborhoods 

1 dot Remove the 1 zoning requirement 

8 dot Remove Location limit (creates monopoly) 

3 dots Allow in any zone with pharmacy, hospital, doctors’ offices, & also in general business 
area. Buying and selling stuff is not a unique concept.  

90-day review process

1-dot Employee should not have 90-day grace period when they can work in dispensary while 
being approved/certified 

2-dots Section B-5- If it takes up to 90-days to hire an employee the application process could be 
burdensome. 

Number of Dispensaries 

2 dots More than 1 dispensary 

2-dots Section 9.22.040-  I Recommend more than 1 dispensary to discourage pre-fixing a 
monopoly 

2 dots Eliminate in ordinance that when it passes City Council, that they can immediately say 
more shops will/can be allowable. 

Attachment 2.1



Page 2 of 6 
 

 

4 dots  Allow more than 1 dispensary –no monopoly  

 After operational glitches are worked out allow another dispensary. 

3-dots Allow a minimum of three dispensaries 

 Add up to three locations 

  

Non-profit status 

2-dots- Non-profit dispensary only 

4-dots For-profit dispensary (2018) 

 Require dispensary to donate to non-profit stake holders 

  

Advertising Restrictions 

3 dots Allow advertising. Unfair Restriction. Gives “Weedmaps” a virtual monopoly 

 Please be more specific on advertising. The language is vague; Please clearly designate 
where adds are allowed or not. 

  

Youth Protection  

 Minimal advertising aimed at youth (no billboards) 

 Guarantee teens and youth can’t show up at dispensary with someone else’s marijuana 
card and get pot 

 Don’t allow anyone under 18 admitted (their adult guardian can pick up meds) 

1-dot Fees and taxes to go for mitigation of unintended consequences of increased marijuana 
use among area teens and youth 

 Not 18 year-old employees 

7 dots  Allow for patients whom are under 18 years of age to become members and acquire 
medicine if they are verifiably, legitimate patients, accompanied by their caregiver, whom 
must be the patient’s parent or legal caregiver. There are a number of child patients who 
live up here that are suffering from seizures, and serious illness that can be relieved with 
cannabis 

 21 years old to work at retail facility 

7 dots Make sure all area youth and teens protected adequately 

 Resale to youth, especially edibles, topicals, etc. how to enforce when only 600-feet from 
a school, kids will be everywhere and susceptible, needs to be in ordinance 

 Is it a felony to smoke with anyone under the age 18 or 21. We are still a no smoking 
town! I advocate for homeless! 

 School kids will get weed from their backyard, or their friends’ backyards, not a 
dispensary 

 Allow for onsite consumption for a safe place for people to learn, test, and provide 
education. What if people have children? The only place to consume is in the home. Let’s 
limit the access to children.  

2 dots  Not in neighborhoods inside Nevada City  (ex. Hoover Street -- Kids walk to school on 
Hoover 7-hills, Bost, Mohawk)(Big Bros, Big Sisters, Adoption agency, Friendship Club) 
Grass Valley Hwy, Ridge, 7Hills Business always have kids biking to/from schools 7Hills and 
Deer Creek Elementary, & Jr. high) 

 Re: Setbacks preschools & transitional kindergartens are not required by law. Consider 
removing.  

 
 

 

Attachment 2.2



Page 3 of 6 
 

 

Employee Evaluation 

 Background checks limited to violent crimes/felonies 

 Background check for all employees seems stringent; managers and owners only 

5 dots Background Check for owner/operator necessary – no felony convictions 

 Employees not to be necessary for background checks. Allow employer to do their due 
diligence on their employees 

 Background checks for owners and management but not rest of employees. 

 Complete vetting and criminal records for all employees, not just owners and managers 

10- dots Selection criteria seems unusually stringent for all employees. Most city and counties only 
require this scrutiny for managers and/or owners. Typically, it is in best interest of the 
business to self-police in their hiring practices as they are incentivized to not rake risks 
that would risk losing a permit.  

 Section B-Does the City really want to screen each individual employee applicant’s 
employment history? I’d recommend this for owners and manages only but could be 
cumbersome for all employees.  

3-dots Excessive burden on screening all employees. Should be restricted to owner and 
management. 

Security 

 Definitely require video surveillance 

 Security on site review camera 

1 dot 5% of gross for law enforcement 

2 dots Adding 5% of gross for law enforcement (security will be provided) 

 Keep security video feed.  

 Have dispensary cover costs of increased police calls that will come as a result. 

1 dot Police presence always, to enforce distances from homes parameter 1,000 at least 

 Increase distance requirements to make policing easier 

 Private, armed security firm paid for by dispensary to include armored vehicles similar to 
bank cash/bond transportation. 

 Fencing and security issues need to be addressed 

 Remove camera access for dispensary area of medicine as it violates patients’ HIPAA 
rights. Cameras should only be accessed by dispensary owners in this area (the rest of the 
business is fine). 

2 dots Remove remote view camera (HIPAA) 

 No camera system- privacy concerns 

  

Proximity Requirements 

 600 feet is too little 

 600 feet may be too little 

 1 mile would be good 

 1 mile would be unreasonable 

 300 feet from residences, churches, social services, etc. is too little 

14 dots Increase distance of dispensary (double at least to 1,200 feet from daycare, church, 
library, park, schools and residences) 

 1,000 or 1,500 feet from financial institutions and / or 1 lane to 1 ½ -lane roads.  

 Increase distance to 1,200 feet from schools, daycares, libraries 

Attachment 2.3



Page 4 of 6 
 

 

 Recommendation: 600 feet from schools K-12 is required by State law, the inclusion of 
preschools and transitional kindergarten is not required. This may create an issue for 
otherwise viable locations, but something to look at.  

 Setbacks if increased to 1,200 feet would totally eliminate any locations. 

  

Philanthropic Component to Business Plan 

4-dots- non-profit, local ownership covering expenses and giving back to locally impacted 
populations (i.e. food banks, hospitality house, youth centers, community centers, etc.) 

2 dots- giving back to not-for-profit environmental groups. 

 “Gold Flat” area dots for Big Brothers/Big Sisters, Friendship club and Sierra forever 
Families 

1 dot  Mandatory non-profit status, including but not limited to, a requirement of mandatory 
giving back to local 501(c)(3). “Giving back” to mitigate negative impacts of the industry 

2-dots: High-ranking for dispensary that gives back to the community for impacts 

7 dots Priority given to applicants who have a mechanism to give back to community non-profits 
such as environmental, social services, aging and disability, youth substance abuse 
organizations.  

 Must donate to 501 (c)3 community funds. 

1 dot More tax for social services (recovery, homeless, mitigation) 

  

Other Cannabis-related Businesses 

 Allow any medical marijuana recommendation the ability to vend to dispensaries (as it is 
now until 2018 when the law changes. 

2-dots.  Adjust the language to allow for purchase from vendor operating under the legal 
collective model. I want to see local products in the dispensary. 

 Allow any medical marijuana recommendation the ability to vend to dispensaries (As it is 
now until 2018 when the law changes). 

4 dots Allow all State License types. 

4 dots  Section C: This legislation should not prohibit any other aspect of cannabis. 

 Page 21 #4 Expand to reference additional Cannabis Board products such as oils, slaves, 
edibles.  

33 dots  Allow other types of marijuana business (i.e. advertising, processing, testing, 
manufacturing, delivery) –this is capitalism! 

 Allow manufacturing and other businesses 

 Allowing manufacturing and other businesses would be terrible. 

1 dot Allow all MCRSA license types 

1-dot  Allow for all MCRSA license types 

1-Dot   Remove the ban on other marijuana activities; We need manufacturing locally 

1 dot  17.142.040 – must have supporting business activities allowed. Cultivating, 
manufacturing, testing, distribution, transport small cottage industry farmers should be 
allowed to produce at home and get tested at licensed testing facility 

 Section 9.22.070 –consider modifying the language. “Licensed facilities” at the state level 
will not be available until at least Jan. 2018. Adjust the language to allow for purchase 
from vendors operating under the legal collective model. I want to see local products in 
the dispensary.   

 
 

 

Attachment 2.4



Page 5 of 6 
 

 

All other Workshop comments that cannot be categorized within an overarching theme 

 Background checks on employees are unreasonable. Allow owner to do due diligence. 

5-dots Make license transferrable with city approval 

 “Argall/Searls” area- Presbyterian Preschool and R.O.P. (or RDP) 

1 dot- Must meet small business definition from State 

 No allowance for City Manager to pick three candidates 

 Selection criteria & process should be included in ordinance –not through resolution 

 Provision for Operating Compliance Manuals 

 Section 9.22.70 –Makes a proposing location a mandatory part of the application process. 
Does the property have to be controlled for the entire process as well, or would a letter of 
intent be sufficient?  

4 dots Someone who has psychology and/or therapeutic training to understand those walking in 
the door with compassion rather than judgement for their situation especially if facing 
end of life. 

 9.22.050 – Application fee: In establishing an application fee I’d recommend it adhere to 
Prop. 64, that fees in the amount to cover the cost of implementing ad maintaining the 
program and City can’t generate extreme revenue for the city through fees. 

 I support voter authorized tax initiatives that generate extra income for the city to benefit 
socially beneficial programs (homeless, veterans, education, panging, etc.) 

1 dot I support a phased approach to fee structures, meaning each phase has fees associated 
with that phase so as applicants move forward, their cost is reflective of how far along 
they are. The more they have moved along in the process, the less likely the applicant is 
to drop out.   

1 dot Make this a requirement for all _____ 

1 dot  IRS Rule 280(E)  must be considered when assessing fees. Such fees are non-deductible 
and therefore extra onerous. Be fair. Keep patient costs low.  

1 dot More hours allowed. Let business owner and market determine. 

 Not necessary to report addresses and personal information on growers vending 
dispensary. 

 Record keeping – please make evident the city’s record keeping system 

 Concern that patients don’t want  4 years of their names kept;  1 year better. 

 Abatement issues – more than just asking shop should be listed 

 Consumption should be allowed at dispensary and more places than just at home. Don’t 
make us go home to take any medicine.  

 OSHA (Operational Safety Hazard Association) Compliance for potential manufacturing. 

 Environmental Impact Report & Agricultural Auditing through private corporation.  

 Make sure employees of growers are protected with appropriate safety standards from 
pesticide use and mold on marijuana 

 Permittee should provide operation manual to demonstrate how compliance will be 
achieved, insured and monitored.  

 We are a no smoking town 

 Clarify who will regulate legitimacy of prescription (State, City, County, Consumer 
Affairs?) 

 You must carry a card to get in to a dispensary  

 Encourage law enforcement to be educated  

3 dots Police are already paid for in taxes. No other business pays separately that was tied in 
1920s with fire departments  

Attachment 2.5



Page 6 of 6 
 

 

 Allow law enforcement to become patients. 

 Remove requirement for licensed security guard. Pharmacy licenses (Walmart, etc.) don’t 
have. 

 Encourage LED to get to know how it works 

1 dot  have a place other than dispensary for neighbors to voice concerns (noise, smell etc.) 

 300-feet away is too little 

6 dots  ADA Compliance on public transit route, public sidewalk access 

1-dot No additional tax 

13 dots Let only the people of Nevada City vote on the measure. 

1 dot Large county- everyone must be able to give feedback 

 Don’t allow dispensary at all. 

 Work with those opposed to continue to educate the general public on medical cannabis.  

1 dot Modify application fee: 9.22.050 in establishing application fees the city would need to 
adhere to Prop. 26 that requires fees in the amount to cover cost of implementing and we 
would be supportive of a voter authorized initiative that would generate extra revenue 
for the city, as well as for socially beneficial programs (i.e. homeless, veterans, education, 
parking etc).  

 Section 9.22.70 –Makes a proposing location a mandatory part of the application process. 
Does the property have to be controlled for the entire process as well, or would a letter of 
intent be sufficient?  

4 dots Someone who has psychology and/or therapeutic training to understand those walking in 
the door with compassion rather than judgement for their situation especially if facing 
end of life. 

 9.22.050 – Application fee: In establishing an application fee I’d recommend it adhere to 
Prop. 64, that fees in the amount to cover the cost of implementing ad maintaining the 
program and City can’t generate extreme revenue for the city through fees. 

 I support voter authorized tax initiatives that generate extra income for the city to benefit 
socially beneficial programs (homeless, veterans, education, panging, etc.) 

1 dot I support a phased approach to fee structures, meaning each phase has fees associated 
with that phase so as applicants move forward, their cost is reflective of how far along 
they are. The more they have moved along in the process, the less likely the applicant is 
to drop out.   

1 dot Make this a requirement for all _____ 

1 dot  IRS Rule 280(E)  must be considered when assessing fees. Such fees are non-deductible 
and therefore extra onerous. Be fair. Keep patient costs low.  

1 dot More hours allowed. Let business owner and market determine. 

 Not necessary to report addresses and personal information on growers vending 
dispensary. 

 Record keeping – please make evident the city’s record keeping system 

 Concern that patients don’t want  4 years of their names kept;  1 year better. 

 

Attachment 2.6



Email Correspondence Received During Public Comment Period 

All About Wellness 

B. Newton

A. Bagwell

Sierra Presbyterian Church 

B. Beason

D. Franco

K. Schaaf

D. Prout

K. Johnston

B. McQuerry

S. Kellermann

D. Baxley

G. Prudhomme

Annonymous

M. Lassen

N.J. Manuel 

K. Currington

D.K. Thompson

R. & J. Carrara

L. Wilson, County Agricultural Biologist

D. & L. Dirga

M. Warner

R. Coley

S. Potampa

W. Hall

T. McLaughlin

M. McQuerry

C. Johnson

H. Burke

K. Prout

Attachment 3.1



R. Rutter

J. Bousfield

M. Griffin, Sierra Presbyterian Church

B. Young

Anonymous 

B. Croul

D. Gardner

J. Henderson (Huffington Post Article)

M. Hadley

S. Reynolds

S.&M. Greenberg 

Therapeutic Alternative 

Clear Horizon 

Floracy 

Nevada County Wellness Group 

A. Moore

K. Currington (2nd Comment)

B.&K. Zuelsdorf 

G. Heitzman

J. Patterson-Hunter

J.&N. Westmore 

M. Brigham

T. Webb

Cannabis Alliance

J. Henderson

Anonymous

Law Office of Heather Burke (HIPAA Memo)

Attachment 3.2



Attachment 3.3



Attachment 3.4



Attachment 3.5



Attachment 3.6



Attachment 3.7



Attachment 3.8



Attachment 3.9



From: Anita Bagwell [mailto:abagwell@johnmuircs.com]  
Sent: Tuesday, November 15, 2016 1:56 PM 
To: duanestrawser@gmail.com; evansphelps@gmail.com; davidsparkyparker569@gmail.com; 
info@broadstreetinn.com; Amy Wolfson <Amy.Wolfson@nevadacityca.gov> 
Subject: This Thursday's meeting around the pot ordinance 

 

Dear Nevada City Council and City Planner Members,  

I'm unable to attend the meeting this Thursday: these meetings are in the middle of a work day 

and I'm not able to attend at this time. However, I would like to express my opinion as to the 

placement of Nevada City marijuana dispensaries. My school is devoted to assisting 17-25 year 

olds in finishing their high school diplomas while receiving free vocational training and 

leadership development. These local young men and women did not finish high school with their 

peers, not because they weren't "smart enough", but because they had many complex issues 

occurring in their lives.That list of issues includes the following: 

 Drug (to include marijuana)and alcohol abuse 

 domestic violence 

 poverty 

 multi and inter-generational joblessness 

 homelessness 

 mental illness 

 criminal activity: both felonies and misdemeanors, mostly related to drug use and the 

insatiable need for money 

 and more 

When I interview each incoming, prospective student, (now totaling 130 students), we talk for an 

hour. I ask them directly the following questions: "For you, what were some of the things that 

happened to you that kept you from finishing high school on time?" and subsequently, "If you 

could do it all over again, what might you do differently?".  

 

35% of them say: "I would not start smoking pot." (When I asked "why?" they typically 

say:  "It's where it all started. I went down from there.") 

 

Of that 35%, nearly ALL of them have been felons or are facing felonious charges.  

 

These students are sick of the life of "in  and out" of jail and struggle to stay away from 

marijuana. Besides their own addictions to it and other drug use, it seems to be the source of so 

many other negative effects of their very young lives. Whether they feel like they are "addicted" 

or not, whether they feel like it is "medicine" or "harmful" a large number of them KNOW that it 

was a large contribution for what took them off track in their academics and personal lives when 

they were younger.  

 

Please don't allow these "dispensaries" to be located near schools, transitional housing or drug 

intervention locations. I would like to request that the amount of feet in distance from any of 

these types of venues be at least 1000 ft. It is challenging enough for these young men and 

women to stay clean and away from this lifestyle that they are trying to lay aside.  

 

Attachment 3.10



Thank you for your considerations. I appreciate all that you have before you. 

--  

Anita Bagwell 

Anita Bagwell, Director 

Western Sierra YouthBuild 

12338 McCourtney Road 

Grass Valley, CA  95949 

(530) 272-2643 x203

Attachment 3.11



To: 
Amy Wolfson and the Nevada City Council 
 
Re:  Cannabis Medical Dispenary 
 
To the Nevada City Council, 
 
Greetings from Grace Lutheran Church in Grass Valley, 
 
For over 50 years Grace Lutheran has sat on Ridge road and served Nevada County in a wide variety of 
social outreach projects.  For the last 8 years we have started and established the High School Hangout 
on our property which sits next to NU High School.  We have several members and volunteers in this 
parish from Nevada City and Grass Valley.   
 
In 8 years our program has reached well over 27,000 student visitors in  and has become a regular, 
stable after school program that hundreds of Nevada County parents have relied on for their kids to be 
at once school is finished for the day.  Each week we have parents tell us how thankful they are for the 
safe space we provide for their kids.  We provide free food, drinks, games, tutoring and safe space for 
students at NU to hangout while parents are working and in other situations.  
 
The recent discussions concerning a cannabis dispensary is deeply disturbing to us at Grace and the 
Hangout.  We feel that this dispensary is too close to the school, and to our campus and the thousands 
of visitors we see each year who rely on our safe, drug and alcohol free environment.  We have already 
heard from students and administration about the rampant drug availability on the NU campus through 
edible forms of cannabis.  We are concerned that a dispensary at the proposed location will only 
enhance and promote more of our youth to find forms of cannabis that can be regularly abused.   
 
We are deeply concerned as a congregation formed of people who live, work, and own businesses in 
Nevada County that a cannabis dispensary would be so closely located to our high school and our 
congregation that has so strongly served so many of our youth in our community for the past 8 years.   
Please consider our youth in our community and consider that this dispensary will be more of a 
hinderance than benefit for our community.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
Pastor Kent Schaaf  
 
Deaconess Elizabeth Froh - Hangout Coordinator  
 
Grace Lutheran Church 
 

Attachment 3.12



Comments regarding the proposed City Ordinance: 

 AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 9.22 OF TITLE 9 OF THE NEVADA CITY MUNICIPAL 

CODE ENTITLED “PROHIBITING MEDICAL MARIJUANA DISPENSARIES,” AND RENAMING 

IT “MEDICAL MARIJUANA DISPENSARIES AND OTHER MARIJUANA BUSINESSES AND 

ACTIVITY” AND ADDING CHAPTER 17.142 ENTITLED “MEDICAL MARIJUANA USES AND 

ACTIVITY” TO THE NEVADA CITY MUNICIPAL CODE AND AMENDING CHAPTER 17.48 

ENTITLED “LIGHT INDUSTRIAL ZONE” 

===============  

[1] 

9.22.050. Application for Medical Marijuana Business Permit: Renewal Applications; and 

Effect of Revocation or Suspension of State License.(reads in part) 

 (4) An application for renewal of a medical marijuana business permit shall be 

rejected if any of the following exists: 

========  

WE SUGGEST:  that  (4) read….. renewal of a medical may be rejected… 

“May” gives the city the opportunity to exercise judgement for agreed upon mitigating 

circumstances. 

=========  

(4)(c) The medical marijuana business has not been in regular and continuous 

operation in the four (4) months prior to the renewal application. 

==============  

WE SUGGEST:  a clarification of the term “regular and continuous operation” to exclude 

natural causes for an abatement of regular operations.  

============   

[2] 

9.22.070. Permittee Selection Process. 

B. Prohibition on Transfer of Medical Marijuana Business Permits.  

1. No person may transfer ownership or control of a medical marijuana business or transfer any 

medical marijuana business permit issued under this Chapter.  

===============  

Attachment 3.13



A medical marijuana dispensary is a commercial business. The prohibition of transfer is 

important to the city in its approval process. (a)However, all businesses have changes of 

ownership and on occasion a desire of the owners to exit from the business arises. … and 

(b) In 2018 the existing state law expands to allow for the existing mutual benefit corporations 

to convert to a “for profit” status. At that point, the ‘ownership’ of the mutual benefit 

corporations transfers from the ‘members’ to the principals and ‘investors.’ 

WE SUGGEST:  

It is clear that the transfer of a license to a NEW unrelated entity is undesirable and should only 

be allowed with great scrutiny by the City, however there may be allowable mitigating 

circumstances for exempting or allowing certain transfers. 

There should be a clarification of “change in business” form as an allowable transfer.  

The City should consider a process of approval of a new ownership group. The operations of 

regular businesses call for sales of entities and movements of shareholders. (a 50% trigger is 

often used) 

Also, after there are shareholders or members of the Dispensary, there is often a transfer from 

individual ownership to a “family trust” for estate and probate reasons. This should also be an 

exempt transfer.  

================    

9.22.080. Requirements Before Permittee May Commence Operations 

E. Limitations on City’s Liability. 

(1) They must execute an agreement, in a form approved by the city attorney, agreeing to 

indemnify, defend (at applicant’s sole cost and expense), 

=======  

This clause is virtually impossible to cover for any business. For instance, the City might be 

sued by a citizen for issuing a medical cannabis license. How is that related to the 

dispensary? Does the city even have the right to suggest such a condition? 

WE SUGGEST:  

The City meet with local business counsel to discuss a clause that mitigates the City’s exposure 

for claims arising from the acts of the dispensary only. That type of mitigation clause can be 

insured for by a dispensary.  

=============  

Attachment 3.14



9.22.090. Operating Requirements for Medical Marijuana Dispensaries.  

A. Records and Recordkeeping. 

=========  

The scope of recordkeeping seems to extend exclusively to “cultivated” marijuana products. A 

dispensary will sell medical cannabis and it will sell cannabis derived products – such as a oils, 

salves, and edibles. 

WE SUGGEST:  

That the City expand these clauses to include “and other cannabis related products” 

=============  

B. Security Measures. 

(d) Installing 24-hour security surveillance cameras  ….  and that it is remotely accessible by 

the City Manager or his/her designee(s), and the City’s Police Department, and 

================ 

In consultation with security experts, this clause may cause problems. Access to feedback of 

recorded footage may be a problem. Some cities require access to live footage and have the 

ability to request footage when needed.  

WE SUGGEST:  

The clauses regarding access to security surveillance be reviewed by security experts to insure 

maximum safety by the City and its Policy department, but allow for existing systems within 

the dispensary marketplace. 

===============  

(d) continued: - Video recordings shall be maintained for a minimum of forty-five (45) days, 

and shall be made available to the City Manager or his designee upon request. 

=============  

This requirement requires an enormous amount of storage capacity with storage systems 

costings upwards of and additional $25,000.  

WE SUGGEST:  

The City request 30 days of storage. 

=====================  

Attachment 3.15



9.22.090. Operating Requirements for Medical Marijuana Dispensaries (continued).  

 

(i) Security personnel must be licensed by the State of California Bureau of Security and 

Investigative Services personnel and shall be subject to the prior review and approval of the 

City Manager or his/her designee(s), with such approval not to be unreasonably withheld. 

===============  

We do not understand this second clause - …”prior review and approval of the City 

Manager” – The Security personnel will be appropriately licensed by the State. Requiring 

the City Manager to be involved actually opens the city to any liability should the Security 

personnel fail in any way. 

WE SUGGEST:  

That the second clause in sub paragraph (i) be deleted.  

==================  

(l) Uniformed licensed security personnel shall be employed to monitor site activity, control 

loitering and site access, and to serve as a visual deterrent to unlawful activities. 

==============  

Some of the larger dispensaries are not using “uniformed” security personnel, but rather 

non-uniformed, highly trained security. Uniformed presence within the facility makes the 

environment unfriendly and creates a stigma of illegality for the patients. Other 

dispensaries are reporting no difference in crime, but an uptick in the use of the facilities by 

patients.  

WE SUGGEST:  

That the City remove the requirement that security personnel be uniformed. 

===========  

F. Miscellaneous Operating Requirements. 

(9) Signage and Notices. 

(e) Signage shall not be directly illuminated, internally or externally. No banners, flags, 

billboards or other prohibited signs may be used at any time 

==================  

Attachment 3.16



This makes the operations of the dispensary at night untenable. Clearly the signage must be 

in accordance with the City’s Municipal Code, however, approved signage must be 

illuminated during evening hours, like all other businesses. We assume this does not apply 

to internal signage.  

WE SUGGEST:  

The city modify the signage requirement to be in accordance with existing Municipal code and 

in compliance with Guidelines set forth by the State of California. 

=================  

9.22.090. Operating Requirements for Medical Marijuana Dispensaries. (Continued) 

(f) Holders of medical marijuana business permits agree that, as an express and ongoing 

condition of permit issuance and subsequent renewal, the holder of the permit shall be 

prohibited from advertising any medical marijuana business located in the City of Nevada 

City utilizing a billboard (fixed or mobile), bus shelter, placard, aircraft, or other similar 

forms of advertising, anywhere in the state. This paragraph is not intended to place 

limitations on the ability of a medical marijuana business to advertise in other legally 

authorized forms, including on the internet, in magazines, or in other similar ways. 

==============  

This clause also seems to create a severe limitation on the profitability of a business. Does 

the City have the right to prohibit a Nevada City Business from advertising “anywhere in 

the State.” We assume this is meant to detract from a vision of Nevada City as a marijuana 

‘haven.’ However, it will create a serious detriment to business operations.  

WE SUGGEST:  

That the City Manager be involved with the advertising, by being allowed to “sign-off” on 

proposed ads. This should extend to Nevada City only. A business must allow its customers to 

know of its services. All businesses within Nevada City do so currently.  

=================  

9.22.090. Operating Requirements for Medical Marijuana Dispensaries. (Continued) 

(11) Odor Control. 

(1) an exhaust air filtration system with odor control that prevents internal odors from 

being emitted externally. The dispensary applicant shall provide a statement from the 

exhaust air filtration manufacturer that the system has been designed to achieve the above 

standard based on the specific building size and layout; 

Attachment 3.17



The Manufacturer would likely, not give such a statement of compliance. A local mechanical 

engineer might be able to issue such a statement. 

WE SUGGEST: 

The clause be modified to have a mechanical engineer certify compliance.  

=====================  

9.22.090. Operating Requirements for Medical Marijuana Dispensaries. (Continued) 

(19) All restroom facilities shall remain locked and under the control of management. 

============  

We do not understand why this clause is in the ordinance. In order to enter the facility the 

patient is required to present a valid ID card, only then do they enter the first set of doors. 

Then, they are searched in the Computer and only valid patients may proceed into the 

store. Thus, there is no “outside” use of the restroom facilities.  

WE SUGGEST: 

This clause be dropped and the City allow the dispensary to control the use of its restroom 

facilities.  

===================  

9.22.100 Application of Chapter; Other Legal Duties. 

D. Permit Holder Responsible for Violations.  

The person to whom a permit is issued pursuant to this Chapter shall be responsible for all 

violations of the laws of the State of California or of the regulations and/or the ordinances of 

the City of Nevada City, whether committed by the permittee or any employee or agent of the 

permittee, which violations occur in or about the premises of the medical marijuana business 

whether or not said violations occur within the permit holder’s presence. 

==========  

Certainly the City is trying to achieve something here to mitigate its liabilities. But, this is so far 

reaching that we fail to grasp the intent. “shall be responsible…” is a broad legal term that we 

fail to understand how to interpret it.  

WE SUGGEST: 

The City meet with Legal counsel to further discuss its intent and help craft a reasonable 

ordinance that mitigates the City’s exposure. 

Attachment 3.18



======================  

This concludes our first review of the present ordinance.  

 

Attachment 3.19



Betty H. Beason 

110 Great Oak Court 

Nevada City, CA 95959 

(530) 470-9074 

behopbe@gmail.com 

 

City Council Members 

Nevada City, CA 

 

RE:  Marijuana Dispensaries 

 

Council Members: 

 

I am writing to encourage each one of you vote against establishing any 

medical marijuana dispensaries within the Nevada City limits.   

 

Important questions to address in regard to establishing these dispensaries 

are: 

 How will these dispensaries benefit the majority of NC residents? 

 How will these dispensaries benefit nearby schools? 

 How will these dispensaries benefit nearby churches? 

 How will these dispensaries benefit businesses – nearby and 

otherwise? 

 How will these dispensaries benefit tourism in Nevada City? 

 How will these dispensaries benefit traffic in the area in which they 

are established? 

 

As elected representatives of Nevada City it is incumbent upon each of you 

to exercise the integrity necessary to represent the residents of our town and 

consider the overall affects medical marijuana dispensaries will have on the 

entire county and all the areas raised above. 

 

I encourage you to vote no on allowing any medical marijuana dispensaries 

within Nevada City. 

 

Most sincerely, 

Betty Beason 

 
 

cc: Nevada City Planning Commissioners 

Attachment 3.20



Attachment 3.21



Dear Nevada City Council and City Planner Members,  

I'm unable to attend the meeting this Thursday: these meetings are in the middle of a work day 

and I'm not able to attend at this time. However, I would like to express my opinion as to the 

placement of Nevada City marijuana dispensaries. My school is devoted to assisting 17-25 year 

olds in finishing their high school diplomas while receiving free vocational training and 

leadership development. These local young men and women did not finish high school with their 

peers, not because they weren't "smart enough", but because they had many complex issues 

occurring in their lives.That list of issues includes the following: 

 Drug (to include marijuana) and alcohol abuse 

 domestic violence 

 poverty 

 multi and inter-generational joblessness 

 homelessness 

 mental illness 

 criminal activity: both felonies and misdemeanors, mostly related to drug use and the 

insatiable need for money 

 and more 

When I interview each incoming, prospective student, (now totaling 130 students), we talk for an 

hour. I ask them directly the following questions: "For you, what were some of the things that 

happened to you that kept you from finishing high school on time?" and subsequently, "If you 

could do it all over again, what might you do differently?".  

 

35% of them say: "I would not start smoking pot." (When I asked "why?" they typically 

say:  "It's where it all started. I went down from there.") 

 

Of that 35%, nearly ALL of them have been felons or are facing felonious charges.  

 

These students are sick of the life of "in  and out" of jail and struggle to stay away from 

marijuana. Besides their own addictions to it and other drug use, it seems to be the source of so 

many other negative effects of their very young lives. Whether they feel like they are "addicted" 

or not, whether they feel like it is "medicine" or "harmful" a large number of them KNOW that it 

was a large contribution for what took them off track in their academics and personal lives when 

they were younger.  

 

Please don't allow these "dispensaries" to be located near schools, transitional housing or drug 

intervention locations. I would like to request that the amount of feet in distance from any of 

these types of venues be at least 1000 ft. It is challenging enough for these young men and 

women to stay clean and away from this lifestyle that they are trying to lay aside.  

 

Thank you for your considerations. I appreciate all that you have before you. 

--  

Anita Bagwell 
 

Anita Bagwell, Director 

Attachment 3.22



Western Sierra YouthBuild 

 

* 

 

Date: December 5, 2016 

To: Members of the Nevada City Planning Commission 

From : Dan Prout, Nevada City 

RE: Proposed change in statue re: Medical Marijuana business within Nevada City limits 

Please receive my letter stating my strong opposition to changing the Nevada City Municipal 

Code, Chapter 9.22. 

The health hazards associated with the proliferation of the distribution of marijuana, medical and 

recreational, are widely known and documented. As a progressive community we cannot allow 

the demise of standards which support the health and welfare of not only Nevada City but the 

entirety of western Nevada County and beyond. 

Those truly needing medicinal cannabis can easily obtain same through businesses which are 

more than willing to deliver to any address in the United States. 

Dan Prout 

 

* 

 
I am exceedingly alarmed at the growing acceptance of legalized marijuana. Information regarding the 
very dangerous impact of marijuana has been sadly neglected by the media and ignored by public 
officials who, by their very definition, should be the first to sound the alarm. 
 
Why is marijuana so greatly marginalized?  
 
Over the last many years I have personally seen the devastation to young lives by marijuana addiction. 
The  psychological, emotional, physical and social destruction is absolute, rendering individuals unable 
to provide for themselves or to be responsible for themselves. 
 
Alcohol addiction has been addressed in our society for what it is and cigarettes have been widely 
banned because of the offensive smoke and health risks from second hand smoke. Why is a much more 
deadly and offensive substance neglected? In the last week I have personally been assaulted by heavy 
marijuana smoke at both the McCourtney Rd. Transfer Station and the Boreal Ridge Ski Resort. 
 

Attachment 3.23



In the long run can you define the benefits of more widespread marijuana use in our society? Who 
stands to profit by its use? Who will pay for the consequences of its abuses?  
 
Please do everything you can to make it difficult for marijuana to be obtained within your jurisdiction. 
Please do everything you can to educate your constituents to the dangers of this substance. 
Please, make a stand for life, health and a promising future for the young people of Nevada County. 
 
Karen Johnston 

 

* 

 
Dear Friends, 
Although not a Nevada City citizen, I’ve lived in the county for 45 years, and often visit your gem of a 
city. The smell of marijuana in some areas of downtown is already strong enough to be off-puting, 
especially for my wife, for whom it causes an allergic reaction. 
 
As a 37-year school teacher, I have seen marijuana cause many serious family problems in our county. 
As a friend of other educators, I’ve heard the stories of the huge negative impact its use has upon the 
over-age-18 continuation students. 
 
Anything that makes marijuana easier to obtain in Nevada City will make the city less desirable as a 
visitor destination, and will certainly have a negative impact upon resident continuation students, many 
of whom already struggle with substance abuse. 
 
Thank you for your attention to this issue. 
Bill McQuerry 

 

* 

 

 

Dear Members of the Nevada City Planning Commission, 

I am writing in response to the proposed marijuana dispensary in Nevada City.  First of all, I 

appreciate the effort, thought, and consensus building that the Commission is putting into this 

process.  I write as a one who was raised in Nevada City but who is now a neighbor, as I 

currently live in downtown Grass Valley.  The reality is that Nevada City and Grass Valley are 

both affected by the decisions that each city makes.  We are tied to one another and our lives are 

linked.  My feeling on this matter is that a dispensary will make Nevada City (and by extension 

Grass Valley) more of a magnet for people from the surrounding area who are seeking 

marijuana.  Some will come to receive medicine for treatment, others to feed a habit.  I do not 

oppose people receiving treatment, but I do not see that it will serve the long-term interests of 

our communities to feed habits that can be destructive to our common life.  Perhaps I am 

misguided on this and I remain open to correction, but I do not see the benefit of a dispensary, 

aside from it being a money making enterprise for those who sell and those who reap the 

taxes.  If it is just about the money, then it seems inconsistent as Nevada City, has constantly 

placed the image of the city above the bottom line.   

Thank you so much and please know that you are in my prayers as you make these decisions. 

Sincerely, 

Attachment 3.24



Seth Kellermann 

 

* 

 

I attended the Planning commission special meeting on Dec 1st.  You stated that if we had any 

questions to e-mail them to you.  I tried to give input to two of the project tables, but received the 

same response.  It appeared that the tables were being managed by pro Dispensary people.  Here 

are several questions for you and the planning commission should look at. 

 

   1.  Why are the workshops going forward.  The residents of Nevada City, those with a 3 digit 

address, should vote to see if they want a Dispensary or not before the workshops get 

started.  Many of the people that I talked to live outside the city limits.  They may have a Nevada 

City address, with five digit numbering, but live in the county.  Why do people that do not pay 

property tax or vote for the City Council have a right to dictate that they want a Dispensary in 

our city? 

 

   2.  The property on Railroad Ave. that city council members are looking at is listed as Light 

Industry.  But it has over 100 family residences within 900 feet on the East side of the 

property.  Not a good area around families with small children. 

 

It appeared last night that the Dispensary is a "Done Deal" because members of the City Council 

want it, whether the people living in the city want it or not.  Where is the Democratic process? 

 

* 

 
Dear Nevada City Planning Commission 

I was a teen and resident of many years in Nevada City and regard it as my home town. I think that 

allowing a cannabis dispensary in Nevada City would break some of the long-standing charm that the city 

has had and encourage the kind of crowds and folks hanging around that will be distasteful for the 

beautiful city. Along with the Chamber of Commerce, you have done such a good job of attracting 

tourists to the city and have gained national attention. It would be sad to see that distinction be stained 

by the nasty smell of weed all over town and the kind of folks I wouldn't want to bring my children near. 

Thank you 

Guy Prudhomme 

 

* 

 

Hi Amy and Duane. 

 

You mentioned that the specific proposed sites were on the city web site.  I have looked for a 

while and cannot seem to find them.  I think it is critical to put this information in the newspaper 

so the residents of Nevada City are aware of what is coming to their neighborhood.  I also think 

it is critical for the city to do the equivalent of an EIR to determine, through fact-based research, 

the effect of such a dispensary on neighborhoods.  Can you confirm if either of these things is 

under consideration?  The idea of a dispensary is not the issue.  The location is the issue.  Are we 

considering locating the dispensary in an area that already has a heavy retail element and 

associated security such as the Brunswick basin near one of the drug stores?  What is the rush to 

Attachment 3.25



insert a dispensary into a Nevada City neighborhood?  Nevada City neighborhoods are in crisis 

as we deal with excessive homelessness, loitering, drug and alcohol addiction, and mental health 

problems.  If tax revenue is the motivation, are we considering the affect on quality of life and 

property values for nearby residents (your constituents)?  At the public meeting, it was clear that 

almost all of the supporters in the room did not live in Nevada City city limits.  My hope is for a 

careful and thoughtful process that prioritizes the interests of residents living within the city 

limits who will be affected by the location of a dispensary. 

 

Please be sure my comments are kept anonymous.  Thank you. 
 

 

* 

 

Dear NC Planning Commission 

I am a frequent visitor to Nevada County.  I would like to express my opposition to the 
proposed marijuana dispensary.   
 
I am disappointed to see Nevada City becoming more interested in attracting the 
marijuana business than the tourists business.    
 
I love Nevada County and would like to see it remain the family friendly, tourists friendly, 
community it has always been. I was raised in Grass Valley and love to bring out of 
town friends and family back to visit.  I have always been proud of my home town. 
 
Please consider the negative ramifications this dispensary would have, by impacting 
much more than a short sighted, short term monetary gain.   
 
Marie Lassen 
 

* 

 

I believe the dispensary ordinance in Nevady County should be looked at very carefully and not 

go against any rules already set into place in reference to public health and safety.   

 

So many people have lung disease and should not be close to any odor of any kind.  I can not 

even be close to perfumes of any kind, much less  the smell of marijuana.  

 

Thank you Nevaca County for listening.  Nancy Joan Manuel 

 

* 

 

Hi Mark- 

My name is Ken Currington.  I have been talking to friends in Santa Rosa and Los Angeles 

recently about how the commercial side of  the legal cannabis market and how it is going to roll 

out. My friend David McCallis is a lawyer in LA and spearheading the CACD ( CA Cannabis 

Distribution). He knew of Nevada City and was asking if the farmers and manufacturers were 

Attachment 3.26



going to be able to work with distribution companies like CACD.   

 

It is my understanding that the farmers and manufacturers of oils and edibles need to be in 

compliance with local municipalities and both working toward state licensing.  I have lived in 

Nevada City for the past 5 years and truly love it here and plan on staying.  My concern is that if 

the city does not act promptly to get our cannabis manufacturers in alignment with a protocol for 

legal production they will miss out on distribution opportunities and adversely affect our 

economy. 

 

The way I see it is we already have a thriving workforce in the cannabis industry. What would be 

ideal is that we can regulate those who are negatively affecting the community and support those 

who can be in compliance with state licensing with prompt local legislation. The sooner the 

better as these contracts are beginning to be put into effect.  Ideally, we get proper zoning 

on commercial warehouse space and begin to get regulated and taxed manufacturing 

facilities.  These facilities can be a template of how to safely and harmoniously get cannabis 

supporting our mountain communtiy.   

 

Call or Email anytime Ken  

 

* 

 

Hello Amy, 
I wanted to comment before it's too late.... 
I read that the City prohibits all types of medical cannabis businesses within the City, and explicitly 
bans medical marijuana dispensaries in Chapter 9.22 of the Nevada City Municipal Code.   
 
Please do what ever you can do to CONTINUE TO prohibit the dispensing of medical marijuana in 
the city limits of Nevada City. 
 
Thank you for communicating my voice to the five members of the Nevada City Planning 
Commission. 
 
Diane Kimberly Thompson 
Grass Valley  
 

* 

 

Dear NC Planning Commission,  

 

As business people who work in downtown Nevada City, we would like to express our 

opposition to the proposed marijuana dispensary.  

 

We do not believe that it is in the best interests of our business community, young people, 

tourists, and all others who call Nevada County home.  

 

Attachment 3.27



As  real estate agents and also homeowners with a popular Airbnb property, we hear many 

comments increasingly negative about out-of-towner's experience at local restaurants, shopping, 

and just walking around the downtown area of Nevada City. These comments pertain to the 

trimmigrants and others who are attracted by the marijuana business. While a dispensary may 

bring short term economic gain, we believe it is far far more important to have a long term vision 

for Nevada City and take into account the full range of consequences of locating a marijuana 

dispensary in our town. 

 

We fervently hope that the Planning Commission will take our opinion and those of other 

impacted citizens and business people opposed to the dispensary into account in your decision 

making on this issue.  

 

Sincerely, 

 

Ron and Julie Carrara 

Good & Company Realty 

 

 

* 

 

Hi Amy, I’m copying in a reply I had with City of Grass Valley, just because it covered the 

scope of what I wanted to discuss at this stage. - Luci 

 

Just to sum up our conversation, I’m part of Nevada County Ag, Weights & Measures, and as 

such are concerned with new businesses that would use a measuring or weighing device as part 

of their business.  Per our conversation, I understand that currently marijuana dispensaries are 

not allowed, but may be allowed in the future, and that an ad hoc committee is currently 

discussing this possibility.   

 

I’d like the make the link below available to those folks, as they may find the information 

interesting and help to partially shape any possible ordinance language.  Whether including other 

laws as part of the ordinance, as is currently done with the GV taxi ordinance, which requires a 

certificate of inspection from Weights and Measures, or to leave it out entirely is of course up to 

the city, but I wanted to make the information on scale requirements for businesses, and 

dispensaries in particular, available to you. 

 

https://www.cdfa.ca.gov/dms/pdfs/MedicalCannabisRegulatoryRequirements.pdf 

 

Please let me know if you have any questions. 

 

Luci Wilson 
 

Agricultural Biologist  II 

Nevada County Dept. of Agriculture, Weights & Measures 

530-470-2744 

Attachment 3.28

https://www.cdfa.ca.gov/dms/pdfs/MedicalCannabisRegulatoryRequirements.pdf


* 

To all NC planning commissioners, 

We live on Brock Road in Nevada City. Our concern is that the state requirement for a cannabis 
dispensary is only a minimum 600 feet distance from schools. If you look at the zoning map for the 
Seven Hills business district, you will see at least 8 schools within that area - Deer Creek; 7 
Hills; Forest Charter; Sierra Christian School; Nevada City Charter School; Nevada County 
Special Education; Son-shine Pre-school; Little Friends Child Development. If a cannabis 
dispensary is located anywhere in the 7 Hills area, many children would be exposed to it. In addition, 
traffic (automobile, bikes & foot) is already very congested and would be worse with a dispensary. 

To avoid all these problems, we suggest you adopt a stronger requirement for cannabis dispensaries 
in Nevada City limits. We would recommend at least a 2,000 distance between a dispensary 
and any school in Nevada City. That would insure our children and town are safer. 

If you are not familiar with the Seven Hills area, we suggest you walk around it, when school is out, 
to see how many children use this area. 

Dick & Lynne Dirga 
Nevada City 

* 

I wish to offer my firm support for two dispensaries.  I do not use marijuana (I prefer a good 

Zinfandel) but know several instances where this does provide an important medicinal value.  As 

it is legal now for social use as well, it will certainly be available to anyone with the intent to do 

so in other areas.  Why not capture the sorely needed tax revenue for our city?   

Mark Warner, CPA 

Treasurer - Miners Foundry 

Nevada City  

* 

Dear Ms. Wolfson: 

Please forward this to the Nevada City Planning Commission members for their consideration. 

I am asking that the Nevada City Planning Commission please continue to support the existing 

City prohibition of all types of medical cannabis businesses within the City. Specifically, I ask 

that the commission support the ban of medical marijuana dispensaries contained in Chapter 9.22 

of the Nevada City Municipal Code. 

I trust my request is clear, even in the event that I have not properly cited the Code. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Attachment 3.29



Ron Coley 

 

 
* 
 
I object to the city allowing a marijuana dispensary in my Nevada County community. 
 
Kathleen S. Prout 
 

 

* 

 

Dear NC Planning Commission,  

I work for a business on Broad Street in Nevada City.  I’m opposed to having a marijuana 

dispensary here. 

 As  someone who works downtown I hear many complaints from tourist, a well as locals, about 

the homeless situation. Bonanza Market has become a magnet for drunks intimidating passer-bys 

for money. Or worse yet, fighting in public. Our parking lot on Commercial has become 

dangerous and filled with drunk people hanging out at all hours.  

 A dispensary will only add to the problem with those attracted by the marijuana business. 

Please do not locate a marijuana dispensary in our town. 

 It’s not right for our businesses, tourists, or our youth. 

 If the dispensary is actually about access to medicine, allow it by the hospital. 

 Sincerely, 

Suzanne Potampa 

* 

Attention Amy Wolfson,  

 

Thank you for the opportunity to respond to the Medical Cannabis Dispensary Ordinance.  I was 

diagnosed with multiple Myeloma (bone marrow cancer) mid October, 2016.  Since beginning 

radiation and chemotherapy I have researched  the use of cannabis to offset the side effects of the 

dangerous drugs I take to try and achieve remission.  I have experienced great relief of side 

effects from some cannabis products after I obtained my medical marijuana card.  I am also 

aware that many components of the cannabis may be assisting my process of remission.  The 

problem I, and many others have, is access to the cannabis products that help me.  I need a local 

dispensary that has people to consult with and see quality and content of products.  The option of 

mail-order and online ordering is not conducive to confidence in quality and content of cannabis 

products.   

Attachment 3.30



 

I appreciate so much the effort that our county residents and the Board have made toward 

progress for a local dispensary.  I understand location is a controversial topic, however I hope 

this  does not unduly delay approval for a local dispensary since myself and many others have 

legitimate need for local medical cannabis products as soon as possible.  

 

William Hall, resident of Grass Valley, CA  for 30 years 

* 

Hi Amy, 
My husband and I attended the forum at City Hall yesterday to discuss ordinance restrictions 
should a marijuana dispensary be allowed to open in Nevada City.    I had several observations 
and some comments that I would like to share with you and the Planning Commission as you go 
forward with your recommendations to the City Council. 
 
My first observation was that, based upon your "hands up" survey, there appeared to be quite 
a few more attendees that were opposed to a dispensary within the city limits than those in 
favor, that were actually residents of Nevada City  (somewhere around 17 opposed altogether 
and 10 in favor).   The remaining attendees indicated they were either from the County, 
outlying areas, or just there to observe.   I think that is an important distinction, as those who 
live in the city itself, and along the immediate boundaries would be the most 
impacted.   Although we do not live within the city limits, our residence would be within less 
than 2 miles of one of the potential locations that was discussed in one of our small groups. 
 
During one of the group discussions, a number of people indicated that a restriction of at least 
a mile from schools, daycare, etc should apply.   We were told that was not possible within city 
limits.    Perhaps the fact that there are no appropriate locations that are more than a mile from 
where our children congregate on a daily basis is an indication that Nevada City itself is not an 
appropriate venue for a marijuana dispensary. 
 
I'd also like to point out that in the small forums I participated in, the advocates for a dispensary 
absolutely dominated the discussions.    They held the pens and wrote many comments, 
precluding others from doing the same.   At one point I obtained a pen directly from you and 
took a separate sheet of paper, as that was the only way to be able to write down any 
alternative ideas, comments, questions, or suggestions.   In one of the small groups, a woman 
had many legitimate comments and questions and one of the advocates for a dispensary in the 
group actually told her that she should just move on to another group because she was taking 
space and time from the others.    I am pointing this out because I feel that when you review 
the worksheets that were completed by the small groups, you are going to see many 
recommendations for LESS restrictions, less background checks, less security, than was actually 
the feeling of many of the participants. 
 

Attachment 3.31



I am one of the citizens who oppose a dispensary in our town altogether.   I have seen 
photographs of the types of items available for sale in dispensaries in other counties.   Many of 
these items are designed very specifically to look like candy or soda pop or other items that 
would draw the attention of our youth.   For example, I have seen "ring pops" - and I've never 
seen an adult wearing and eating a candy "ring pop" - that is purely a draw for children.     I 
believe that a dispensary would be a target for theft, regardless of the security measures taken. 
 
he fact that we are treating medicinal marijuana differently from any other pharmaceutical is 
quite telling.    Millions of people in the US are diabetic and require insulin.   They don't go to an 
"insulin dispensary" to acquire the medicine they need - they go to a pharmacist who prepares 
exactly the correct dosage needed for maximum safety and effectiveness.    If marijuana is 
determined to be an effective medication for certain ailments, then why would it not be 
produced in specific strengths with specific ingredients that have been proven safe and 
effective, and dispensed to patients with legitimate prescriptions in the same manner as insulin 
or any other drug?  Since you indicated that at this point Nevada City is only considering a 
dispensary for medicinal purposes and not recreational, then why not treat this drug like any 
other pharmaceutical? 
 
One other consideration is that both medicinal marijuana and recreational marijuana remain 
illegal pursuant to federal law.   Regardless of what the State of California has determined, 
federal law still stands and will not likely change in our lifetime.   In the past, the federal 
government has chosen to turn a blind eye to marijuana usage that complies with state and 
local ordinances.    That policy may continue into the future - on the other hand, it may 
not.    Should the Federal government, under new leadership, make a choice to enforce federal 
laws - would our city government run into legal difficulties because they allowed and licensed a 
business that breaches those laws?    Could there be financial penalties to the city itself?   I 
don't know the answer to those questions, but they do give me pause. 
 
Thank you for facilitating this forum last night.   I know that this topic will continue to provide 
very spirited discussion on both sides of the issue and I don't envy those of you in our city 
government and planning who have to make the ultimate decision.   
 
Terry McLaughlin 
Nevada City 

* 

To Whom It May Concern: 
 
I am opposed to a marijuana dispensary in Nevada County especially in Nevada City. Please do not 
support this in any fashion. I see many serious problems associated with such a move. 
 
Thank you for considering my objection. 
 
Margaret McQuerry 

Attachment 3.32



* 

To Whom It May Concern, 

I have been a citizen of Nevada City/Grass Valley for the past 12 years. Having had the 

opportunity to work with the citizens of this community I am familiar with the dynamics of 

family, children and even the elderly within our amazing community.  

I am deeply concern for any type of ordinance that would allow a Marijuana Dispensary 

Ordinance in Nevada City that would change our current statute prohibiting medicinal marijuana 

business within the city limits.   

Changing our current ordinance would only increase the exposure of our youth, family and 

community to the introduction of drug use, which would in turn open a door to many greater 

issues.  

I have the privilege to work with an addiction recovery program that has 80% success rate and 

marijuana is the introductory drug.  As our elected leaders, please help protect our community.  

Cindy Johnson  

 

* 

Hi all, please find attached our office's HIPPA and CMIA memo which is focused on the 

cultivation context, so it may not be entirely relevant.  Also, it does not touch on the issue of 

whether HIPPA can apply to cannabis considering its federal Schedule I designation, but I'm 

super interested on that issue now, so I also am going to look a little further into that myself in 

the next few days. I thought I'd go ahead and send it in case there was anything helpful for now. 

:-)   

 

Also, the section in AB 266 re patient privacy is BP 19355, which I copied in italics below.  It 

looks like only patient names and medical conditions are expressly excluded from CPRA 

requests, and even that seems to be disclosable where necessary for the City to perform its 

duties.  I'm not sure security camera footage would apply in the first instance, and, even if it did, 

I suppose it could be considered to be reasonably  necessary for the City's function as the 

permitting agency.  Still, I'm guessing the knowledge that video of the patients' comings and 

goings could be subject to simple CPRA requests might be a real buzzkill for the dispensary (and 

thus reduce the City's tax revenue), so perhaps we can informally modify our comment on this 

Attachment 3.33



issue to request that such video be considered not subject to CPRA requests under the general 

CPRA provision for exemptions (Cal. Govt. Code 6254 (c)) as personal, medical or "similar" 

information?    

 

Thank you!  ~hb  

 

 

Article  15. Privacy  

 

19355. (a) Information identifying the names of patients, their medical conditions, or the names 

of their primary caregivers received and contained in records kept by the office or licensing 

authorities for the purposes of administering this chapter are confidential and shall not be 

disclosed pursuant to the California Public Records Act (Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 

6250) of Division 7 of Title 1 of the Government Code), except as necessary for authorized 

employees of the State of California or any city, county, or city and county to perform official 

duties pursuant to this chapter, or a local ordinance.  

 

(b) Information identifying the names of patients, their medical conditions, or the names of their 

primary caregivers received and contained in records kept by the bureau for the purposes of 

administering this chapter shall be maintained in accordance with Chapter 1 (commencing with 

Section 123100) of Part 1 of Division 106 of the Health and Safety Code, Part 2.6 (commencing 

with Section 56) of Division 1 of the Civil Code, and other state and federal laws relating to 

confidential patient information.  

 

(c) Nothing in this section precludes the following:  

 

(1) Employees of the bureau or any licensing authorities notifying state or local agencies about 

information submitted to the agency that the employee suspects is falsified or fraudulent.  

(2) Notifications from the bureau or any licensing authorities to state or local agencies about 

apparent violations of this chapter or applicable local ordinance.  

(3) Verification of requests by state or local agencies to confirm licenses and certificates issued 

by the regulatory authorities or other state agency.  

(4) Provision of information requested pursuant to a court order or subpoena issued by a court 

or an administrative agency or local governing body authorized by law to issue subpoenas.  

 

(d) Information shall not be disclosed by any state or local agency beyond what is necessary to 

achieve the goals of a specific investigation, notification, or the parameters of a specific court 

order or subpoena. 

 

(https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201520160AB266) 

 

 

Sincerely,  

Heather L. Burke 

 

Attachment 3.34

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201520160AB266


* 

 

Our family is NOT in favor a dispensary in Nevada County. 

Medical reasons do no convince us it will be a good thing for anyone. 

If it is truly a medical situation, it should be handled by a professional 

doctor like any other medical prescription. 

We've all seen what marijuana can do to a community.  Colorado is one 

example. Main stream media won't tell about their ER hospital problems 

with kids under the influence.  DUI  will be worse. Kids under this drug 

will be less inclined to want to learn...it effects the natural reason to be 

sober....'reason' is disabled ... getting high is the goal.  Medical marijuana 

will be a disaster to this community.  BIG MONEY  is the very first motive. 

Please don't let this happen to NC.    

Respectfully, Mr. & Mrs Raymond D. Rutter...Grass Valley 

 

* 

Dear City Council Members, 
     I want to begin by thanking each of you for your service to our community by being on the City 
Council.  I know you put in countless hours and a great deal of effort into making our community what it 
is. 
You probably don’t receive the thanks you deserve for all you do.  Please know that I am truly grateful 
for your service. 
     As a Nevada City resident I am very concerned about the proposed medical marijuana dispensary.  
My primary concern is its proximity to the school at Sierra Presbyterian Church and the continuation 
school.  Secondary concerns include the increase in crime that accompanies these dispensaries which 
leads to a burden on our local sheriff’s department as well as potentially lowering tourism and 
home/property values due to the crime concern.   I am aware that some believe that legalizing 
marijuana would increase revenue for the county.  I think if you research this in depth you will find that 

Attachment 3.35



increase in crime leading to the need for more law enforcement plus the fact that the money earned 
from Federally illegal drugs can not be deposited in an FDIC insured bank means that money won’t really 
benefit our community.   
     I urge you to please vote NO on the medical marijuana dispensary.  Thank you for considering my 
views. 
Julie Bousfield, RN 
Nevada City resident and registered voter 
 

* 

Amy, 

Attached you will find my written input that I previously passed on at the meeting of the Planning 

Commission on November 27th.  While I have concerns about the impact of a Medicinal Marijuana 

dispensary upon the community in general, my primary concern is that the chosen location be away from 

schools, churches, day cares, preschools and libraries so that children in the community are not negatively 

impacted.  As a number of counties have done,I encourage the planning commission to increase the 

distance requirement to at least 1,000 feet, if not double it to 1,200 ft.  Part of my rational is that one of 

the proposed locations at 440 Lower Grass Valley Rd. is just over 1,000 ft. from our church and its' 

Preschool.  In fact, while it may fit the 600 ft. distance requirement, within 1,200 ft. you will find a 

Preschool, Daycare, Library and two schools.  Please consider doubling the distance requirement so that 

these institutions are not negatively effected. 

Sincerely, Mike Griffin 

Pastor, Sierra Presbyterian Church 
 

* 

Dear Amy, 

I am for the dispensary. I have cancer and need a reliable local place to receive the cannabis that 

can treat my cancer. I see  

No problem for the placement of the dispensary. I pick up what I need and would leave. I own a 

local business for 30 years and  

Don’t see where placement is an issue.  

Sincerely, 

Ms. B. Young 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 3.36



 

 
1

RESEARCH MEMORANDUM 
 
To:  HLB 
From: LM 
Re:  HIPAA Memo 
Date:  September 13, 2016 
 
  Research Query: Determine whether posting medical marijuana (MMJ) 
recommendations at a collective or cooperative cannabis garden violates federal HIPAA rules.  
 
 Summary Answer:  It is unlikely that posting MMJ recommendations at a collective or 
cooperative cannabis garden violates federal HIPAA rules, since (1) the amount of protected 
health information contained in the recommendations is minimal and (2) since HIPAA does not 
prevent law enforcement officials from gaining access to such information in certain 
circumstances. Additionally, if a collective or cooperative cannabis garden obtains a patient’s 
consent to post the recommendation, there is no violation. 
 
 Authority: 
 

 HIPAA: The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA), Pub. 
L. No. 104-191, 110 Stat. 1936l, includes a "Privacy Rule," codified at 45 C.F.R. §§ 
160 and 164. See, R. K. v. St. Mary's Med. Ctr., Inc., 229 W. Va. 712 (2012); Also, the 
CMIA: Confidentiality of Medical Information Act (CMIA), Stats. 1981, c. 782, section 
2, codified at Cal. Civ. Code §§56 – 56.37 (2012). 
 

 U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, Health Information Privacy (HIPAA 
information database), available at http://www.hhs.gov/hipaa (9/13/2016). 

 
 California Department of Public Health, Medical Marijuana Identification Card 

Program, available at http://www.cdph.ca.gov/programs/mmp/pages/default.aspx. 
 

 State of California Office of Health Information Integrity (a division of California Health 
& Human Services Agency), Federal and State Health Laws, available at 
http://www.chhs.ca.gov/OHII/Pages/StateandFederalHIPAALaws.aspx (9/13/2016). 

 

Attachment 3.37



 

 
2

 American Civil Liberties Union, FAQ on Government Access to Medical Records, 
available at www.aclu.org/faq-government-access-medical-records (9/13/2016). 

 

 Privacy Rights Clearinghouse, California Medical Privacy Fact Sheet C1: Medical 
Privacy Basics for Californians, available at https://www.privacyrights.org/fs/fsC1/CA-
medical-privacy-basics (Last updated 2012).  

 
 Privacy Rights Clearinghouse, California Medical Privacy Fact Sheet C2: How is Your 

Medical Information Used and Disclosed—With and Without Consent?, available at 
https://www.privacyrights.org/fs/fsC2/CA-medical-uses-disclosures (Last updated 2012). 

 
 Alex Topchishvili, The Future of Medical Marijuana is HIPAA Compliant, Potbotics, 

Aug. 28, 2015. 
 

Detailed Answer: Two main questions form the basis of this inquiry. First, do MMJ 
recommendations contain information that is protected by HIPAA? Second, are collectives or 
cooperative cannabis garden sites considered “covered entities” under HIPAA? 

 
The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) protects the 

privacy of personal medical information. Specifically, the HIPAA “Privacy Rule” prevents the 
unauthorized disclosure of “protected health information” (PHI), which is individually 
identifiable health information that is transmitted or maintained electronically or via any other 
medium. This PHI typically contains unique identifiers such as a person’s name, demographic 
information, known medical conditions, and may also contain billing or financial information as 
well as any information the patient has provided about family members.1  

 
HIPAA applies to “covered entities” and “business associates” of covered entities. 

Covered entities include (1) health care providers such as doctors, clinics, nursing homes, 
pharmacies, dentists, chiropractors, and psychologists; (2) health plans, which include health 
insurance companies, HMOs, company-provided health plans, and government programs that 
pay for healthcare such as Medicare and military/veterans programs; and (3) healthcare 
clearinghouses.2 However, health care providers (mentioned above) are only considered a 
“covered entity” if they transmit or store patient information in electronic form in connection 
with a covered transaction.3 “Business associates” in the HIPAA context includes any entity that 
has a working relationship with a covered entity whereby the business associate provides a 
service (management, administrative, legal, or otherwise) for the covered entity and in doing so 

                                                 
1 U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, Summary of the HIPAA Privacy Rule, available at 
http://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for-professionals/privacy/laws-regulations/index.html.   
2 45 C.F.R. §160.103. See also U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, Covered Entities and Business 
Associates, available at http://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for-professionals/covered-entities/index.html. 
3 U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, Covered Entities and Business Associates, available at 
http://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for-professionals/covered-entities/index.html. 

Attachment 3.38



 

 
3

is exposed to patient medical information.4 A covered entity may also be a business associate of 
another covered entity.5 

 
Under HIPAA, covered entities must notify clients of their privacy practices and how 

PHI will be used and disclosed. However, there are certain instances when PHI may be used or 
disclosed without authorization, including when the disclosure is required by law; when 
disclosure is needed to serve public health activities and purposes; during domestic violence or 
child abuse investigations; for purposes of health oversight activities (i.e., audits; civil, civil, or 
administrative investigations; licensing inspections or actions, etc.); judicial and administrative 
proceedings; and a range of law enforcement purposes, including investigating a crime.6 

 
As a federal law, HIPAA establishes a floor rather than a ceiling, and therefore does not 

preempt more stringent state privacy regulations regarding personal medical information, unless 
it would be impossible to comply with both.7 California has enacted the Confidentiality of 
Medical Information Act (CMIA), which is more protective than HIPAA in certain 
circumstances. For example, the CMIA requires a separate signed authorization form in order to 
disclose information considered to be particularly “sensitive,” such as records relating to 
treatment for sexually-transmitted diseases.8 Like HIPAA, there is a broad exception to this rule 
for law enforcement activities.9 This memo focuses specifically on HIPAA and not CMIA. 

 
Having discussed the definitions of “protected health information” and “covered entity,” 

it must be determined whether MMJ recommendations contain PHI and whether collective 
gardens are covered entities or business associates to which HIPAA would apply. If so, it must 
be determined (1) whether posting the recommendations constitutes a violation and (2) what 
measures can be taken to avoid violating HIPAA. 

 
California MMJ recommendations do not contain a patient’s full medical file. Typically, 

they contain only the patient’s name and signature, as well as information about the 
recommending physician. For patients participating in California’s optional Medical Marijuana 
Identification Program (MMIP), the county-issued card contains no personal information other 
than the patient’s name and photograph, as well as a unique user ID number. Although MMJ 
recommendations lack the same level of PHI that other records do, since they contain the 
patient’s name and relate to an assessment of health, and since this information is stored in 

                                                 
4 Id.  
5 45 C.F.R. §160.103. 
6 45 C.F.R. §164.512. 
7 American Civil Liberties Union, FAQ on Government Access to Medical Records. See also R. K. v. St. Mary's 
Med. Ctr., Inc., 229 W. Va. 712 (2012). 
8 Privacy Rights Clearinghouse, California Medical Privacy Fact Sheet C1: Medical Privacy Basics for 
Californians (2002), https://www.privacyrights.org/fs/fsC1/CA-medical-privacy-basics.  
9 Cal Civ. Code §56.10. See also Privacy Rights Clearinghouse, California Medical Privacy Fact Sheet C2: How is 
Your Medical Information Used and Disclosed—With and Without Consent? (2012), 
https://www.privacyrights.org/fs/fsC2/CA-medical-uses-disclosures.  

Attachment 3.39



 

 
4

verification databases and recorded on paper, a court would likely consider a recommendation to 
be PHI under HIPAA.10 

 
The next question is whether collective gardens are covered entities or business 

associates of a covered entity as defined by HIPAA. As stated above, covered entities include 
health care providers, health plans, and healthcare clearinghouses. The only of these categories 
that a collective garden might reasonably fit into is “health care providers,” and even that is a 
stretch, since the collective gardens are not providing health care services the way that doctors, 
clinics, or even pharmacies do.11 However, collective gardens could be classified as “business 
associates,” since they perform functions that require the use and maintenance of PHI contained 
in the MMJ recommendations.12 Business associates may enter into contractual agreements 
with covered entities in which they promise to respect the confidentiality of PHI.13 While there 
is a lack of precedent indicating whether collective gardens would be considered covered entities 
or business associates of covered entities, an argument can be made that they are, in which case 
HIPAA would apply. 

 
Since it is likely that a MMJ recommendation contains PHI and possible that a collective 

garden is either a covered entity or business associate, a HIPAA violation is possible. However, 
HIPAA protects against unauthorized disclosure, meaning that PHI can be shared with other 
entities with the patient’s consent. If patients authorize for their MMJ recommendations to be 
displayed, there is likely no violation since there is no unauthorized disclosure. Additionally, 
there are circumstances (mainly law enforcement related) where PHI can be obtained by the 
government even without a patient’s authorization. Collective gardens should notify patients of 
the government’s power to obtain this information for law enforcement, administrative, and 
health oversight purposes.14 Such a notice can be vague and may be displayed on-site or 
delivered by hand or email to the patients whose PHI is being stored by the collective garden.15 
Thus, if collective gardens choose to post MMJ recommendations, they should do so in a 
location that is not easily accessible to the public so as to limit any unintended disclosure of 
patient’s personal information, but in a location that law enforcement could access if necessary. 

 
 
  

END OF MEMO. 
                                                 
10 46 C.F.R. §160.103 
11 Under HIPAA, “the term ‘provider of services’ means a hospital, critical access hospital, skilled nursing facility, 
comprehensive outpatient rehabilitation facility, home health agency, hospice program, or…a fund.” 42 U.S.C. § 
1395(u). 
12 U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, Business Associates, available at http://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for-
professionals/privacy/guidance/business-associates/index.html. 
13 U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, Business Associate Contracts: Sample Business Associate 
Agreement Provisions (2013), http://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for-professionals/covered-entities/sample-business-
associate-agreement-provisions/index.html. 
14 46 C.F.R. §164.512 
15 American Civil Liberties Union, FAQ on Government Access to Medical Records, available at 
www.aclu.org/faq-government-access-medical-records. 

Attachment 3.40



December 9, 2016 
 
To the Nevada City City Council 
317 Broad Street 
Nevada City, CA 95959 
 
Mayor Evans Phelps 
Vice Mayor Duane Strawser 
Council Member David Parker 
Council Member Valerie Moberg 
Council Member Reinette Senum 
City Manager Mark Prestwich 
City Planner Amy Wolfson 
City Police Chief Tim Foley 
City Attorney Hal Degraw 
Members of the Nevada City Planning 
Commission 
 
RE: DRAFT ORDINANCE RECOMMENDATIONS FOR A MEDICAL CANNABIS 
DISPENSARY 
 
As a leading voice in the advocacy of a safe and responsible cannabis industry that works to 
develop and implement solutions in regards to public safety, environmental impact, and other 
community concerns, the Nevada County Cannabis Alliance would like to thank Nevada City for 
its thoughtful and inclusive consideration of a medical cannabis dispensary. 
 
We are excited to bring our expertise and resources both locally and from our statewide 
partners, the California Growers Association, to work with all stakeholders to develop an 
ordinance that will best serve the interests of Nevada City. We’ve worked with your colleagues 
and various interest groups throughout the community to facilitate the exchange of information 
to develop sound public policy, and we appreciate your thoughtful consideration of our 
recommendations. 
 
Although there has been no decision to grant a dispensary license, we believe that the City 
Council is justified in moving forward with developing a cannabis friendly ordinance in light of 
the election results of Measure W in the June primary election, and Proposition 64 in the 
November general election. Measure W asked the county whether or not they should ban the 
cultivation and other commercial cannabis activities, according to the precinct report CP09 
representing Nevada City proper the vote was 74.76% against a ban. In regards to Prop 64 the 
precinct voted 64.69% in favor of legalizing the adult use of cannabis. These election results 
show overwhelming favor for a regulated cannabis industry by the citizens of Nevada City. 
 

Attachment 3.41



The Cannabis Alliance sees the introduction of a dispensary as a critical milestone in 
transitioning the industry from its wild west past to a future of legitimacy, where those in the 
cannabis industry can contribute in a responsible and positive way to the greater community.  
With a dispensary, we establish the anchoring component of a track-and-trace supply chain, 
where product can be moved from its place of production, distribution and retail providing 
transactions that are transparent and accountable. With this legitimate business model, we 
address issues of diversion to both the black market and to our youth, thereby improving public 
safety, and decreasing youth access. 
 
We appreciate Nevada City for its proactive approach in tackling this difficult issue and creating 
an opportunity to address many of the negative impacts that come from an unregulated 
cannabis industry.  
 
We would also like to acknowledge the City for its professionalism and inclusiveness in its 
process, and we look forward to working together in developing solutions that are best for the 
whole community. 
 
Respectfully, 
 
 
 
Diana Gamzon,  
Director of the Nevada County Cannabis Alliance 
 
 
Jonathan Collier,  
Executive Committee of the Nevada County Cannabis Alliance 
Board of Director of the California Growers Association 
 
 
Mark Schaefer, 
Executive Committee of the Nevada County Cannabis Alliance 
Board of Director of the California Growers Association 
 
 
 
 
  

Attachment 3.42



NEVADA COUNTY CANNABIS ALLIANCE PRINCIPLES  
 
Public Participation 
 
Nevada City has already demonstrated a strong willingness to listen to its citizens providing 
multiple forums, ample time for public input, and actively providing public notification through its 
own media as well as local newspapers.  
 
The challenge of the City to be open to comment from those within its jurisdictions and from 
others who live in the county, but identify with Nevada City as place of work, recreation, and as 
a community center, which is why we suggest the City continue to be open to input from the 
greater community. However, it should place emphasis on the concerns of those who live within 
its jurisdiction and find ways to reach out to them specifically, possibly through surveys or 
door-to-door polling. 
 
A Fair and Clear Process 
 
We encourage the City to continue to provide a fair and clear process in the selection process of 
a dispensary, as it has been doing with the ordinance development.  
 
As a trade organization and advocacy group, we promote for the welfare of the industry in 
general as well as for the greater good of the community. We do not advocate for any single or 
particular business interest, we would like to see a level playing field and fair opportunity for all. 
 
It is our duty to provide resources and education to our members, as well as those in decision 
making positions. At the end of the day, we trust the City will do what it sees best for its 
constituents. 
 
 
ORDINANCE ACTION PRIORITIES 
 
ITEM #1:  Proper Terminology 

1.) Please replace all instances of the term “marijuana” with “cannabis”. With the passage of 
SB 837 “cannabis” is now the official terminology as defined by the State. 

 
ITEM #2:  Cap on Dispensary Numbers (9.22.040) 

1.) Capping the amount of dispensary numbers is usually unnecessary. Between zoning, 
setbacks and property ownership/leasing market forces naturally limit the number of 
possibilities, especially in a City our size.  

2.) With only one dispensary we risk a monopoly and potential price fixing. Higher prices 
encourage participation in the black market and perpetuates these impacts. 

 
ITEM #3:  Setbacks (17.142.030) 

Attachment 3.43



1.) 600 ft from schools K-12 is required by state law, the inclusion of pre-schools, and 
transitional kindergartens is not required.  

 
ITEM #4:  Zoning (17.142.030) 

1.)  Increase zoning availability to include commercial districts. The dispensary business 
model is a retail model. However, exceptions could be made for sensitive areas such as 
the Historic District.  

2.) Isolated areas with discrete visibility actually have the effect of encouraging attention 
from criminal elements. Higher visibility with more public traffic discourages criminal 
activity because of increased scrutiny. 

 
ITEM #5:  Prohibition of Other Medical Business License Types (17.142.040) 

1.) Remove the prohibition of all other MCRSA license types. In creating a transparent and 
accountable supply chain that will decrease diversion and unregulated activity it is 
important for the other license types to be considered. 

2.) Many of these other license types such as laboratories, distribution, and manufacturing 
take significant planning and investment to establish, prohibiting them may discourage 
these vital businesses from operating in the area. 

 
ITEM #6:  Hiring Employee Process (9.22.030) 

1.) The employee work permit program and screening is unusually stringent for all 
employees. This level of scrutiny is appropriate for owners and managers. It is in the 
best interest of the business to hire the most professional staff as they are incentivized 
not to take risks that will result in them losing their permit.  

2.) A 90-day window for City staff to review each individual employee application, conduct 
background checks, and contact previous employers. This will not only create undue 
workload on city staff, but a burden on the employer’s ability to retain potential qualified 
applicants interested in the job. 

 
ITEM #7:  On-Site Consumption (9.22.070)  

1.) We would ask the City consider the spectrum of on-site consumption, it may be 
reasonable to allow one or more of these methods: 

a.) Prohibition of Consumption : No on-site consumption. 
b.) Consumption for Testing : the ability for staff to test products for efficacy. 
c.) Consumption for Demonstration : being able to show patients who are unfamiliar 

with various products how to safely and appropriately consume product. 
d.) Consumption in Conjunction with Therapy : the ability to use cannabis in 

conjunction with another therapy such as massage or yoga offered by the 
dispensary. 

e.) On-Site Consumption : the creation of a space for patients to safely consume 
cannabis in private. 

 
ITEM #8:  Clear Guidelines to Advertising (9.22.070) 

Attachment 3.44



1.) Although we don’t disagree with specific advertising restrictions for our count, we would 
like to note this is somewhat unprecedented throughout the state. 

2.) The language is very vague in regards to “other forms of similar advertising” and “in 
other legally authorized forms” we recommend clearly designating what is off limits and 
what is not. 

  
 
 
APPLICATION PROCESS PRIORITIES 
 
ITEM #1:  Application Fees (9.22.050) 

1.) Application fees should adhere to Prop 26. 
2.) Include a phased fee structure. Each phase in the application process has fees 

associated with that phase, and as applicants pass each phase they pay the associated 
cost. 

 
ITEM #2:  Selection Criteria (9.22.050) 

1.) We encourage the city to provide a fair and clear process and to publish the criteria in 
advance, and to weigh the criteria in a way that reflects local values. 

2.) Although we haven’t taken an official poll of our constituency several consistent themes 
have emerged from our interactions with our members and with the greater public: 

a.) Qualification of Owner/Operators : Local ownership–applicants demonstrate 55% 
or more of ownership is tied to Nevada County residents. 

b.) Community Benefit : should show specific ways to support local philanthropic 
causes. 

c.) Local Enterprise Growth : Local sourcing–a percentage of products should be 
sourced locally. 

 
1. We encourage the city to provide a “fair and clear process”  to publish the criteria in 

advance, and weigh the criteria in a way that reflects local values. For example: 
a. What are the local philanthropic efforts? A license holder with a local 

philanthropic program can help underfunded nonprofits carry out much needed 
social programs, as well as create a sense of community values for their 
customers as well as the community at large. 

b. Recommend at least 55 percent of local sourcing of products. (majority) 
c. Demonstrate ties to Nevada County: A minimum 55 percent Nevada County 

resident ownership. This will create opportunities for local residents to participate 
in the local, legal cannabis economy and create jobs for existing residents. 

 
 
OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 
ITEM #1: Tax Initiative 

Attachment 3.45



1.) We are supportive of a voter authorized tax initiative that would generate extra revenue 
for the city.  

2.) A portion of these taxes would be dispersed to the general fund and distributed 
appropriately by the city. 

3.) In our efforts of coalition building with many local nonprofits and community 
organizations we would also like to see a fund set up to benefit social and environmental 
programs that address important local issues. 

Attachment 3.46



Attachment 3.47



Attachment 3.48



Attachment 3.49



Attachment 3.50



Attachment 3.51



Attachment 3.52



Attachment 3.53



 1 

HEATHER L. BURKE 
Attorney 

__________________ 
Law Office of Heather L. Burke 

230 Main Street, 2nd Floor 
Nevada City, CA 95959  

             Telephone: (530) 470-8509 
Email: hburkelegal@gmail.com 

Paralegal: Sarah Smale 

 

December 6, 2016 

City of Nevada City 

317 Broad Street (City Hall)  

Nevada City, CA 95959 

Via electronic mail to amy.wolfson@nevadacity.ca.gov; cvh@jones-mayer.com 

  

Re:  Comments re Draft Cannabis Dispensary Ordinance (Nov. 17, 2016 draft)  

 

To:   Amy Wolfson, City Planner  

 City of Nevada City  

 

 Mark Prestwich, City Manager 

 City of Nevada City (Via U.S. Mail)  

 

 Crystal Hodgson, City Attorney 

 Jones & Mayer, Law Firm   

 

Esteemed Members of the Nevada City Government:  

 

I and my esteemed colleague, Nevada County attorney Fran Cole, who is cc’d on 

this communication, together commend Nevada City for its compassion for medical 

marijuana patients and for moving forward with authorizing medical cannabis 

dispensaries.  In response to the City’s outreach strategy for the above-referenced 

ordinance (the “Ordinance”), we are both pleased to have the opportunity to respectfully 

submit the following comments:  

 

1. The title of the proposed Ordinance Amending Chapter 9.22 of Title 9 of the Nevada 

City Municipal Code to rename the chapter “Medical Marijuana Dispensaries and 

Other Marijuana Businesses and Activity” should substitute the term “marijuana” for 

“cannabis” wherever reasonably practicable, both in the title and throughout the 

amended chapter, as well as in the proposed added Chapter 17.142, and amendments 

to Chapter 17.48.   As your office is likely aware, SB 837 was approved by Governor 

Brown on June 27, 2016, amending the title of the Medical Marijuana Regulation and 

Attachment 3.54



 2 

Safety Act to the Medical Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act.1  We request the 

Ordinance reflect this far more appropriate nomenclature where possible.  

 

2. Section 9.22.030 B.3.(4), p. 12, requires a listing of prior convictions without 

explicitly excluding those prior convictions which have been set aside pursuant to 

Cal. Penal Code Section 1203.4 (“expungement”), Proposition 47 (“reduction”) 

and/or Proposition 64 (“redesignation” and/or “legal invalidity”).   As such crimes are 

excluded by MCRSA from consideration in state licensing2, there exists no 

compelling rationale for disclosure of prior convictions where one’s debt has been 

paid to society, we ask that this section be amended to exclude disclosure of prior 

convictions that have been set aside/expunged, or declared “legally invalid” pursuant 

to Proposition 64, and/or that the request for applicant’s criminal history in this 

Section be amended to also request information regarding any expungement, 

reduction and/or redesignation pursuant to California law.  

 

3. Section 9.22.030 B.3.(4), p. 12., further presents a problem for potential employers, 

as the State of California precludes employers from even asking applicants about 

misdemeanor cannabis-related convictions greater than two [2] years old.3  As such, 

the current requirement places an employer in the undesirable position of not being 

allowed to ask for such criminal history prior to submitting the applicant to the City 

for a Medical Cannabis Employee Work Permit. This section should accordingly be 

amended to exclude disclosure of misdemeanor cannabis convictions within the State 

of California that are greater than 2 years since the date of conviction.  (Please note 

that any untruths in reporting would appear on the Live Scan results, sufficiently 

discouraging potential employees from lying regarding their background, and 

constituting a distinct and compelling ground for denial in any event.)  

 

4. An application for a medical cannabis employee work permit under Section 9.22.030 

B.3.(6), p. 12, currently includes a requirement that the applicant submit fingerprints 

                                                       
1 See, Assembly Floor Analysis of SB 837, dated June 15, 2016, located online at 

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billAnalysisClient.xhtml?bill_id=201520160SB83

7. 

 
2 See, Business & Professions Code Section 19323(5)(A)-(D), SB 643, authorizing the 

state licensing authority to deny the application for licensure for prior convictions 

including prior controlled substance felonies, any violent or serious felonies, and/or any 

prior convictions for fraud, deceit, or embezzlement.  

 
3 See, Starbucks Corp. v. Superior Court, 194 Cal.App.4th 820 (2011), discussing Cal. 

Health & Safety Code §§ 11361.5 and 11361.7 in the employment application process, 

noting “[r]ecords of minor marijuana convictions are to be accorded the highest degree of 

privacy; they must be treated as if they never existed” and thus “publicly disclosing 

marijuana-related offenses covered by the marijuana reform legislation violates the 

individual offender's right of privacy.”  

Attachment 3.55



 3 

to the City Manager, as does Section 9.22.090 F.(13), p. 28.  Manual fingerprints 

have been rendered obsolete in most jurisdictions by “LiveScan” technology, which 

captures fingerprints in a digitized format that allows for faster, more secure and 

better quality identification.4  We respectfully recommend every reference to 

“fingerprints” in the Ordinance be replaced in preference of “LiveScan” technology.5    

 

5. Section 9.22.050 A.(1), p. 14, authorizes the City Manager to “conduct initial 

evaluations of the applicants, and to ultimately provide a final recommendation to the 

City Council.”  Section 9.22.070 A.(1) authorizes the City Council to adopt a 

procedure “by which the top three applicants applying for a medical marijuana 

business to operate a medical marijuana dispensary in the City will be presented to 

the City Council for a final determination at a public hearing.”  As currently drafted, 

the manner in which these two requirements operate together are unclear, as one 

apparently requires the City Manager to provide a single final recommendation, and 

the other provides for the three top candidates to present at a public hearing.  We 

respectfully recommend that the City Manager’s recommendation as set forth in 

9.22.050 A.(1) be amended to note that he or she shall provide a final 

recommendation of the top three applicants and that the grounds for his or her 

recommendation be made express in some manner.   

 

6. Similarly, the Ordinance currently does not list the criteria by which applicants will 

be evaluated, which can present difficulties both for potential applicants seeking to 

initiate or amend their business formation(s) and/or manner of operation, as well as 

for the City staff and City Council who would likely benefit from objective criteria in 

what will surely be a highly competitive application process.  The Planning 

Commission might look to the City of Berkeley, who was faced with a similar 

situation and developed an objective ranking system which set forth important factors 

to be considered, assigning each criterion “points” that were then totaled to select the 

successful license applicants.6   

 

We suggest that the City adopt a system similar to Berkeley’s “Ranking and 

Allocation Criteria and Procedure,” tailored to our City’s own needs and values, as 

such an express list provides clear guidance to applicants and offers a measurable 

                                                       
4  See, for example, “Application Questions” re Fingerprint cards v. Livescan for the 

California Commission on Teacher Credentialing, which is one of many examples were 

fingerprint cards are considered to be outdated in the professional licensing capacity, 

located online here: http://www.ctc.ca.gov/help/application/fingerprint.html.  

 
5  A list of state-approved Live Scan locations available within Nevada County is 

obtainable online at:  https://oag.ca.gov/fingerprints/locations?county=Nevada. 
6 See, City of Berkeley Resolution “Adopting Ranking and Allocation Criteria and 

Procedure for Medical Cannabis Dispensaries, located online at 

http://cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-

_Commissions/Commission_for_Medical_Cannabis/Resolution%2066,711-

N.S._Ranking%20Allocation%20document.pdf. 

Attachment 3.56

http://cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-_Commissions/Commission_for_Medical_Cannabis/Resolution%2066,711-N.S._Ranking%20Allocation%20document.pdf
http://cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-_Commissions/Commission_for_Medical_Cannabis/Resolution%2066,711-N.S._Ranking%20Allocation%20document.pdf
http://cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-_Commissions/Commission_for_Medical_Cannabis/Resolution%2066,711-N.S._Ranking%20Allocation%20document.pdf


 4 

standard by which the City may engage in meaningful and objective comparison of 

applicants. 

 

7. Regardless of the mechanics of the selection process, we believe one of the most 

important standard applicants should meet is a commitment to the unique community 

that is Nevada City.  In particular, an uncontroverted value of living in Nevada City is 

the spirit of community giving and, in that regard, applicants should demonstrate a 

process by which charitable contributions will be made to our community.  Priority or 

“points” should be given to applicants whereby local philanthropy is written into their 

business structure, as opposed to discretionary giving.    Moreover, express 

philanthropic efforts directed to local organizations which are most affected by the 

growth and use of cannabis, including but not limited to those cherished 

environmental and other stakeholder organizations who bear the burden of remedying 

environmental harms associated with unregulated cannabis cultivation or those bad 

actors who do not operate within the scope of the law.   We firmly believe an 

applicant’s express commitment to local philanthropy should be one of the most (if 

not the most) highly-rated factors in the City’s selection process.  The written 

comments submitted at last week’s Planning Commission town hall validate the 

importance of community giving in this process. 

 

8. Another important community value which should be ranked highly in the selection 

process is a commitment to “locally grown” cannabis and cannabis products 

distributed by dispensaries.  The “locally grown” initiatives in our region evidence 

Nevada County’s pride in the high quality of cannabis produced for medical purposes 

in this region, and also provide significant economic benefit to local cultivators and 

businesses throughout our area.  As many medical cannabis patients and consumers 

value locally produced cannabis, attention to an applicant’s express policy of working 

with local producers could be a boon for the City’s taxing structure: the more 

desirable the cannabis is, the more patients will obtain their cannabis at that 

dispensary (and thus more tax revenue for Nevada City).    

 

9. When an applicant is selected under the provisions of Section 9.22.070, p. 18, the 

issuance of the business permit is conditioned upon the receipt of all required land use 

approvals following the applicant’s selection by the City.  What happens if the 

required land use approvals are not received?  Does the process begin again or is 

another applicant selected?  As currently drafted, the process is unclear and perhaps 

inefficient, in part because the City has limited the number of dispensaries to one.  

Opening up the process to allow multiple successful applicants would avoid this 

problem.   

 

10. Section 9.22.080 E., p. 20, requires the successful applicant to take on unlimited 

liability without any “reasonableness” standard.  It is not clear such a standard would 

survive legal challenge in the first place and, perhaps more importantly, it seems 

excessive to expect a small dispensary to assume all responsibility for the City’s 

actions ad infinitum and with no touchstone of reasonableness.   Notably, a 

dispensary may be unduly burdened in locating an insurance company to cover these 

Attachment 3.57



 5 

losses, an already difficult and expensive process.  This section should be limited to 

allow indemnity for reasonable costs incurred as a result of dispensary’s own actions, 

lest the insurance burden alone preclude a local applicant from obtaining the coveted 

first dispensary permit.   

 

11. The requirements of Section 9.22.080 B.(1)(d), p. 22, requiring installation of 24-hour 

surveillance cameras made available to the City Manager upon request should be 

made subject to restrictions required under the Health Insurance Portability and 

Accountability Act [HIPPA].    

 

12. Section 9.22.080 B.(1)(k), p. 23, references a “cannabis card,” which is an undefined 

term under the Ordinance.  This reference should be amended to reflect the definition 

for “patient” or “qualified patient” set forth in 9.22.020(w), at p. 10.  

 

13. Section 9.22.080 E., p. 23, references the “Fees, Charges and Taxes” a successful 

applicant will be responsible for. It is important that applicants have advance 

knowledge, at least generally, of what these charges will be prospectively. 

 

14. Section 9.22.080 F.(8), p. 26, references an “on-site” employee, but there may be no 

one “on-site” when the dispensary is closed.  The reference to “on-site should be 

deleted or amended accordingly. 

 

15. Section 9.22.080 F.(13), p. 28, consists of a separate section relating to background 

checks that is duplicative, but also different, from the extensive background check 

requirements set forth earlier in the Ordinance in Section 9.22.030.   Can these be 

streamlined into a single section?  

 

16. Section 9.22.080 G., p. 30, allows the City Manager or his or her designee to develop 

other regulations “as are determined to be necessary to protect the public health, 

safety or welfare.”  This wide latitude should be tethered to the touchstone of 

reasonableness, and allow such regulations to be promulgated as are “reasonably 

necessary” to protect the same.   

 

17. Section 9.22.100 B.(3), p. 31, speaks of the “risks of youth addiction to marijuana,” 

which is outdated language that is no longer accepted in current medical literature.7  

We suggest that “abuse” be substituted for “addiction.” 

 

18. Under Section 9.22.110 B., p. 32, the reference to “attorney fees” should be prefaced 

by a reasonableness requirement, as discussed in ¶ 10, above. 

 

                                                       
7  See, the Diagnostic and Statistical Manuel of Mental Disorders (DSM-5), which define 

cannabis abuse as a “Cannabis Use Disorder” according to objective criteria (which 

excludes medical or therapeutic uses).  

 

Attachment 3.58



 6 

19. We have strong concerns about an application process that allows a single applicant 

and again beseech the City and Planning Commission refrain from setting a 

quantifiable number of applicants, particularly only one.  While a competitive 

application process will undoubtedly bring top contenders quickly to the surface, a 

singular permit may risk tearing apart a fledgling cannabis community only now 

coming to the foreground.  At minimum, perhaps the Planning Commission can insert 

language allowing for consideration of a second or further dispensaries within one 

year, or immediately should the first contender fail to obtain local permits, state 

licensing, etc.  It could be a travesty if the singular successful applicant failed to 

obtain its licensing, and Nevada City was sent back to the drawing board, negating all 

tax revenue during any interim “down time” and sending patients back to Sacramento 

to obtain their medicinal cannabis.  Please note that City of Berkeley was so 

impressed with the quality of the top candidates in its dispensary permit application 

process, it immediately amended its local Code earlier this year to allow for more 

than one.8  We suggest the language of the ordinance not preclude that possibility, as 

we are sure the City will be mightily impressed with the caliber of potential 

candidates.  Further, considering the space and zoning limitations of our small City, it 

is highly unlikely that more than 1-3 applicants will obtain proper zoning in any 

event.  

 

Please feel free to contact either of myself or attorney Fran Cole if there are any 

questions, or if clarification is needed.  We welcome the opportunity to discuss this 

further, should additional input be of help.  Again, on behalf of both myself and Ms. 

Cole, we are grateful to provide any assistance in this truly historic process.  

 

Sincerely yours, 

 

Heather Burke, Esq.   

Fran Cole, Esq.  

By: Heather L. Burke  

 

Cc:  

Fran Cole, Esq., fran.cole@sbcglobal.net  

Dan Thiem, Planning Commission Chair, dthiem2002@yahoo.com  

                                                       
8  See, http://www.eastbayexpress.com/LegalizationNation/archives/2016/09/26/amoeba-records-
hits-big-with-pot-shop-permit 

Attachment 3.59



Amy/Duane, 

 

It may be too late to add public comment, but today's Union newspaper had an article titled 

"Store manager recounts smoke shop robbery" where the shop owner is quoted: 

 

"Everyone should be alarmed," he said. "People don't think it happens here.  It is different now." 

 

Dispensaries, like smoke shops and liquor stores, are proven targets for loitering and crime and 

should not be placed in the Nevada City limits.  Please put this to a vote of your constituents, the 

residents of Nevada City.  It is our property values and quality of life that will be affected. 

 

Thank you for working on this difficult issue. 

 

Please keep these comments anonymous. 

 

Attachment 3.60



Brad Croul
PO Box 933
Nevada City, CA 95959

December 30, 2016

Commissioners,

I support an ordinance allowing Marijuana dispensaries (I will refer to dispensaries as MJ 
Stores) within the Nevada City limits.

Do not put a limit on the number of MJ Stores.

We do not put a limit on the number of Mexican restaurants, coffee shops, wine tasting rooms, 
real estate offices, sushi bars, etc.  Why should MJ Stores be treated differently?  We have had 
an ebb and flow of various businesses over time.  Back in late 2005, real estate offices had 
proliferated along Broad St. and were displacing ground-floor retail storefronts to the point that 
the city council voted to prohibit ground-floor real estate offices downtown.
Fast forward to present day and real estate offices are not considered a problem (and they are 
back on the ground floors of buildings). If MJ Stores are allowed in general business zoned 
areas, we might see more than we need at first; but competition between businesses, and 
supply and demand, will result in the appropriate number of MJ Stores over time.  Let the free 
market work.

MJ Stores should be allowed in any business district as long is it meets state required setbacks 
from schools, etc.

I believe the idea of keeping MJ Stores in industrially zoned areas came about in in the early 
days of MJ Store regulations in communities that were afraid of the kind of people that would 
frequent MJ Stores. They decided to allow MJ Stores but did not want to have “those people” in 
the general business districts. However, we are “those people” - so, what’s the problem?

Do not restrict MJ Stores to the light-Industrial zoned properties.  There are not enough of those 
light-industrial properties in town and there are other commercially zoned properties adjacent to, 
or near, the light-industrial zoned properties that would be equivalent in every respect to the 
proposed light-industrial area zoned properties.

If the zoning is too restrictive a prospective MJ Store may never be able to open.  Don’t forget 
that a landlord has to be willing to rent to a MJ Store. Because landlords are sometimes fearful 
of renting to an MJ Store, buying a property is sometimes the only practical way to open an MJ 
Store.  Neither commercial nor light-industrial zoned properties often come up for sale which 
makes it difficult for a business to open if landlords are unwilling to rent to an MJ store.
 

Attachment 3.61



If there is resistance to the idea of MJ Stores in the historic district, the city could prohibit MJ 
Stores with entrances that front directly onto public right-of-ways.  This would be similar to the 
restriction we placed on real estate offices in the Historic District back in December 2005.  
There are a number of commercial spaces downtown located on the 2nd floors in the New York 
hotel, US hotel, and in other buildings that could house a MJ Store that would be perfectly 
acceptable and not create an attractive nuisance.  There are several locations on Broad, Spring, 
Main, Railroad, Searls and other streets with commercially zoned properties with ground floor as 
well as upstairs rental units that do not front directly onto a public sidewalk that could be 
considered for MJ Stores and would not create attractive nuisances.

Allowing MJ Stores will not result in an Amsterdam-like atmosphere because it is illegal to 
smoke or otherwise ingest marijuana on the MJ Store premises.

Security guards are not necessary. Omit this requirement. If any business should be required to 
have a security guard it should be our local bank that has been robbed three times.

 A medical MJ Store has a lot in common with a pharmacy, and a recreational MJ Store would 
be similar to a liquor store.
Keep the ordinance consistent with what you would require of a pharmacy or a liquor store. For 
example, do we demand background checks, security guards, or place zoning restrictions on 
pharmacy or liquor stores?

I don’t think the existence of MJ Stores in town will result in more people smoking marijuana 
within the city limits.
When recreational marijuana was legalized in November did we see massive smoke-ins 
(smoke-outs?) all over town? No, most people around here are ‘over it’.  Marijuana usage has 
been around for thousands of years. Nothing is going to change except that we will have more 
businesses selling merchandise and those tax dollars will be used to support city services.

I urge you adopt common-sense regulations that are consistent with other businesses of a 
similar nature in town and not over-regulate based on some sort of ‘fear factor’ or personal bias.

Thank you for considering my comments.

Best Regards,

Brad Croul

Attachment 3.62



Dear Nevada City Planning Commission - 
Thank you all for your careful and thoughtful consideration of this very important decision  
Re: To allow permitted and legal Medicinal Cannabis Dispensaries in Nevada City. 
 
First of all, I would like to make the very important distinction between Medicinal Cannabis usage and Recreational 
usage. The current interim draft ordinance insists a dispensary would be for Medical Cannabis patients only and I 
applaud that. I personally do not agree with the recreational use of Cannabis. 
 
I have read through the current letters pro and con as well as 2 petitions I find on the Nevada City website. 
I'd like to comment on some of the points brought up in the letters/ petitions.  
Before I do, let me state I do wholeheartedly support a permitting process for MEDICAL Cannabis Dispensaries in 
Nevada City. Why? Because I - as a lifelong resident of Nevada County (as well as a homeowner and tax payer) - am 
a patient who has benefited greatly from Medicinal Cannabis. I have cured 3 very serious and debilitating diseases 
with daily use of Medicinal Cannabis. Among them are Asthma, Fibromyalgia, Chronic Fatigue Syndrome and 
Migraines. I am currently getting tremendous relief with 2 other serious conditions. As of 2 years ago I was taking 7 
different Rx medications. Today, I am pain free and taking only 1 medication on a daily basis. My MD congratulates 
me for being exceptionally healthy at 66 years of age. 
As to some of the points brought up in the letters/petitions already sent into the Planning Commission: 
1. The letter from Bill Newton states that "further testing needs to be done". I couldn't agree more with this. However, 
prohibition has only hampered 'further testing'. Israel has done testing on the Medical Benefits of Cannabis and the 
results are astounding. The internet also abounds with patient's testimonies as well as videos showing the amazing 
results from using Cannabis Medically - Here are links to just two such videos: 
Molecular Biologist Explains How THC Completely Kills Cancer Cells 
Ride with Larry - Watch Medical Marijuana's effect on... | Facebook 
 

 

Ride with Larry - Watch Medical 
Marijuana's effect on... | Facebook 

Watch Medical Marijuana's effect on Parkinson's, Part 3 of 3. Aided by a 

fellow Parkinson's patient... 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Molecular Biologist Explains How THC 

Completely Kills Cancer Cells 

Below is a video of Dr. Christina Sanchez, a molecular biologist at 

Compultense University in Madrid, Spain, cle... 

 

  

Bill also laments in his letter that Nevada City does not have the funds to purchase property for trails expansion. I 
implore him to realize that increased tax revenue generated from a Dispensary could very easily provide those funds! 
2. Re: Anita Bagwell's letter - It appears she has a school in Grass Valley on McCourtney Rd. and she is concerned 
about a dispensary in Nevada City located too close to her school. She cites her students who claim they used 
Marijuana as a gateway drug. She is writing about her students as former RECREATIONAL users of Cannabis - Not 

Attachment 3.63

http://www.collective-evolution.com/2014/02/18/molecular-biologist-explains-how-thc-completely-kills-cancer-cells/
https://www.facebook.com/ridewithlarry/videos/vb.114227015311638/1273155682752093/?type=2&theater


Medical Patients. I sincerely hope she can understand the difference someday and realize a dispensary in Nevada 
City would be several miles away from her school and students who attend there. It would also only provide medicine 
to certified patients - NOT to recreational users. 
3. Re: Petition #1 has 4 signers (out of 44) who have 3 digit Nevada City addresses.  
4. Petition #2 has 6 (out of 30) who have 3 digit Nevada City addresses.  
****These 2 petitions hardly represent the majority of Nevada City or Nevada County residents who voted in favor of 
Medical Cannabis Dispensaries.  
5. Re the letter from the Presbyterian Church: They claim a dispensary will be opening 'down the road' from their 
church. This is not true as no permit has been issued, nor any location approved by the commission for a dispensary 
to open and operate at the address they suggest - at this time. 
6. I do agree with all the points presented in the letter from All About Wellness dispensary in Sacramento. 
 
Thank you all again for your thoughtful consideration of this permit for Medical Cannabis Dispensaries and for 
opening the discussion up to the public via meetings and inviting comments here. 
 
Sincerely, 
Dione Gardner 
Nevada County, CA 

 

Attachment 3.64



Hi Amy: 

 

Re. Proposed Medical Marijuana Dispensary in Nevada City. 

 

Please supplement my statements previously submitted to the Planning Commission opposing 

establishing a Marijuana Dispensary in Nevada City with the attached link to recent article in the 

Huffington Post. 

 

Subject: Mysterious marijuana related illness popping up in emergency rooms: 

http://www.huffingtonpost.com/entry/mysterious-marijuana-flu-emergency-

rooms_us_5869d6bee4b0eb586489f7e6 

Emergency room physicians in the states that have legalized marijuana are reporting a significant 

increase of a marijuana related illness: pain and vomiting eventually leading to kidney failure.  

 

Thanks, 

 

Jim Henderson, Esq. 

 

 

Attachment 3.65

http://www.huffingtonpost.com/entry/mysterious-marijuana-flu-emergency-rooms_us_5869d6bee4b0eb586489f7e6
http://www.huffingtonpost.com/entry/mysterious-marijuana-flu-emergency-rooms_us_5869d6bee4b0eb586489f7e6


 
From: Mark Hadley [mailto:Mark@twincitieschurch.com]  
Sent: Wednesday, January 4, 2017 5:33 PM 
To: Amy Wolfson <Amy.Wolfson@nevadacityca.gov> 
Subject: re: Proposed Medical Marijuana Dispensary 
 
Dear Nevada City Planning Commission and Nevada City Council Members, 
 
Thank you for taking the time to receive input on the proposed Medical Marijuana Dispensary for 
Nevada City.  My name is Mark Hadley and I serve as one of the Pastors at Twin Cities Church in our 
community.  I am writing to you from the perspective of someone who has worked with youth for over 
30 years.   I have worked with youth through the YMCA, through Group Homes, and through the 
church.  I have great concerns regarding the proposed dispensary – specifically regarding the effects on 
the youth of our community.    
 
I have seen marijuana use has dramatic negative effects on hundreds of youth that I have worked with, 
as well as close friends and family members.  I acknowledge that the dispensary is specifically for 
medical purposes.  But I also know from firsthand experience that it is very easy for a young person to 
get a prescription for marijuana for things as simple as emotional pain and trauma and claimed physical 
pain that cannot be verified by a qualified physician.  I know dozens and dozens of kids who have done 
this.  Making marijuana more accessible to our community I believe is not beneficial.   I agree that 
medical marijuana does indeed help cancer patients and those who suffer from seizures and other 
medical issues.  Purchasing medicinal marijuana online is available for these patients.   Local 
dispensaries just introduce the potential for increased local growing and consumption and more 
headaches for our local law enforcement and community members. 
 
I hope that you will carefully weigh the impact this proposal will have on law enforcement, youth, 
community demographics, property values, and the moral climate of our community.  Great leaders 
stand and do the right thing, even when it is not popular or expedient.  That’s what makes them 
great.  As guardians of our community I have confidence that you are committed to investing in things 
that unite and build our community and protect us from things that divide and undermine it.  I hope you 
will consider my thoughts that I have shared. 
 
Thank you respectfully for your time, 
 

 

    

 

MARK HADLEY 

Groups and Spiritual Growth Pastor 

Twin Cities Church 

Office 530.273.6425 ext. 301   

 

twincitieschurch.com  |  twincitieschurch.tv 

Loving God. Loving People. Serving Our World. 

 

          

Attachment 3.66

http://www.twincitieschurch.com/
http://www.twincitieschurch.tv/
http://twincitieschurch.com/
https://www.facebook.com/twincitieschurch
https://www.instagram.com/twincitieschurch
https://twitter.com/tccfamily
https://vimeo.com/twincitieschurch


 

Attachment 3.67



Dear Amy Wolfson; and Planning Commissioners Dan Thiem, Chair; Stuart Lauters, Vice-

Chair; Skyler Moon; Gail Damskey,  

 

As you know, I have given you input before regarding the proposed Nevada City Planning 

Commission Cannabis Ordinance. Assuming you will count only one public input from each 

person in your tallies regarding possible changes in the ordinance, I respectfully request that my 

input from this letter be the one that you count for me because you need to know and understand 

what residents, employers, and employees of Nevada City are saying to their neighbors and to 

me.  

 

I will restrict my comments here to what I have heard from residents and businesses while 

walking all the neighborhood streets adjacent to the Light Industrial areas inside the Nevada City 

limits, which is where a Medical Cannabis Dispensary is allowed according to the proposed 

ordinance.  These people who live and work in Nevada City are your constituents, the ones you 

and your office represent. Please keep in mind we are made up mostly of small adjacent 

neighborhoods, within the limited space of our two square miles, which includes schools, 

churches, some social agencies including rehab. centers, a few parks, with a relatively few other 

small family businesses in the mix. That, and downtown, which is off-limits in this ordinance, is 

Nevada City, which we love to live, work, and play in every day. We residents have strong 

opinions regarding our surroundings from a unique perspective; we are counting on you to 

seriously consider some changes that need to be made in the ordinance as a result of their/our 

input. You will see below that only one person I could contact in all of the vulnerable 

neighborhoods is in favor of using the ordinance at all. 

 

My own personal and professional experiences in Hawaii for 30 years and in Nevada City for 

close to 20 years with marijuana as I have had contact with marijuana users who are students, 

adults, and a family member for whom it was a gateway drug, leading all the way to heroin, will 

have to wait for another time. 

 

The one universal comment I heard from absolutely everyone, with only one exception, was "I 

don't want it in Nevada City and I especially not in my neighborhood/near my business". The 

three specific comments I heard over and over and over again from residents and businesses 

were,  "It is too late because a MMJ Dispensary is already in the works so our comments 

wouldn't even count"; "it will never happen"; or very rarely, "Ok I'll go to a meeting or I will 

give public input". Businesses with only a few exceptions, were not willing to give public 

comment due to the fear of losing their livelihood. Other comments I occasionally heard from 

residents is they are already obtaining the marijuana products they desire through the internet, in 

"classy" MMJ Dispensaries located in other cities, including Sacramento and North San Juan. 

One grandma waiting for her grandchild at Laura Bishop's Dance studio proudly told me her 

husband does not get high because the marijuana he needs without THC is located in North San 

Juan. I have passed this information on to several interested people I have encountered. 

 

These are specific comments from specific people I encountered inside the Nevada City limits on 

specific neighborhood streets that will be most affected if the ordinance is in fact used: 

 

Attachment 3.68



Hoover St., between Deer Creek, Seven Hills Intermediate School, also where the building 

for social services and preschool serving Disabled children is located 
 

At the Forum, I was lectured by one of the lawyers that it is "ok" to have a dispensary on Hoover 

St., even though he knew it is between Deer Creek Elementary School and Seven Hills 

Intermediate School because the distance in the ordinance is 600 ft. from a school and there will 

be a setback for the Dispensary from Hoover Street.  

 

input from school administrators other personnel who work there and residents who live 

there:  Not one resident or school personnel was in favor of this location. They specifically 

mentioned that everyone can clearly see Hoover is a walkway, bikeway, and traffic pattern for 

parents to drop off and pick up their kids every weekday and therefore is an unsuitable 

environment for any business, and is especially inappropriate for a marijuana business, medical 

or not. 

They used the phrase "a danger to children and families" frequently. 

 

Input from parents meeting and picking up their children who had walked from Deer Creek and 

Seven Hills Schools and who were picking up those children in the SPD parking lot was 

universally negative for this location. Many mentioned the danger of resale by people with 

scripts who would see this whole area around the schools as an easy target for the availability of 

youth-friendly edibles, topicals, and other marijuana products to be re-sold for profit either in 

this particular location or elsewhere inside Nevada City. No one had a solution for enforcement 

against this real possibility, which would increase with the input of additional drugs from a 

dispensary inside our 2 square mile boundary. 

 

Two administrators in this area told me that just last week a girl brought to school lollipops laced 

with marijuana and distributed them to friends at school before adults were able to discover and 

put a stop to it. Both of them mentioned their concern regarding the availability of edibles, 

topicals, and other food-like mj products that are already in our community, not regulated nor 

labeled, and how impossible it is to enforce the distribution of these products that youth can be 

so attracted to and vulnerable to. 

 

the corner of Hoover and Brock Sts., a residence zoned Light Industrial  
Input from the resident at this location 

She is a senior citizen who said they are a "marijuana family" and stated that she is able to get 

her needs met via the internet. She seemed amused to think about a dispensary in her 

neighborhood. Frankly, I wondered if she were offered enough money if she would persuade her 

husband, who owns the property on this corner to put a dispensary right there.  

 

Brock Street  
Input from residents: 

Not one resident on this street was in favor of a dispensary at all in Nevada City. Most residents 

said they had lived in this established Nevada City neighborhood for decades and did not want it 

here "nor anywhere inside our little town". They all expressed concern over the close proximity 

to schools and, again, for the hoards of children from nearby schools who gather at SPD for 

periods of time after school without parental supervision before their parents pick them up.  I did 

Attachment 3.69



encounter two young adults walking together who lived on a nearby street who said they were 

surprised and seemed intrigued to learn of the possibility of a MMJ Dispensary near where they 

lived.  

 

Providence Mine 
Input from businesses 

I did not find one business nor customer who was in favor of having a MMJ dispensary on or ear 

this street. 

 

Grass Valley Hwy. and Lower Grass Valley Hwy and Ridge Road 
input from a Sierra Presbyterian Church  

Their concerns center around Sonshine Preschool and a Youth building, both on their property. 

They also mentioned the close proximity of this possible location for a MMJD to youth building 

on their property, barely 600 ft. away, as well as additional youth walking and biking along 

Ridge Road on the other side of their property to and from Deer Creek and Seven Hills 

Intermediate School. The pastor and representatives from their church have attended Planning 

Commission meetings and will give their own written input. 

 

Input from Robinson Enterprises 

I talked with two owners there, both several times as information became available from the 

Planning Commission process. One of the owners, attended one of the Planning Commission 

meetings and spoke, Tim Robinson. Their company who is one of the biggest tax contributors to 

Nevada City have concerns regarding the neighboring businesses who universally are opposed, 

and safety concerns regarding their huge logging and gas trucks and traffic issues which would 

inevitably occur if there is a MMJD at the top of the street where they are located on Lower 

Grass Valley Highway. 

 

Input from residents: 

No resident wants more traffic on Grass Valley Highway which would necessarily be generated 

from a MMJD location which could be accessed from both of these roads. Some are also 

concerned about the safety of their own neighborhood as well as the safety of the youth who will 

attend the new alternative school which soon will be located on the corners of Grass Valley 

Highway and Ridge Road, not far from the possible MMJD accessible from both of these streets. 

Easy access for youth directly from their school through their neighborhoods is a concern for 

residents. 

 

Searles St, Argall St, Perseverance St. and Mine Court Rd. -  

input from residents and businesses: 

In 7 Hills Business district, all businesses except two said they were not going to make public 

comment due to the fear of losing business, even those catering to children, though a couple did 

sign a petition.  However, everyone I spoke with opposed a MMJD in this section of town, even 

if it were to be located 600 ft. from a school. Frank at the Shoe Repair place did come to the 

meeting when the ordinance was presented hoping to speak, but after waiting two hours, of 

previous business before this ordinance issue came up, he had to go back to work. This was true 

of my own pastor and several other people I talked with, as well. We will see if SPD will openly 

oppose a dispensary in this area, as they did about 5 years ago when this subject came up to the 

Attachment 3.70



City Council. if you read the names of those on the petition, you will find 2 business owners who 

did have the courage to sign their names under the heading "I do not want a Medical Marijuana 

Dispensary in Nevada City". 

 

Walrath St. 
 

Input from residents: 

Each resident I contacted on this short street was appalled to learn that there is Light Industrial 

zoning adjacent to their street so that a MMJD is possible here. Each one said they did not want 

any business, and especially not a MMJD business, so close to their short, currently quiet street 

filled with only residences, citing increased noise, traffic, smell and nuisance factors as well as 

an unwelcome influx of non-residents a MMJD would bring into their residential street. One 

"grandma" said she would walk all the way to town from here to post her letter in the box outside 

Nevada City Hall so the Planning commission would hear her concerns. 

 

New Mohawk Rd., Kidder Court, Bost, Gold Flat Court, Gold Flat Rd.   

Input from social service agencies located whose businesses are located in a building on the 

corner of two of these "allowable" streets: Big Brothers/Big Sisters, the Friendship Club and 

Sierra Adoption Agency, all located in the same building at the corner of Kidder Ct. and 

Mohawk, as well as A New Day adult peer counseling center located on New Mohawk Rd. very 

ear Gold Flat Court. All these agencies said they were appalled, some were surprised, that the 

Planning Commission had even thought this was appropriate and that they are even in the 

"allowable" neighborhood for a MMJD. 

 

Input from a school located on New Mohawk Road very one lot away from Gold Flat Road 

Charter School seemed unaware that they were located on an "allowable" street for a MMJD and 

asked me how to access information. I gave them the websites where they could access the 

Nevada City Zoning Map and the Ordinance itself. 

 

Input from a Mormon church located in the neighborhood of these streets 

I talked to a lady who runs the History center there, as well as two other people at that location 

who all wanted more information of how to object to a MMJD in their neighborhood. 

  

Input from an employee at the funeral home and cemetery located in the neighborhood of these 

streets 

She stated that the owner, Kay, was on the board of the Friendship Club (see above) and that she 

would not want a MMJD in their neighborhood, and the employee did not want this either in this 

location or elsewhere inside the Nevada City limits. 

 

Input from residents on Mohawk Rd. 

I was only able to find one person home. She had no idea a MMJD was possible in her 

neighborhood and welcomed my information on how to access the zoning map and the 

ordinance. She said she would give her own input. 

 

I was unable to obtain access to the owner of the Residential Rehab. house currently being 

renovated across from the cemetery and located int he neighborhood of these streets. Locating a 

Attachment 3.71



MMJD closeby seems obvious and was mentioned by several neighbors, who also mentioned the 

sensitive and inappropriate proximity to this above named businesses. 

 

Railroad Avenue, Woods Court, Gold Flat, Prospect St., Niles and Nimrod  
Input from senior residents of the Northern Queen 

13 residents of the senior apartments living here signed a petition under the heading "No 

Marijuana Medicinal Shop (dispensary) in back of N. Queen or in Nevada City anywhere". 

Many complained that they want to move if this is a possibility, and some are already looking, 

but finding affordable housing in Nevada City impossible to find. They all complained about the 

odor every time they open their windows as well as nuisance and lack of security from 

trimmigant residents just above their location who walk around the perimeter, "even on our 

sidewalks in front of our front doors all hours of the night". One resident, however, said she 

would be glad to walk across the street to get her supply of marijuana. 

 

input from other residents of Railroad Avenue and Woods Court  

I have talked to all but one resident of Woods Court a residents of Railroad Avenue as well. 

Several residents came to a meeting, some spoke, and have been good about sharing news with 

the surrounding neighbors on Railroad Avenue, as well. Not one wants a MMJD in their 

neighborhood or in Nevada City. Further, in the last year they say they have noticed a big 

increase in "vagrants" roaming their streets and there is no relief even when they all the police. 

They say they observe a lot of them are on their way between the gas station, Striker house, and 

Pioneer Park neighborhoods. 

 

Input from residents of Gold Flat, Prospect St. and Niles and Nimrod  

Residents on these streets have similar comments regarding "vagrants" and their habits listed 

above of frequenting the gas station, Striker house, and Pioneer House. I did not go to Gail 

Damskey's house but three of her neighbors said our town was too small, two signed a petition, 

one ame to a meeting but did not raise his hand at the Forum when asked "Who is against any 

MMJD in Nevada City" in order to protect his business. He did, however, do some research on 

line re: affects in other towns that have MMJDs in neighborhoods. He said none of the articles 

was positive and most actually stated that they would not have let it happen if they had see ahead 

of time many of the unintended consequences they were suffering. 

 

Long Street and Turpentine Streets 
Input from residents  

At least 3 of these residents have spoken at meetings and will submit written input as well. Every 

resident I was able to contact on these streets, and that my contacts also contacted on their own, 

expressed that they do not want a MMJD in their neighborhood. Not one of the residents I talked 

to on either of these streets knew that parts of their streets are adjacent to "allowable" Light 

Industrial zoning before I talked with them. Many of them do not use a computer and were 

unable to access the information I gave them for the websites. When I showed them a hard copy 

of the ordinance, and told them the parameters on the map which included them (I never was 

able to get a hard copy of it), all expressed that they are already experiencing a lot of homeless 

people, trimmigants from the Northern Queen, clients of Striker House either living in the gullies 

around their property and/or walking in their neighborhoods constantly. They have had an 

increase in thefts, as well in the last year, which they attribute to the people "invading" the 

Attachment 3.72



neighborhood who are not residents of it. They also expressed that Nevada City Police were slow 

to respond to their requests for help and even when they did, it was not effective.  

 

I know you have received petitions signed by Nevada City residents on all the above named 

streets. Please count each one in your tally.  I stopped circulating petitions when I found out that 

these private citizens would have their names and addresses listed on the web on the website 

Amy set up. I guess it is a good thing not many people know how to access it because only those 

who attended a meeting and signed up to receive ongoing messages know this website exists. It 

was mentioned at the Forum, but how to access it was not.   

 

You will note that in all the hours and all the days I talked to Nevada City residents in 

neighborhoods outside downtown, I found only one person on all the streets listed above who 

wants a Medical Marijuana Dispensary inside Nevada City limits. Over and over I did heard 

people say they thought a dispensary was inevitable in our area somewhere, but they think that 

other towns, some even nearby, would be acceptable. That subject is something else not under 

discussion here, but is germaine to the point that inside Nevada City limits is not the only 

possible location for a dispensary in our area. 

 

Thank you for letting the public give input to the Nevada City Planning Commission regarding 

the proposed Medical Cannabis Dispensary in Nevada City. Everyone has an opinion, so I hope 

will give special attention to the comments by Nevada City residents, businesses, and workers 

inside out city limits. We are your constituents, and we are the ones who have a vested interest, 

and will be the most impacted by your decisions 24/7. 

 

Thank you, 

Susan Reynolds 

 

Attachment 3.73



Hi Ms. Wolfson - 

 

Thanks for your interest in additional comments about a proposed cannabis dispensary ordinance. As city 

residents (since 1992), we're fine with it. Prescription-based medical cannabis has been a legal reality in 

California for many years; it makes no sense that folks who need it can't get it at a regulated, legal, local 

dispensary. In fact, with recreational marijuana now approved in the state, the argument against allowing 

such a regulated business seems, if anything, weaker. We don't see an inherent problem with the proposed 

business; and again, what the City allows, the City can regulate. So if at some point it becomes clear that 

serious problems are associated with the dispensary, the City can tighten/modify the ordinance — or even 

repeal it if necessary. It's hard to imagine that it *would* be necessary — there are certainly problems 

associated with folks drinking in town, yet there's no movement to Ban the Bar — but the point is, we're 

still at the "imaginary" stage. Let's give it a chance.... 

 

- Stephen & Marianna Greenberg 

Attachment 3.74



A Therapeutic Alternative
Holistic Health Center & Medical Cannabis Dispensary
3015 H Street, Sacramento, CA 95816
(916) 822-4717

December 23, 2016
Chief Timothy A. Foley
Nevada City Police Department
317 Broad Street
Nevada City, CA 95959
Tim.Foley@nevadacityca.gov

Re: Invitation to medical cannabis tour

Dear Chief Timothy Foley:

I hope this letter finds you well! Medical cannabis patients throughout the state rejoiced when Governor
Jerry Brown signed into California law the Medical Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act (MCRSA) of 2015.
Establishing a path toward safe access to cannabis medicines is now within reach for communities and
governments together. As Director of A Therapeutic Alternative, I dedicate my service to advocating for
sensible and balanced medical cannabis policies at all levels of government. I would be honored to share
insight and perspective into our local medical cannabis industry through a fully-transparent tour of our
medical facility, as well as and our affiliates medical cannabis operations!

The recent passage into state law of MCRSA and the Adult Use of Marijuana Act (AUMA) of 2016 has
greatly accelerated California's medical cannabis movement. Our state's new medical and recreational
cannabis laws have established unprecedented personal, family, patient, consumer and environmental
protections for California's medical cannabis patients. The State of California was first in the nation to
recognize the needs of medical cannabis patients with passage into state law of the Compassionate Use Act
(CUA) of 1996. We at A Therapeutic Alternative are relieved that our state's medical cannabis laws have since
been revisited and recalibrated to better suit the needs of medical cannabis patients today. Our patients
have long endured stigma, shame and fear for treating the health of their loved ones and selves with
cannabis medicines. Now, thanks to our State Legislature, that through MCRSA and AUMA, local leaders
now have opportunity to open the medical cannabis dialogue within their communities; to listen to the
concerns and wishes of those living and working within the community; and through public and private
partnerships, to mend our communities while serving the needs of local medical cannabis patients.

Passage of MCRSA was met with outright bans in some of California's local governments, and for those
jurisdictions keeping an open heart and open mind for medical cannabis patients, the public hearings toward
regulation of medical cannabis are underway throughout California's local governments. We continue
cultivating hope that the voices of medical cannabis patients will be heard throughout these public
processes and that our patients' voices are heard despite these recent bans and overly strict regulations.
Through our non-profit advocacy work, we continue extending opportunity for community and government
leaders to perceive, discuss and consider the benefits which medical cannabis operations can--and do--,
bring to local communities.

On behalf of A Therapeutic Alternative, I invite you to perceive, consider and discuss A Therapeutic
Alternative's local operations as well as those of our local medical cannabis affiliates and operations in
Sacramento! We are excited to share our work with you and to provide opportunity for you to gain valuable
insight by observing, asking questions of, and partaking in discussion with leaders within our local medical
cannabis industry with whom we work closely. We are quite proud to work closely together with our local
affiliates throughout production of cannabis medicines! Through collaboration with our local affiliates and
members of the community, our medical cannabis operations have helped communities reclaim public and
private spaces from crime and decay; offering instead peace and security for the individuals and families of
the communities in which we operate our medical cannabis facilities.

Through our collaborative efforts A Therapeutic Alternative and our local affiliates have endeavored to
inform public dialogue, voice shared concerns, engage questions and challenge misconceptions through on-

Attachment 3.75



2

going participation in local government, as well as through hosting of government medical cannabis tours.
We invite you and your staff to observe for yourselves an operational medical cannabis dispensary, an indoor
cultivation site, a cannabis medicine manufacturer, a medical cannabis testing lab, and/or a medical
cannabis bakery. This would be a wonderful opportunity to observe first-hand how the medical cannabis
industry addresses the needs of the community in the course of implementing safe and environmentally-
friendly solutions to our medical cannabis business operations. We hope to help illustrate what the medical
cannabis industry is capable of returning to patients, the community, constituents, and our local
ecosystems.

The production of medical-grade cannabis therapies and medicines are made possible by the
collaborative efforts of dedicated professionals throughout cultivation, testing, production, distribution, and
dispensing. A Therapeutic Alternative's qualitative standards and those of our partner sites allows us to
together provide our patients:

 Cannabis medicines cultivated by local farmers whose practices are environmentally and ethically
sound

 Cannabis medicines, all of which have been lab-tested for mold, mildew, bugs, particulates,
pesticides and other contaminants

 Cannabis medicines, all of which which have been lab-tested for the active cannabinoid profiles
unique to each medicine (i.e. CBD, THC, CBN, etc.)

 Clear labelling of all cannabis medicines on offer (medicine-specific name, cannabinoids and
potency); basic information which empowers patients to safely and consistently find the most
effective medicine for their needs

 Medical cannabis dispensary counselors who undergo weekly, continuing education to ensure that
patients receive the best possible guidance when choosing cannabis medicines and administration
methods

 A Compassion Program reserved for patients who are juvenile dependents, severely ill and/or low-
income, and who are otherwise unable to obtain the medicines they need to treat debilitating
illnesses and conditions

 Low-cost and complementary child-proof containers for safe home storage of cannabis medicines
(i.e. capsules, edibles, etc.)

 Safe access to regular scheduled and complementary holistic health services (nutrition and wellness
coaching, support groups, yoga, reiki, sound therapy, to name a few)

 Medical cannabis industry representatives dedicated to building and maintaining close relationships
with neighbors in the community, government officials, and industry affiliates

We look forward to addressing any questions or concerns you may have as you learn more about how
we provide our patients the best available cannabis medicines and how safe access to medical cannabis can
positively impact Nevada City. Please consider supplementing this invitation by viewing a brief clip online
which helps illustrate what A Therapeutic Alternative offers to patients and the community:
http://www.atherapeuticalternative.com/about-us.html. Please do not hesitate to contact our Assistant
for Government Affairs, Henry Calderón, at (916) 912-3164 or by e-mail at
atagovernmentaffairs@gmail.com, or contact me directly to arrange a tour of A Therapeutic
Alternative and/or one of our partner sites.

Blessings,

Kimberly Cargile, Director
A Therapeutic Alternative
3015 H Street | Sacramento, CA 95816
(707) 616-7198 | atafrontdesk@gmail.com | www.atherapeuticalternative.com

Attachment 3.76



Attachment 3.77



Attachment 3.78



Attachment 3.79



Floracy 
315 Spring Street 
Suite D  
Nevada City, CA 95959 
 
January 9, 2017 
 
Amy Wolfson 
Nevada City Planning Department 
City Hall 
317 Broad Street 
Nevada City, CA 95959 
 
Dear Ms. Wolfson: 
 
In regards to the draft cannabis ordinance, we believe it is in the best interest of the city and the entire 
community to allow other cannabis activities in addition to dispensaries.  This would be the best way to create a 
positive niche for Nevada City by taking advantage of local cultivators, processors, test labs, etc. in conjunction 
with Nevada City’s existing wellness and healing industry.  
 
If the city bans non-dispensary cannabis activities, it may spur a number of local businesses to relocate to avoid 
legal issues while they pursue legal, emerging market opportunities.  The specific areas of concern with the draft 
ordinance are highlighted below. 
 
Pg 6, ¶ A&C Cannabis Regulation 
We agree with the City’s intent to regulate the cultivation, manufacturing, processing, testing, transporting, 
delivery, and distribution of cannabis and cannabis related products in a manner which is responsible, and 
protects the health, safety and welfare of the residents of Nevada City, and to enforce rules and regulations 
consistent with state law which is laid out in Paragraph A.  We understand Paragraph C that states that all 
marijuana activities are prohibited unless specifically authorized.  But we object to the following paragraph: 
 
P33,  ¶ 17.142.040 : Other Medical Marijuana Businesses Prohibited 
“All other types of marijuana businesses including those engaged in cultivation, manufacturing, testing facilities, 
distributors and transporting businesses are prohibited in all zones of the city.” 
 
We encourage the City to reconsider this provision of the ordinance.  Otherwise, the permitted dispensaries will 
be forced to buy from licensed vendors outside of the city and county.  We believe the better option is for the 
City to also undertake the regulation of Other Medical Marijuana Businesses to take advantage of local cannabis 
businesses who want to comply with the law through a permitting and licensing program. 
 
We hope the city council takes a broad, future-looking stance on what could be a very significant high-tech 
wellness industry right here in Nevada City. 
 
Best regards, 
 
Harry Bennett, Founder, Floracy  
 
Phil Ritti, Principal, Excede Ventures  

Attachment 3.80



Nevada County Wellness Group 
315 Spring Street 
Suite D  
Nevada City, CA 95959 
 
January 9, 2017 
 
Amy Wolfson 
Nevada City Planner 
City Hall 
317 Broad Street 
Nevada City, CA 95959 
 
Dear Ms. Wolfson: 
 
The Nevada City Wellness Group was formed to organize a cannabis dispensary in Nevada City.  This 
local group’s skill sets are diversified including experience in founding and operating cannabis 
dispensaries as well as expertise in forming startups and managing ongoing businesses. 
 
We appreciate the opportunity to provide feedback to Nevada City’s proposed cannabis ordinance.  In 
addition to specific suggestions included below, we encourage Nevada City’s Planning Commission, City 
Manager and City Council to align as much as possible with California State cannabis laws (both enacted 
and planned).  The State has done a thorough job of constructing an integrated set of regulations and 
tax codes for the medical cannabis industry.  Syncing up with state laws should reduce the complexity of 
the ordinance and provide consistency with other cities and municipalities that adopt state laws. 
 
Another overarching provision we recommend is that preference be given in the application process to 
local owners and local employment. 
 
Our specific feedback on the proposed ordinance is as follows: 
 
Pg 5,¶ A: Construction  
We do not understand the comments on no construction or related activities.  Given the current zoning 
limitations and the required setback from schools and parks, there are very few existing buildings 
available.  We encourage the City to consider construction as a viable option. 
 
Pg 5, ¶: A  & Pg 14, ¶ P 9.22.040: Single Dispensary 
 These paragraphs specifically limit the ordinance to permitting only one dispensary.  We believe the 
community would be better served by approving a minimum of two dispensaries.  There are consumer 
benefits of having competition including pricing, product quality and quality of services provided. 
 
 
Pg 6, ¶ A&C Cannabis Regulation 
We agree with the City’s intent to regulate the cultivation, manufacturing, processing, testing, 
transporting, delivery, and distribution of cannabis and cannabis related products in a manner which is 
responsible, which protects the health, safety and welfare of the residents of Nevada City, and to 
enforce rules and regulations consistent with state law which is laid out in Paragraph A.  We understand 

Attachment 3.81



Paragraph C that states all marijuana activities are prohibited unless specifically authorized.  But we 
object to the following paragraph: 
 
P33,  ¶ 17.142.040 : Other Medical Marijuana Businesses Prohibited 
“All other types of marijuana businesses including those engaged in cultivation, manufacturing, testing 
facilities, distributors and transporting businesses are prohibited in all zones of the city.” 
 
We encourage the City to reconsider this provision of the ordinance.  Otherwise, the permitted 
dispensaries will be forced to buy from licensed vendors outside of the city and county.  We believe the 
City should undertake the regulation of Other Medical Marijuana Businesses to take advantage of local 
cannabis businesses who want to comply with the law through a permitting and licensing program. 
 
 
P34, Section 3: Zoning 
It is very difficult to find Nevada City properties in Light Industrial zoning, that have existing structures 
that also comply with the required setbacks for schools and parks.  A cannabis dispensary is a retail 
business. Given the limitations described above combined with the fact that a dispensary is a retail 
business, we recommend that the applicable zoning should include general commercial and retail 
services.  We believe this approach will have no greater impact on the community than existing drug 
stores and bars.  This statement is supported by empirical data from other medical marijuana 
dispensaries that members of our group have managed.   
 
P33, ¶  17.142.030: Location of Dispensary 
We don’t contest the proposed language requiring a 600-foot distance between a dispensary and 
schools and parks.  We discourage this distance being increased given that the 600-foot distance is part 
of the State’s enacted MCRSA regulations and Health and Safety Codes and is supported by the 
following organizations: 

 Chief of Police Association 

 League of California Cities & Counties 

 State Assembly, Senate and Governor’s office 
 
Pg 28, ¶ 13: Background Checks 
We concur with the current language but we recommend that the requirements be applied to owners 
and managers, but not to other employees.  We make this recommendation for sheer practicality, but 
also from the experience of members of the group who have managed dispensaries.   
 

Pg 19, ¶ B: Prohibition on Transfer of Medical Marijuana Business Permits 
There needs to be some differentiation between the transfer of the business permit and the shares 
held by the owners.  We agree with the stipulations on transferring a permit, but we also need to 
be able to transfer shares within the dispensary’s ownership group or to new investors.  At some 
point in the future, current owners will want to retire without shutting down the business.  They 
will need to bring on new board members and managers to keep the business operating.  We 
suggest that language be inserted that triggers a city review if the ownership of the dispensary 
group changes by over 50% of the total shares.  In this case, we propose that the City would 
approve new owners with approval not being unreasonably withheld.  The essence of our 
recommendation is that dispensary shares can be transferred, but the permit cannot be transferred 
to a new business entity without the approval of the City. 

Attachment 3.82



 
 
Pg 22, ¶ B: Security Measures 
We acknowledge the concerns of local law enforcement for adequate security.  We can comply with 
the ordinance’s requirement for providing video footage of outside cameras.  We may not be able 
to comply with the request for inside video footage if that disclosure violates HIPAA regulations and 
the Confidentiality of Medical Information Act.  
 
Pg 27, ¶  10: Minors 
There are cases where minors need access to cannabis and state laws allow a minor to enter a 
medical marijuana facility under certain conditions.  NCW founders have direct experience with this 
issue and we recommend the following procedure for minors: 

 Patient must be accompanied by their legal guardians  

 Dispensary manager meets with the parents who must have legal identification 

 Dispensary manager verifies patient’s birth certificate  

 Patient must have diagnoses from two doctors 
 
Pg 20, P ¶ E.1 & E.3: Limitations on City’s Liability 
The terms listed in these paragraphs shift all the liability for a wide range of legal challenges solely 
to the dispensary owners regardless of legal fault.  These terms would be very onerous to accept by 
any business in any industry.  It requires the business assume the City’s liabilities and exposes the 
dispensary business to legal challenges even if the City is at fault.  We recommend the language be 
modified to assign legal liability as appropriate to each of the involved entities. 
 
We appreciate the open process that the City is using to assess the potential for a cannabis 
dispensary.  We look forward to participating and to applying for a permit when they are available. 
 
Best Regards, 
 
Nevada City Wellness Group 
 

Harry Bennett, Founder, Floracy (CBD oil company) 
 
Kimberly Cargile, Director, A Therapeutic Alternative (Medicinal cannabis dispensary) 
 
Richard Miller, Manager, A Therapeutic Alternative (Medicinal cannabis dispensary) 
 
Ariana Moise, Founder Cannagirl (Cannabis consultant)) 
 
Kevin Bennett, Training Director, Training Zone (Fitness club) 
 
Phil Ritti, Principal, Excede Ventures (Business consultant) 

Attachment 3.83



Greetings Ms. Wolfson: 

 

My name is Alan Moore and I live in Nevada City. I wanted to give you feedback about the 

dispensary(s) under consideration in NC. I attended one meeting and was told I could also send 

an email w/ feedback. I finally found time to sit down and write you. I hope it is not too late. 

 

Background: 

 

I'm an MMJ patient with severe pain in my feet that makes it difficult to walk. While I'm not 

currently in a wheelchair I am on very strong and highly addictive prescription medicine. To 

lessen the amount of prescription meds I need to take both my regular doctor and an MMJ doctor 

recommend that I use cannabis. 

 

 

Dispensary: 

 

It has been very effective for me and I have been using a dispensary in San Francisco for about 

four years. Travelling to SF takes time, money and is particularly painful for me to travel by car 

due to my foot condition. I would really prefer to have a local dispensary which would also keep 

the fairly significant amount of money I spend on MMJ within the county/city. 

 

 

Location: 

 

I don't think it unreasonable to locate a dispensary within city limits but maybe not on the 

historic Broad Street strip, maybe on a side street or across the freeway (Stonehouse? lolz) I don't 

say this because I don't want it on the strip, I just think that it would be a reasonable compromise 

for those who don't want MMJ on Broad Street (nevermind the Bonanza market and bars selling 

booze but that's another story...) 

 

The location should be well lit and with good visibility so that law enforcement can patrol easily 

and ensure minors are not loitering in the area. 

 

 

Store: 

 

I would place some restrictions on neon and leaf symbols but still allow for some class and style. 

I suggest you take a look at this dispensary in SF as a model for how nice a dispensary can look: 

 

http://bit.ly/2iX6COM 

http://apothecariumsf.com/ 

 

You should try to find operators/owners who want to provide something as nice as that 

dispensary. 

 

Attachment 3.84

http://bit.ly/2iX6COM
http://apothecariumsf.com/


 

 

Day/Hours: 

 

I think it would depend on the actual location but I think having limited hours (not 24!) such as 

daily 8am - 9pm would be ok. I prefer not to shop at the big chain pharma which are open more 

but I also find the limited hours kept by local pharmacies (e.g. Dokimos) to be too restrictive 

given my work hours. A dispensary should be able to stay open the same days/hours as, for 

example, CVS. 

 

 

Taxes: 

 

The city and county should charge tax so that you can fund alcohol and drug rehabilitation as 

well as help solve the homeless problem. 

 

I think we need a dispensary in NC. As our local population ages I think we will see many more 

seniors start to utilize MMJ as a solution to some of the problems associated with aging. 

 

If you have any questions feel free to contact me at this email address or at 530-559-5447. 

 

Thanks for listening! 

 

Alan Moore 

Nevada City 

 

Attachment 3.85



Hello Nevada City, 
My name is Ken Currington, I own and operate the dental research and development company 
TruthPaste, in downtown Nevada City. I am writing to support the regulation of the cannabis 
industry in Nevada City and hopefully the County. I believe that freedom and liberty preceded all 
actions by our government and we as citizens can partake in activities and business the do not 
hurt any persons or property. Cannabis is well within these basics inalienable rights. 
I am writing with concerns with a specific part of the proposed legislation or unnamed 
Dispensary Draft in Section C that states that this Charter will prohibit all other aspects of 
cannabis. ( Reference page 6 sect. C) 

“ C. Marijuana cultivation and medical marijuana business activities prohibited unless specifically 
authorized by this Chapter. Except as specifically authorized in this Chapter, the cultivation, possession, 
manufacture, processing, storing, laboratory testing, labeling, transporting, dispensing, distribution, delivery, 
or sale of cannabis or a cannabis product is expressly prohibited in the City of Nevada City. “ 

I was told by Krystal( the lawyer who drafted this document) that is was to separate the 
dispensary from all other aspects of cannabis, but reading this section it seems to state that this 
legislation will put a ban on all other cannabis activities. 
I mentioned that cannabis is now legal to possess up to one ounce and grow up to 6 plants as 
stated in Prop 64 and she said it only was referring to commercial cannabis, which is also 
allowed via local government approval under Prop 64. I am still unclear as to why a dispensary 
ordinance would prohibit any other activity except to which it is dealing with. I also mentioned 
that Nevada City is in process of deciding how to regulate other commercial aspects of 
cannabis. 

Thank you for your service to our community, 
Ken Currington 
 

Attachment 3.86



From: Bob and Kay [mailto:zbobk@hotmail.com]  
Sent: Monday, January 16, 2017 8:00 PM 
To: Amy Wolfson <Amy.Wolfson@nevadacityca.gov> 
Subject: Fw: Marijuana Dispensary 

 

 

re: Nevada City Marijuana Dispensary 
 
    Medical usage of marijuana is worthy of serious consideration and appears to be very useful 
in some cases. Recreational usage, while approved by the recent vote, is quite another matter. 
Society is well aware of the dangers of smoking marijuana, both of direct usage and second 
hand smoke. (See Science News 01/12/2017, 11/14/2016, 03/24/2015  as well as many other 
sources). It is now well documented that smoking marijuana is at least as harmful as smoking 
tobacco and its second hand smoke is equally hazardous.  
    Nevada city has legislated against smoking in a significant area of the city. If we are to take 
seriously the need to reduce – hopefully eliminate – smoking we certainly should not be 
supporting the dispensing of marijuana within Nevada City. It only acts to aid and abet smoking 
and its well documented hazards. Dispensing marijuana is negatively impacting your health and 
mine, and the health of our children as well. 
    The laws regulating usage among minors and children are sketchy at best and need 
considerable refinement to be reasonably comprehensive. Allowing one or more dispensaries in 
Nevada City will have a negative effect on the city and cause far more problems than likely have 
been anticipated. 
    While I do not live within the boundaries of Nevada City I have been a member of the Nevada 
City United Methodist Church since 1987, have served as Chairperson of Trustees, manage the 
church website and am present there 2 or 3 times each week in helping with the Mission of the 
Church. As such I am impacted by the Marijuana Dispensary issue and its potential adverse 
impact on Nevada City and our church. 
 
Robert Zuelsdorf 

 

Attachment 3.87



From: Marylou Brigham [mailto:dr_d@mindspring.com]  
Sent: Monday, January 16, 2017 9:02 PM 
To: Amy Wolfson <Amy.Wolfson@nevadacityca.gov> 
Subject: Marijuana Dispensary 

 

The newspaper indicated public input would be accepted through January 16th. It put no time 

limit 

 
Dear Ms Wolfson and Mr Prestwich: 
 
     I have been a Nevada City resident and property owner since 1990. I live in Piety Hill. I am OPPOSED to 
locating one or more Marijuana Dispensaries in Nevada City. This idea of a dispensary was pushed thru by 2 
City Council members, Ms Senum and Ms Phelps, whom do not necessarily represent the majority of property 
owners and residents of Nevada City. This idea was not carefully researched nor studied. There was one public 
input meeting, which occurred near the holidays, and was poorly attended. No residents of the city were given 
any written notice of this hearing. Now the idea of a dispensary seems to be a"done deal". We are being asked 
for input for location by the planning commission but we, the residents of Nevada City have not had our due 
process, to decide if we even want the dispensary located here. The majority of my neighbors in Piety Hill are 
opposed to the dispensary. Who says locating it here is good for Nevada City? It will forever change the 
ambience of our city, and affect our Tourist industry, not necessarily for the better. Colorado's experience is 
remarkable: the projected revenues from the dispensaries are paltry, compared to what was promised. These 
are cash businesses, and tracking sales is difficult. The  Colorado cities that have allowed dispensaries, have 
found the resultant changes,not always palatable, and cities that have not allowed them are mostly happy with 
their decisions. Please send this back to the City Council for study and more public input from the residents. 
 
   Please, lets revisit the IDEA of a dispensary, after some careful research and study and AFTER we the 
residents of this city are given our due process. Either send a survey to all registered property owners/residents 
whether we, the residents approve of the idea or put it to a vote in the form of a REFERENDUM on a ballot, 
and let the residents who actually live in Nevada City approve/decline to have a dispensary. 
  Why not put 1 or more dispensaries in the Brunswick Commercial area, near Burger King, Kentucky Fried etc, 
and let them be transparently viewed by the public? 
 
    Lets approach this idea with diligence, but lets not be in a hurry. 
 
                    Sincerely 
 
                    George Heitzman 
                    Nevada City CA 
 

Attachment 3.88



From: Julie Patterson Hunter [mailto:juliepattersonhunter@gmail.com]  
Sent: Monday, January 16, 2017 9:36 AM 
To: Amy Wolfson <Amy.Wolfson@nevadacityca.gov> 
Subject: cannabis ordinance 

 

Ms. Wolfson; 

 

This is in response to the Planning Commission's request for public comment regarding the 

potential Medical Cannabis Dispensary Ordinance. 

 

Although I am against any marijuana dispensary to be located within the City of Nevada City 

limits, I doubt that the Council will take into consideration my concerns. After reading the 

proposed ordinance I am slightly relieved that dispensaries are being proposed for L1 zoned 

properties only. I am fully against any such type of business being located with the historical 

downtown area. 

However, I am opposed to allowing 18 year old young adults to work in such facilities. The age 

for visiting and/or working at such a business should be 21 and over. 

 

Julie Patterson Hunter 

308 Park Avenue 

Nevada City CA 95959 

 

Attachment 3.89



From: Jan Westmore [mailto:jwestmore@icloud.com]  
Sent: Monday, January 16, 2017 12:53 PM 
To: Amy Wolfson <Amy.Wolfson@nevadacityca.gov> 
Subject: Pot Dispensaries 
 
 
By the way, The Union had your email wrong. It left out the "." 
 
 
Marijuana Dispensary in Nevada City.....No No No 
 
The community has been very supportive of medical pot (sans high) for citizens with legitimate doctor's 
prescriptions. Appropriately, this type of pot should be sold via pharmacies. As to dispensaries for 
marijuana in general, who got the idea that we want such a store in Nevada City. It is not just a matter of 
what the residents of our tiny town desire. Decisions for Nevada City affect all those in the county who 
frequent our town. Their opinions are just as important and need to be tapped before some rash 
decision is made that we can never take back. 
 
Legal or not, we definitely do not want to permit smoking pot in public. We don't allow smoking 
cigarettes downtown and that smoke, though damaging to the lungs of everyone who walks by, does 
not get you high. We certainly do not want smoke from pot in the air we breathe, getting us high 
unvoluntarily, let alone making our children high. There is already justified concern as evidenced in 
states where pot was previously legalized that children of any age who use pot, or get high from 
someone else's use, are hampered in school. Not to mention increased traffic accidents. We have more 
than enough of those already. People say it is no worse than alcohol, but we don't want drunks in our 
town or driving on our roads. The accidents on highway 49 are bad enough without adding another 
contributor. 
 
 
In addition, we will draw the wrong kind of tourism. The entire nature of our historic town will change. 
Yes it will bring money to town, but not the kind of money we need or want. If people want to get high, 
let them do it at home, INSIDE, or in some other town. Let them buy it elsewhere. We do not want a 
congregation of potheads. We already have a serious problem with illegal drug sales and stoned 
individuals ruining our parks to the extent that families to not want to bring their children to play there. 
No more. We have had enough. 
 
No pot dispensaries in Nevada City! 
 
Jan and Norm Westmore 
Nevada City Residents 
 

Attachment 3.90



From: Marylou Brigham [mailto:dr_d@mindspring.com]  
Sent: Monday, January 16, 2017 10:13 PM 
To: Amy Wolfson <Amy.Wolfson@nevadacityca.gov> 
Subject: Public Comment-Marijuana Dispensary inside Nevada City Limits 
 
As a property owner within the city limits of Nevada City, I am requesting the opportunity to vote NO or 
YES on the ordinance to place a dispensary within Nevada City limits. 
 
What documentation do we have to support a dispensary? 
 
Do we have research from small towns in other states with and without dispensaries? 
 
What are the documented pros & cons to issues such as actual income vs expenses, effects on property 
values and tourism? 
 
It appears this ordinance is being rushed through the planning process without serious consideration to 
the impact it will have on Nevada City property owners and businesses. 
 
I believe all communication about an ordinance as potentially impactful as this needs to be mailed to all 
Nevada City property owners. 
 
Finally, meetings need to be held in the evenings so all stakeholders have the opportunity to attend and 
participate.  
 
Respectfully submitted by Marylou Brigham 
 

Attachment 3.91



From: Teresa Webb [mailto:peacewebbs@yahoo.com]  
Sent: Monday, January 16, 2017 11:07 PM 
To: Amy Wolfson <Amy.Wolfson@nevadacityca.gov> 
Subject: Cannabis Dispensary in Nevada City 

 

We just heard there is discussion of the possibility of a cannabis dispensary business opening in 

Nevada City and that today is the last day for input regarding this decision.  We are not opposed 

to cannabis dispensaries especially in light of the recent passing of recreationally marijuana in 

California.  However, having recently been to Oregon where it seems there are dispensaries on 

every corner and, from what we can tell, far more than are necessary to supply recreational 

marijuana to those who want it.  Just like alcohol, which is also legal, we don't want liquor stores 

up and down Broad Street (or Mill Street in Grass Valley) nor do we want them in residential 

neighborhoods.  It seems that there are other places in Nevada County where these businesses are 

better suited rather than cultural districts etc.  Additionally, shouldn't the residents of the 

particular city be invited to express their opinions through the voting process or at least through 

well published public forums where the actual city residents are given ample opportunity to 

express their opinions.  We are not a residents of Nevada City proper but do live in Nevada 

County and frequent Nevada City often.  We hope this letter will be considered in your decision 

to allow residents of at least the city if not the County to help decide where these legal businesses 

should be allowed. 

 

 

Thank you, 

 

 

Teresa and Walter Webb 

Rough and Ready 

530-272-8053 

 

Attachment 3.92

x-apple-data-detectors://1/
tel:530-272-8053


















RESOLUTION NO. 2017-XX

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE 
CITY OF NEVADA CITY, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, 
RECOMMENDING APPROVAL OF A NOTICE OF 

EXEMPTION  

(ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 9.22 OF TITLE 9 OF THE NEVADA 

CITY MUNICIPAL CODE ENTITLED “PROHIBITING MEDICAL 

MARIJUANA DISPENSARIES,” AND RENAMING IT “MEDICAL 

CANNABIS DISPENSARIES AND OTHER CANNABIS BUSINESSES AND 

ACTIVITY” AND ADDING CHAPTER 17.142 ENTITLED “MEDICAL 

CANNABIS USES AND ACTIVITY” TO THE NEVADA CITY MUNICIPAL 

CODE AND AMENDING CHAPTER 17.48 ENTITLED “LIGHT 

INDUSTRIAL ZONE”) 

WHEREAS, City planning and legal staff have reviewed the Ordinance Amending Chapter 

9.22 Of Title 9 Of The Nevada City Municipal Code Entitled “Prohibiting Medical Marijuana 

Dispensaries,” And Renaming It “Medical Cannabis Dispensaries And Other Cannabis 

Businesses And Activity” And Adding Chapter 17.142 Entitled “Medical Cannabis Uses And 

Activity” To The Nevada City Municipal Code And Amending Chapter 17.48 Entitled “Light 

Industrial Zone” (“Project”) and determined that it is exempt from review under the California 

Environmental Quality Act pursuant to Title 14, Chapter 3, California Code of Regulations: 
 CEQA Guidelines Section 15061 (b)(3) – Activity is not subject to CEQA because there is no 

possibility the project will have a significant effect on the environment. The ordinance permits only one 

medical cannabis dispensary which business will have impacts similar to traditional pharmacies which 

are already authorized within the City.  Furthermore, the ordinance contains requirements that prevent 

any potential impacts on the environment that may be unique to businesses involving medical cannabis;  

CEQA Guidelines Section 15183 (projects consistent with a community plan, general plan, or 

zoning) since the type of business permitted by the ordinance is consistent with those contemplated by 

general plan and zoning, such as traditional pharmacies; 

CEQA Guidelines Section 15301 (existing facilities) since the permitted medical cannabis 

dispensary business under the ordinance may locate in existing facilities, and any additions to structures 

would be expected to be also exempt under 15301;  

CEQA Guidelines Section 15303 (new construction or conversion of small structures).  The 

medical cannabis business will be established in an urban area, and given the build out of the existing 

city, and sufficient existing leasable property, the amount of construction that would occur is minimal to 

non-existent, and any such construction would be less than the thresholds established in Section 15303; 

and 

WHEREAS, a Notice of Exemption has been prepared for the Project; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Planning Commission of the City of Nevada City 
as follows: 

Attachment 4.1



Section 1. Based on the review and determination of the Planning Department, the Planning 
Commission of the City of Nevada City finds that the Project is exempt from review under the 
California Environmental Quality Act. 
 

Section 2. A Notice of Exemption is recommended for approval for the Project. 
 
Section 3. Upon approval of the Project by the City Council, the City Clerk may file the Notice 

of Exemption with the County Clerk of Nevada County and, if the Project requires a discretionary 
approval from any state agency, with the State Office of Planning and Research, pursuant to the 
provisions of Section 21152(b) of the Public Resources Code and the State EIR Guidelines adopted 
pursuant thereto. 

 
PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the Planning Commission of the City of Nevada 

City at a public meeting held on the 26th of January, 2017. 
 
 
       _______________________________________ 
       ____________________,CHAIRMAN 
ATTEST:   
 
 
By:  __________________________________      
        Secretary 

Attachment 4.2



 
NOTICE OF EXEMPTION 

   
 
 

TO:  Office of Planning and Research  FROM:  City of Nevada City 

  1400 Tenth Street       317 Broad Street 
  Sacramento, CA 95814      Nevada City, CA 95959 
 

 Nevada County Clerk/Recorder’s Office 

Environmental Filings 
Eric W. Rood Administrative Center 
950 Maidu Avenue, Nevada City CA 95959 

 
 
Project Title:  Ordinance Amending Nevada City Municipal Code to Add Chapter 17.140 entitled 
“Marijuana Cultivation” 
 
Project Address:  317 Broad Street, Nevada City, California 95959 
 
Project Location – City: City of Nevada City 
Project Location – County: Nevada 
 
Project Description:  The ordinance amends the Nevada City Municipal Code to add Chapter 17.140 
containing marijuana cultivation regulations.  Chapter 17.140 prohibits outdoor marijuana cultivation, 
and permits limited indoor cultivation by qualified patients and primary caregivers.   
 
Name of Public Agency Approving Project: City of Nevada City 
 
Name of Person or Agency Carrying Out Project:  City of Nevada City 
 
Exempt Status:  (Check One) 
  Ministerial (Section 21080(b)(1); 15268); 
  Declared Emergency (Section 21080(b)(3); 15269(a)); 
  Emergency Project (Section 21080(b)(4); 15269(b)(c)); 
     X  “Common Sense” Exception (Section 15061(b)(3)) 
__ X  Categorical Exemption.  Type and section numbers: 15183, 15301, 15303 
  Statutory Exemptions. State code number:  
 
Reasons why project is exempt: The project is an ordinance that amends Chapter 9.22 of Title 9 of 
the Nevada City Municipal Code entitled “Prohibiting Medical Marijuana Dispensaries,” and Renames It 
“Medical Cannabis Dispensaries and Other Cannabis Businesses and Activity” and adds Chapter 
17.142 entitled “Medical Cannabis Uses And Activity” to the Nevada City Municipal Code and amends 
Chapter 17.48 entitled “Light Industrial Zone” and may allow a medical cannabis dispensary for the 
purpose of providing cannabis products as medicine to qualified patients and primary caregivers similar 
to activity  provided by a pharmacy and subject to the requirements contained in the Chapter.  
Therefore, the project is exempt from the following sections of the CEQA Guidelines: (Title 14, Chapter 
3): 
 

A. The ordinance is exempt under Section 15061(b) (3) because it can be 
seen with certainty that there is no possibility that the activity in question may have a 
significant effect on the environment.  The ordinance permits only one medical cannabis 
dispensary which business will have impacts similar to traditional pharmacies which are 
already authorized within the City.  Furthermore, the ordinance contains requirements that 
prevent any potential impacts on the environment that may be unique to businesses 
involving medical cannabis.  For example, the ordinance establishes prohibitions on 

Attachment 4.3



nuisance odors, glare, excess energy usage, and establishes safety protections to prevent 
crime or deterioration of the business area into blight. Further, there is no possibility that 
this ordinance would create cumulative impacts that are significant because this ordinance 
only allows one medical cannabis dispensary, does not authorize construction or other 
related activities or any other activities that are not already permitted, except that the 
ordinance allows the same activities but with a different material (medical cannabis) that is 
being sold for medical use; there are no other significant impacts that could occur as a 
result of this ordinance, and there are no unusual circumstances that would cause any 
such significant impacts; 

 
B. The ordinance is also exempt under Section 15183 (projects consistent with 

a community plan, general plan, or zoning) since the type of business permitted by the 
ordinance is consistent with those contemplated by general plan and zoning, such as 
traditional pharmacies; 

 
C. The ordinance is also exempt under CEQA Guidelines Section 15301 

(existing facilities) since the permitted medical cannabis dispensary business under the 
ordinance may locate in existing facilities, and any additions to structures would be 
expected to be also exempt under 15301; and 

 
D. The ordinance is exempt under Section 15303 (new construction or 

conversion of small structures).  The medical cannabis business will be established in an 
urban area, and given the build out of the existing city, and sufficient existing leasable 
property, the amount of construction that would occur is minimal to non-existent, and any 
such construction would be less than the thresholds established in Section 15303. 

 
Lead Agency Contact Person: Amy Wolfson, City Planner  Number:     
 
Signature & Title:          Date:      
 

  Signed by Lead Agency     Signed by Applicant Date received for filing:    
 

Attachment 4.4



RESOLUTION NO. 2017-XX

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 

NEVADA CITY, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, RECOMMENDING AN 

ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 9.22 OF TITLE 9 OF THE 

NEVADA CITY MUNICIPAL CODE ENTITLED “PROHIBITING 

MEDICAL MARIJUANA DISPENSARIES,” AND RENAMING IT 

“MEDICAL CANNABIS DISPENSARIES AND OTHER CANNABIS 

BUSINESSES AND ACTIVITY” AND ADDING CHAPTER 17.142 

ENTITLED “MEDICAL CANNABIS USES AND ACTIVITY” TO THE 

NEVADA CITY MUNICIPAL CODE AND AMENDING CHAPTER 17.48 

ENTITLED “LIGHT INDUSTRIAL ZONE” 

The Planning Commission of the City of Nevada City finds and determines that: 

A. The City Council has directed the Planning Commission to explore the potential for

allowing a Medical Cannabis Dispensary within city limits; 

B. The recommendation to amend chapter 9.22 of title 9 of the Nevada City Municipal

Code entitled “Prohibiting Medical Marijuana Dispensaries,” and renaming it “Medical Cannabis 

Dispensaries and Other Cannabis Businesses and Activity” and adding chapter 17.142 entitled 

“Medical Cannabis Uses and Activity” to the Nevada City Municipal Code and amending chapter 

17.48 entitled “Light Industrial Zone” (“Ordinance”) provides regulations and standards in a 

manner that mitigates an immediate threat to the public health, safety, and welfare of current and 

future residents of the City, from the establishment of medical cannabis related businesses in the 

City in a manner that could lead to confusion, public harm, and possible violation of federal 

executive guidelines; 

C. The investigation and research of the therapeutic uses for medical cannabis and

natural cannabis-derived compounds continues to progress, with at least some demonstrated 

positive impact on users following the advisement and encouragement of their health care 

providers, for a variety of ailments, including severely debilitating and terminal illnesses; 

D. Supply chains for medical cannabis and cannabis-related products as they currently

exist, in the absence of state and local regulatory schemes, can and do benefit criminal elements to 

the detriment of residents of the State of California, the County of Nevada, and very likely the City 

of Nevada City, without full regard for public safety, health, and welfare issues;  

E. Establishment of reasonable land use controls and reasonable regulations on the

operation of medical cannabis-related businesses which are intended to operate in conjunction with 

the zoning and land use regulations of the City of Nevada City, are anticipated to address the 

negative impacts, nuisance impacts, and criminal impacts of unregulated cannabis-related 

businesses; and 

F. Medical Cannabis-related businesses will be subject to the zoning and land use

regulations of the zoning district in which such business establish and operate, as set forth in 

Attachment 5.1



Chapter 17 of the Nevada City Municipal Code (the Nevada City Zoning Code), and as otherwise 

established by the City; and 

G. The Ordinance is not considered a “project” under  California Environmental Quality Act

(CEQA) and even if it were to be considered  project under CEQA it would be exempt from review 

under CEQA pursuant to the following California Code of Regulations Sections: 

1. Section 15061 (b)(3) – Activity is not subject to CEQA because there is no possibility

the Ordinance will have a significant effect on the environment in that the ordinance

permits operation of a medical cannabis dispensary which will have impacts similar

to traditional pharmacies which are already authorized within the City;

2. Section 15183 (projects consistent with a community plan, general plan, or zoning)

since the type of business permitted by the ordinance is consistent with those

contemplated by general plan and zoning, such as traditional pharmacies;

3. Section 15301 (existing facilities) since the permitted medical cannabis dispensary

business under the ordinance may locate in existing facilities, and any additions to

structures would be expected to be also exempt under 15301; and

4. Section 15303 (new construction or conversion of small structures).  The medical

cannabis business will be established in an urban area, and given the build out of the

existing city, and sufficient existing leasable property, the amount of construction that

would occur is minimal to non-existent, and any such construction would be less than

the thresholds established in Section 15303.

H. The activities permitted under the Ordinance are consistent with and implement the

goals and policies of the Nevada City General Plan; 

Section 3. The Planning Commission hereby recommends City Council approval 

of the Ordinance Amending Ordinance amending chapter 9.22 of title 9 of the Nevada City 

Municipal Code entitled “Prohibiting Medical Marijuana Dispensaries,” and renaming it “Medical 

Cannabis Dispensaries And Other Cannabis Businesses And Activity” and adding chapter 17.142 

entitled “Medical Cannabis Uses And Activity” to the Nevada City Municipal Code and amending 

chapter 17.48 entitled “Light Industrial Zone”” in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and 

incorporated herein by this reference.     

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the Planning Commission of the City of Nevada 

City at a public meeting held on the 26th of January, 2017. 

_______________________________________ 

____________________,CHAIRMAN 

ATTEST:  

By:  __________________________________ 

        Secretary 

Attachment 5.2



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance Page 1 of 39 

ORDINANCE NO.__ __________ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 9.22 OF TITLE 9 OF THE NEVADA CITY 
MUNICIPAL CODE ENTITLED “PROHIBITING MEDICAL MARIJUANA 
DISPENSARIES,” AND RENAMING IT “MEDICAL MARIJUANA CANNABIS 
DISPENSARIES AND OTHER MARIJUANA CANNABIS BUSINESSES AND 
ACTIVITY”  AND ADDING CHAPTER 17.142 ENTITLED “MEDICAL MARIJUANA 
CANNABIS USES AND ACTIVITY” TO THE NEVADA CITY MUNICIPAL CODE AND 
AMENDING CHAPTER 17.48 ENTITLED “LIGHT INDUSTRIAL ZONE” 

WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City is a general law city organized pursuant to 
Article XI of the California Constitution; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the authority granted the City by Article XI, Sections 5 and 
7 of the California Constitution, the City has the power to make and enforce within its 
limits all ordinances and regulations in respect to municipal affairs not in conflict with 
general laws; and 

WHEREAS, comprehensive zoning regulations and regulations upon the use of 
land and property lie within the City’s police powers; and 

WHEREAS, on November 5, 1996, California voters approved Proposition 215, 
the Compassionate Use Act of 1996 (CUA), codified at California Health and Safety Code 
section 11362.5, the intent of which was to enable persons with a demonstrated need for 
marijuana for medical/therapeutic purposes, as recommended by a health care provider, 
to obtain and to use marijuana, or marijuana-derived compounds, under limited and 
specified circumstances; and 

WHEREAS, on January 1, 2004, Senate Bill 420 codified as California Health and 
Safety Code section 11362.7 et seq. and entitled the “Medical Marijuana Program Act” 
(MMPA) became law to clarify the scope of the CUA. Pursuant to California Health and 
Safety Code section 11362.77(a), a qualified patient or primary caregiver was permitted 
to possess no more than eight (8) ounces of dried marijuana plant material per patient. In 
addition, they were also able to maintain no more than six mature or twelve immature 
marijuana plants per patient unless a doctor authorized an additional amount; and 

WHEREAS, the CUA is limited in scope in that it only provides a defense from 
criminal prosecution for possession and cultivation of medical marijuana to qualified 
patients and their primary caregivers. The MMPA also is limited in scope in that it 
establishes a statewide identification program and affords qualified patients, persons with 
recommendation cards, and their primary caregivers, an affirmative defense to certain 
enumerated criminal sanctions that would otherwise apply to transporting, processing, 
administering or distributing marijuana; and 

WHEREAS, on October 9, 2015, Governor Brown signed into law the Medical 
Marijuana Regulation and Safety Act (MMRSA) which consisted of three interrelated 

Exhibit 1

Attachment 5.3



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 2 of 39 
 

pieces of legislation (SB 643, AB 243, and AB 266), intended to provide a comprehensive 
regulatory framework for the licensing, control, and taxation of medical marijuana related 
businesses in California; and 

 
WHEREAS, effective June 27, 2016, SB 837 changed the name of the Medical 

Marijuana Regulation and Safety Act to the Medical Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act 
(“MCRSA”).    

 
WHEREAS, the MCRSA expressly protects a City’s local licensing practices, 

zoning authority, and other local actions taken under the City’s constitutional municipal 
and police powers; and 
 

WHEREAS, the MCRSA contains statutory provisions that: 
 
(1) Allow local governments to enact ordinances expressing their intent to allow 

or prohibit the cultivation of marijuanacannabis and their intent to administer 
or not administer a conditional permit program pursuant to California Health 
and Safety Code section 11362.777 for the cultivation of 
marijuanacannabis; 

 
(2) Expressly provide that the Act does not supersede or limit local authority for 

local law enforcement activity, enforcement of local ordinances or 
enforcement of local permit or licensing requirements regarding 
marijuanacannabis per California Business and Professions Code section 
19315(a); 

 
(3) Expressly provide that the Act does not limit the civil or administrative 

authority or remedies of a local government provision of law regarding 
marijuanacannabis including, but not limited to, a local government’s right 
to make and to enforce within its limits all regulations not in conflict with 
general laws per California Business and Professions Code section 
19316(c); 

 
(4) Specifically requires, as a condition of state licensure, compliance with any 

and all local requirements for all cannabis-related operations; 
 

WHEREAS, the California Supreme Court has made clear that neither the CUA 
nor the MMPA expressly or impliedly preempts the authority of cities or counties, under 
their traditional land use and police powers, to allow, restrict, limit or entirely exclude 
facilities that distribute medical marijuana. The MMPA allowed cities and counties to 
adopt local ordinances that regulate the location, operation or establishment of medical 
marijuana collectives and to enforce such ordinances. (City of Riverside v. Inland Empire 
Patients Health and Wellness Center, Inc. (2013) 56 Cal.4th 729; Health and Safety Code 
section 11362.83).  The same authority encompasses the regulation, operation, or 
establishment of marijuana cultivation. (Maral v. City of Live Oak (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 
975.)  That authority remains undisturbed under MCRSA; and 

Attachment 5.4



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 3 of 39 
 

 
WHEREAS, marijuanacannabis remains an illegal substance under the Federal 

Controlled Substances Act, 21 USC 801 et seq., which makes it unlawful for any person 
to cultivate, manufacture, distribute or dispense, or possess with intent to manufacture, 
distribute or dispense marijuanacannabis. The Federal Controlled Substances Act 
contains no statutory exemption for the cultivation of marijuanacannabis for medical 
purposes.  Federal law lists marijuanacannabis as a Schedule I drug, meaning that it has 
a high potential for abuse, it has no currently accepted medical use in treatment, and 
there is a lack of accepted safety for use under medical supervision; and 
 

WHEREAS, despite this classification and treatment under federal law, federal 
executive and law enforcement agencies have issued memoranda and other guidelines 
allowing for the development of state-specific regulatory schemes that include the 
provision of marijuanacannabis and marijuanacannabis-derived products for medical 
purposes, as long as the administration of those schemes is consistent with the aims of 
federal law; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City has received inquiries from individuals and incorporated 
entities inquiring about the ability to open medical marijuanacannabis related businesses 
within the City, including dispensaries, cultivation locations, and 
manufacturing/processing businesses. Other than a general prohibition of dispensaries 
and cultivation, the City has not yet adopted land use controls or regulations or other 
requirements for the operation of these businesses once established; and 
 

WHEREAS, without sufficient regulations and standards in effect and which are 
enforceable pursuant to an adopted ordinance, there is a current and immediate threat to 
the public health, safety, and welfare of current and future residents of the City, from the 
establishment of medical marijuanacannabis related businesses in the City in a manner 
which is likely to lead to confusion, public harm, and possible violation of federal executive 
guidelines; and 
 

WHEREAS, the California Attorney General’s 2008 Guidelines for the Security and 
Non-Diversion of Marijuana Grown for Medical Use recognizes that cultivation or other 
concentration of marijuana in any location or premises without adequate security 
increases the risk that nearby homes or businesses may be impacted negatively by 
nuisance activity such as loitering, or more significant levels of crime; and 
 

WHEREAS, Nevada City Municipal Code Section 17.04.040 provides that no land 
may be used for any purpose other than as permitted and in conformance with the City’s 
zoning laws and other ordinances; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council recognizes that the investigation and research of the 
therapeutic uses for medical marijuanacannabis and natural marijuanacannabis-derived 
compounds continues to progress, with at least some demonstrated positive impact on 
users following the advisement and encouragement of their health care providers, for a 
variety of ailments, including severely debilitating and terminal illnesses; and 

Attachment 5.5



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 4 of 39 
 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council recognizes, upon consultation with law enforcement, 

that supply chains for medical marijuanacannabis and marijuanacannabis-related 
products as they currently exist, in the absence of state and local regulatory schemes, 
can and do benefit criminal elements to the detriment of residents of the State of 
California, the County of Nevada, and very likely the City of Nevada City, without full 
regard for public safety, health, and welfare issues; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council recognizes the individual freedom and privacy 
interests that surround the choice of what to take into one’s body, following consultation 
with one’s chosen health care provider(s), and for one’s own health-related purposes, 
and in a manner that is responsible in its impacts on others in the community, including 
children; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council also recognizes its obligation to provide guidance on 
appropriate community standards of health, safety, and welfare, and, where appropriate, 
to protect residents—especially residents of particularly vulnerable populations like 
children—from violation and abuse of those community standards; and  
 

WHEREAS, the City Council desires to establish reasonable land use controls and 
reasonable regulations on the operation of medical marijuanacannabis related 
businesses which are intended to operate in conjunction with the zoning and land use 
regulations of the City of Nevada City, and which are intended to address the negative 
impacts, nuisance impacts, and criminal impacts of unregulated cannabis-related 
businesses; and 
 

WHEREAS, medical marijuanacannabis related businesses will be subject to the 
zoning and land use regulations of the zoning district in which such business establish 
and operate, as set forth in Chapter 17 of the Nevada City Municipal Code (the Nevada 
City Zoning Code), and as otherwise established by the City; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the activities permitted under this ordinance 
are consistent with and implement the goals and policies of the Nevada City General 
Plan; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the adoption of this ordinance is not a 
“project” under California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), because the ordinance will 
allow for the establishment of one medical marijuanacannabis dispensary to operate in a 
similar manner as traditional pharmacies and/or plant nurseries which will not cause a 
direct physical change in the environment nor a reasonably foreseeable indirect physical 
change in the environment (Public Resources Code section 21065) (See Union of Medical 
Marijuana Patients Inc. v. City of San Diego (California Coastal Commission) (2016) 2016 
Cal.App. LEXIS 864.)   

 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds that even if the ordinance if found to be a Project 

Under CEQA, the adoption of this ordinance is exempt from environmental review under 

Attachment 5.6



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 5 of 39 
 

pursuant to the following sections of the CEQA Guidelines, 14 Cal. Code of Regulations, 
Chapter 3: 

 
A. The ordinance is exempt under Section 15061(b) (3) because it can be seen 

with certainty that there is no possibility that the activity in question may have a significant 
effect on the environment.  The ordinance permits only one medical marijuanacannabis 
dispensary which business will have impacts similar to traditional pharmacies which are 
already authorized within the City.  Furthermore, the ordinance contains requirements 
that prevent any potential impacts on the environment that may be unique to businesses 
involving medical marijuanacannabis.  For example, the ordinance establishes 
prohibitions on nuisance odors, glare, excess energy usage, and establishes safety 
protections to prevent crime or deterioration of the business area into blight. Further, there 
is no possibility that this ordinance would create cumulative impacts that are significant 
because this ordinance only allows one medical marijuanacannabis dispensary, does not 
authorize construction or other related activities or any other activities that are not already 
permitted, except that the ordinance allows the same activities but with a different material 
(medical marijuanacannabis) that is being sold for medical use; there are no other 
significant impacts that could occur as a result of this ordinance, and there are no unusual 
circumstances that would cause any such significant impacts; 

 
B. The ordinance is also exempt under Section 15183 (projects consistent with 

a community plan, general plan, or zoning) since the type of business permitted by the 
ordinance is consistent with those contemplated by general plan and zoning, such as 
traditional pharmacies; 

 
C. The ordinance is also exempt under CEQA Guidelines Section 15301 

(existing facilities) since the permitted medical marijuanacannabis dispensary business 
under the ordinance may locate in existing facilities, and any additions to structures would 
be expected to be also exempt under 15301; and 

 
D. The ordinance is exempt under Section 15303 (new construction or 

conversion of small structures).  The medical marijuanacannabis business will be 
established in an urban area, and given the build out of the existing city, and sufficient 
existing leasable property, the amount of construction that would occur is minimal to non-
existent, and any such construction would be less than the thresholds established in 
Section 15303. 

 
 

NOW THEREFORE, The City Council of the City of Nevada City does ordain as 
follows:  
 
SECTION 1.Chapter 9.22 of the Nevada City Municipal Code entitled “Medical Marijuana 
Dispensaries,” is hereby repealed in its entirety, shall be retitled “Medial 
MarijuanaCannabis Dispensaries and other MarijuanaCannabis Businesses and Activity” 
and replaced with the following language: 
 

Attachment 5.7



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 6 of 39 
 

 
Chapter 9.22 MEDICAL MARIJUANACANNABIS DISPENSARIES AND OTHER 
MARIJUANACANNABIS BUSINESSES AND ACTIVITY. 
 
9.22.010.  General Provisions. 
 
A.  Purpose and Intent. 
 
It is the purpose and intent of this Chapter to accommodate the needs of medically-ill 
persons in need of marijuanacannabis for medical purposes, as advised and 
recommended by their health care provider(s), while imposing regulations on the use of 
land to protect the City’s neighborhoods, residents, and businesses from negative 
impacts. It is a further purpose and intent of this Chapter to regulate the cultivation, 
manufacturing, processing, testing, transporting, delivery, and distribution of cannabis 
and cannabis-related products in a manner which is responsible, which protects the 
health, safety, and welfare of the residents of Nevada City, and to enforce rules and 
regulations consistent with state law.  In part to meet these objectives, an annual permit 
shall be required in order to own and/or to operate a medical marijuanacannabis business 
within Nevada City. Nothing in this Chapter is intended to authorize the possession, use, 
or provision of marijuanacannabis for purposes which violate state or federal law. The 
provisions of this Chapter are in addition to any other permits, licenses and approvals 
which may be required to conduct business in the City, and are in addition to any permits, 
licenses and approval required under state, county, or other law. 
 
B. Legal Authority.  
 
Pursuant to Sections 5 and 7 of Article XI of the California Constitution, and the provisions 
of the Medical Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act (hereinafter “MCRSA”), the City of 
Nevada City is authorized to adopt ordinances that establish standards, requirements and 
regulations for local licenses and permits for cannabis and cannabis-related activity. Any 
standards, requirements, and regulations regarding health and safety, security, and 
worker protections established by the State of California, or any of its departments or 
divisions, shall be the minimum standards applicable in the City of Nevada City to 
cannabis, and/or cannabis-related activity. 
 
C. Marijuana cultivation and medical marijuana business activities prohibited unless 
specifically authorized by this ChapterOther Medical MarijuanaCannabis Businesses 
Prohibited.   
 
The following types of medical marijuanacannabis businesses are prohibited from 
operating within the City: (a) Except as specifically authorized in this Chapter, theMedical 
marijuanacannabis  cultivation businesses;, (b) medical marijuanacannabis possession, 
manufacturmanufacturing businesses; and (c) medical marijuanacannabis testing 
facilitiese, processing, storing, laboratory testing, labeling, transporting, dispensing, 
distribution, delivery, or sale of cannabis or a cannabis product is expressly prohibited in 
the City of Nevada City. .  Medical marijuanacannabis distributors licensed by other 

Attachment 5.8



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 7 of 39 
 

jurisdictions are permitted to operate within the City as necessary to provide licensed 
medical marijuanacannabis dispensaries with inventory; however, no medical 
marijuanacannabis distribution business is permitted to establish its primary place of 
business within the City.   
 
D. Compliance with Laws. 
 
It is the responsibility of the owners and operators of the medical marijuanacannabis 
business to ensure that it is, at all times, operating in a manner compliant with all 
applicable state and local laws, and any regulations promulgated thereunder. Nothing in 
this Chapter shall be construed as authorizing any actions which violate federal, state law 
or local law with respect to the operation of a medical marijuanacannabis business. It 
shall be the responsibility of the owners and the operators of the medical 
marijuanacannabis business to ensure that the medical marijuanacannabis business is, 
at all times, operating in a manner compliant with all applicable federal, state and local 
laws, the 2008 Attorney General Guidelines, any subsequently enacted state law or 
regulatory, licensing, or certification requirements, and any specific, additional operating 
procedures or requirements which may be imposed as conditions of approval of the 
medical marijuanacannabis business permit. Nothing in this Chapter shall be construed 
as authorizing any actions which violate federal or state law with regard to the operation 
of a medical marijuanacannabis business. 
 
9.22.020. Definitions. 
 
When used in this Chapter, the following words shall have the meanings ascribed to them 
as set forth herein. Any reference to California statutes includes any regulations 
promulgated thereunder, and is deemed to include any successor or amended version of 
the referenced statute or regulatory provision. 
 

(a) “Cannabis” means all parts of the Cannabis sativa Linnaeus, Cannabis 
indica, or Cannabis ruderalis, whether growing or not; the seeds thereof; 
the resin, whether crude or purified, extracted from any part of the plant; 
and every compound, manufacture, salt, derivative, mixture, or preparation 
of the plant, its seeds, or resin. “Cannabis” also means the separated resin, 
whether crude or purified, obtained from marijuana. “Cannabis” also means 
marijuana as defined by Section 11018 of the California Health and Safety 
Code as enacted by Chapter 14017 of the Statutes of 1972. “Cannabis” 
does not include the mature stalks of the plant, fiber produced from the 
stalks, oil or cake made from the seeds of the plant, any other compound, 
manufacture, salt, derivative, mixture, or preparation of the mature stalks 
(except the resin extracted therefrom), fiber, oil, or cake, or the sterilized 
seed of the plant which is incapable of germination. For the purpose of this 
Chapter, “cannabis” does not mean industrial hemp as that term is defined 
by Section 81000 of the California Food and Agricultural Code or Section 
11018.5 of the California Health and Safety Code. 

 

Attachment 5.9



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 8 of 39 
 

(b) “Cannabis concentrate” means manufactured cannabis that has undergone 
a process to concentrate the cannabinoid active ingredient, thereby 
increasing the product’s potency. An edible medical cannabis product is not 
considered food, as defined by Section 109935 of the California Health and 
Safety Code, or a drug, as defined by Section 109925 of the California 
Health and Safety Code.  

 
(c) “Caregiver” or “primary caregiver” has the same meaning as that term is 

defined in Section 11362.7 of the California Health and Safety Code. 
 

(d) “City” or “City of Nevada City” means the City of Nevada City, a California 
general law City.  

 
(e) “Cultivation” means any activity, whether occurring indoors or outdoors, 

involving the propagation, planting, growing, harvesting, drying, curing, 
grading, and/or trimming of cannabis plants or any part thereof for any 
purpose, including medical marijuana. 

 
(f) “Cultivation site” means a facility where medical cannabis is cultivated, 

propagated, planted, grown, harvested, dried, cured, graded, or trimmed, or 
that does all or any combination of those activities. 

 
(g) “Delivery” means the commercial transfer of medical cannabis or medical 

cannabis products from a dispensary, up to an amount determined to be 
authorized by the State of California, or any of its departments or divisions, 
to anyone for any purpose. “Delivery” also includes the use by a dispensary 
of any technology platform owned, controlled, and/or licensed by the 
dispensary, or independently licensed by the State of California under the 
MCRSA (as the same may be amended from time-to-time), that enables 
anyone to arrange for or facilitate the commercial transfer by a licensed 
dispensary of medical cannabis or medical cannabis products. 

 
(h) “Dispensary” means a medical marijuanacannabis business facility where 

cannabis, medical cannabis products, or devices for the use of medical 
cannabis or medical cannabis products are offered, either individually or in 
any combination, for retail sale, including an establishment (whether fixed 
or mobile) that delivers, pursuant to express authorization, medical 
cannabis and medical cannabis products as part of a retail sale. 

 
(i) “Dispensing” means any activity involving the retail sale of medical cannabis 

or medical cannabis products from a dispensary. 
 

(j) “Distribution” means the procurement, sale, and transport of medical 
cannabis or medical cannabis products between entities licensed pursuant 
to the MCRSA and any subsequent State of California legislation regarding 
the same. 

Attachment 5.10



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 9 of 39 
 

 
(k) “Distributor” means a person engaged in the business of purchasing 

medical cannabis from a licensed cultivator, or medical cannabis products 
from a license manufacturer, for sale to a licensed dispensary.  

 
(l) “Dried flower” means all dead medical cannabis that has been harvested, 

dried, cured, or otherwise processed, excluding leaves and stems. 
 

(m) “Edible cannabis product” means manufactured cannabis that is intended 
to be used, in whole or in part, for human consumption. An edible medical 
cannabis product is not considered food as defined by Section 109935 of 
the California Health and Safety Code or a drug as defined by Section 
109925 of the California Health and Safety Code. 

 
(n) “Live plants” means living medical cannabis flowers and plants, including 

seeds, sprouts, immature plants (including unrooted clones), and vegetative 
stage plants. 

 
(o) “Manufacturer” means a person that conducts the production, preparation, 

propagation, or compounding of manufactured medical cannabis, as 
defined in this section, or medical cannabis products either directly or 
indirectly or by extraction methods, or independently by means of chemical 
synthesis at a fixed location that packages or repackages medical cannabis 
or medical cannabis products or labels or relabels its container.  

 
(p)  “Manufactured cannabis” means raw cannabis that has undergone a 

process whereby the raw agricultural product has been transformed into a 
concentrate or manufactured product intended for internal consumption or 
topical application. 

 
(q) “Manufacturing site” means a location that produces, prepares, propagates, 

or compounds medical cannabis or medical cannabis products, directly or 
indirectly, by extraction methods, independently by means of chemical 
synthesis, or by a combination of extraction and chemical synthesis. 

 
(r) “Marijuana” means “cannabis,” as that term is defined in this Chapter.    

 
(s) “Medical cannabis”, “medical marijuana,” “medical cannabis product” or 

“cannabis product” means a product containing cannabis, including, but not 
limited to, concentrates and extractions, intended to be sold for use by 
medical cannabis patients in California pursuant to the Compassionate Use 
Act of 1996 (Proposition 215), found at Section 11362.5 of the California 
Health and Safety Code (as the same may be amended from time-to-time). 
For purposes of this Chapter, “medical cannabis” does not include industrial 
hemp as defined by Section 81000 of the California Food and Agricultural 
Code or Section 11018.5 of the California Health and Safety Code. 

Attachment 5.11



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 10 of 39 
 

 
(t) “Medical marijuanacannabis activity” includes cultivation, manufacture, 

processing, laboratory testing, transporting, delivery, distribution, or sale of 
medical cannabis or a medical cannabis product, within the meaning of 
California Business and Professions Code 19300 et seq.  

 
(u) “Medical marijuanacannabis business” means any business or operation 

which engages in medical marijuanacannabis activity. 
 

(v) “Medical marijuanacannabis business permit” means a regulatory permit 
issued by the City of Nevada City pursuant to this Chapter to a medical 
marijuanacannabis business, and is required before any medical 
marijuanacannabis activity may be conducted in the City.  The initial permit 
and annual renewal of a medical marijuanacannabis business permit is 
made expressly contingent upon the business’ ongoing compliance with all 
of the requirements of this Chapter and any regulations adopted by the City 
governing the medical marijuanacannabis activity at issue.  

 
(w) “Patient” or “qualified patient” shall have the same definition as California 

Health and Safety Code Section 11362.7 et seq., as it may be amended, 
and which means a person who is entitled to the protections of California 
Health & Safety Code Section 11362.5. For purposes of this ordinance, 
qualified patient shall also refer to qualified patients who have obtained an 
identification card from the State Department of Health Services, as that 
term is defined by California Health and Safety Code Section 11362.7 et 
seq.  

 
(x) “Person” means an individual, firm, partnership, joint venture, association, 

corporation, limited liability company, estate, trust, business trust, receiver, 
syndicate, or any other group or combination acting as a unit and includes 
the plural as well as the singular number. 

 
(y) “Person with an identification card” shall have the meaning given that term 

by California Health and Safety Code Section 11362.7. 
 
(z) “State License” means a permit or license issued by the State of California, 

or one of its departments or divisions, under MCRSA to engage in medical 
marijuanacannabis activity. 

 
(aa) “Topical cannabis” means a product intended for external use. A topical 

cannabis product is not considered a drug as defined by Section 109925 of 
the California Health and Safety Code. 

 
(bb) “Testing laboratory” means a facility, entity, or site that offers or performs 

tests of medical cannabis or medical cannabis products and that is both of 
the following: 

Attachment 5.12



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 11 of 39 
 

 
(1) Accredited by an accrediting body that is independent from all other 

persons involved in the medical cannabis industry in the state. 
 

(2) Registered with the State Department of Public Health. 
 

(cc) “Transport” means the transfer of medical cannabis or medical cannabis 
products from the permitted business location of one licensee to the 
permitted business location of another licensee, for the purposes of 
conducting medical marijuanacannabis activity authorized by the MCRSA. 

 
(dd)  “Transporter” means a person authorized to transport medical cannabis or 

medical cannabis products in amounts authorized by the State of California, 
or by one of its departments or divisions under the MCRSA. 

 
 
9.22.030.  Medical MarijuanaCannabis Business Permits Required for 
Owner/Operator; Requirements for Medical MarijuanaCannabis Work Permit 
Required forDispensary Employees. 
 
A. Medical MarijuanaCannabis Business Permit Required to Engage in Medical 
MarijuanaCannabis Business. 
 

(1) a) No person may engage in any medical marijuanacannabis business 
or in any medical marijuanacannabis activity within the City of Nevada City 
including cultivation, manufacture, processing, laboratory testing, 
transporting, dispensing, distribution, or sale of medical cannabis or a 
medical cannabis product unless the person (1) has a valid medical 
marijuanacannabis business permit from the City of Nevada City and (2) is 
currently in compliance with all applicable state and local laws and 
regulations pertaining to the medical marijuanacannabis business and the 
medical marijuanacannabis business activities, including the duty to obtain 
any required state licenses.  

 
(2b) Until Health & Safety Code Section 11362.775, subdivision (a), is repealed, 

the City intends that persons eligible to operate collectives or cooperatives 
under that subdivision shall be eligible to apply for a City permit to conduct 
medical marijuanacannabis activities, but only to the degree those activities 
are authorized under state law for collectives and cooperatives.  When the 
Health & Safety Code Section 11362.775, subdivision (a), is repealed, or as 
soon as collectives and cooperatives are no longer permitted under state 
law, any City permit holder operating as a collective or cooperative who has 
not already obtained a state license for the medical marijuanacannabis 
business activities they are engaged in shall automatically forfeit his or her 
City medical marijuanacannabis business permit.  At that point they shall no 
longer be authorized to engage in any medical marijuanacannabis activities 

Attachment 5.13



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 12 of 39 
 

in the City until they obtain both a City issued medical marijuanacannabis 
business permit and a state license for that medical marijuanacannabis 
activity.        

 
--OPTION 1 FOR REGULATING EMPLOYEES- REQUIRE PERMIT FROM CITY 

 
 
 
B. Medical MarijuanaCannabis Employee Permit Required. 
 
 1. Any person who is an employee or who otherwise works or volunteers within 
a medical marijuanacannabis business must be legally authorized to do so under 
applicable state law.  Employees, workers, or volunteers at a business that is permitted 
by the City of Nevada City as a medical marijuanacannabis dispensary operating 
pursuant to  Health & Safety Code section 11362.775 (a) as a collective or cooperative 
until that subsection is repealed must be qualified patients or primary caregivers as 
required by state law. 
 

2. Any person who is an employee or who otherwise works or volunteers within 
a medical marijuanacannabis business must obtain a medical marijuanacannabis 
employee work permit from the City prior to performing any work at any medical 
marijuanacannabis business.  
 

3. Applications for medical marijuanacannabis employee work permits shall 
be developed and made available by the City Manager, and shall include, but not be 
limited to, the following information:  
 

(a1) Name, address, and phone number of the applicant; 
 

(b2) Age and verification of applicant.  A copy of birth certificate or other 
proof that the applicant is at least eighteen (18) years of age must be 
submitted with the application; 

 
(c3) Name, address of the medical marijuanacannabis businesses where 

the person will be employed, and the name of the primary manager 
of that business; 

 
(d4) A list of any misdemeanor or felony crimes for which the applicant 

has been convicted; 
 

(e5) Name, address, and contact person for any previous employers from 
which the applicant was fired, resigned, or asked to leave and the 
reasons for such dismissal or firing; 

 

Attachment 5.14



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 13 of 39 
 

(f6) The application shall be accompanied by fingerprints and a recent 
photograph of the applicant in a form and manner as required by the 
City Manager or his/her designee(s)a completed Live Scan form; 

 
(g7) A signed statement under penalty of perjury that the information 

provided is true and correct;.   
 

(h8) If applicable, verification that the applicant is a qualified patient or 
primary caregiver; and. 

 
(i9) A fee paid in an amount set by resolution of the City Council in an 

amount necessary to cover the costs of administering the employee 
work permit programs. The fee is non-refundable and shall not be 
returned in the event the work permit is denied or revoked.  

 
4. The City Manager or his or her designee shall review the application for 

completeness, shall work with the police department to conduct a background check to 
be conducted pursuant to California Penal Code sections 11105(b)(11) and 13300(b)(11) 
which authorizes city authorities to access state and local summary criminal history 
information for employment, licensing, or certification purposes and authorizes access to 
federal level criminal history information by transmitting fingerprint images and related 
information to the Department of Justice to be transmitted to the Federal Bureau of 
Investigation to verify the criminal record, and shall contact previous employers from 
which the applicant was fired or resigned in order to determine whether the applicant was 
convicted of a crime or left a previous employer for reasons that show the applicant: 

 
(a) Is dishonest or untrustworthy; or 

 
(b) Was convicted of a felony, a violent crime, or crime of moral 

turpitude. 
 
If the City Manager or his or her designee discovers  documented evidence showing that 
the applicant was terminated or resigned from previous employment for dishonest or 
untrustworthy conduct that would indicate that the employee may not be trusted to follow 
all of the requirements of this Chapter and other applicable laws pertaining to the 
operation of medical marijuanacannabis dispensaries,  or if the employee has been 
convicted of any of the types of crimes described in subdivision (b) above, the City 
Manager or his or designee may deny the permit on those grounds.   
 

5. The City Manager shall issue the medical marijuanacannabis work permit 
or a written denial to the applicant within ninety (90) days of the date the application was 
deemed complete.    The City Manager shall issue a temporary work permit valid for no 
more than ninety (90) days to employees who have filed a completed application for an 
employee work permit.  The employee may begin work with the temporary work permit 
while the City Manager or his or designee conducts the background investigation and 
completes the review of the application.  The temporary work permit shall automatically 

Attachment 5.15



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 14 of 39 
 

and immediately be revoked upon notification that City has denied of the application for 
the work permit application or upon ninety (90) days, whichever occurs first.   
 

6. A work permit shall be valid for a twelve (12) month period and must be 
renewed on an annual basis.  Renewal applications shall contain all the information 
required for initial applications, including the payment of a renewal application fee in an 
amount to be set by resolution of the City Council.   
 

7. In the event a person changes employment from one medical 
marijuanacannabis business in the City to another, the work permit holder shall notify the 
City Manager or his/her designee(s) in writing of the change within ten (10) days, or the 
work permit shall be suspended or revoked and such person shall not be permitted to 
work at any medical marijuanacannabis business in the City. 
 
8. The City may immediately revoke the medical marijuanacannabis work permit 
should the permit holder be convicted of a crime listed in subsection (c) above.   If facts 
become known to the City Manager or his/her designee that the permit holder has 
engaged in activities showing that the he or she is dishonest or untrustworthy tending to 
show that the employee may not be trusted to uphold the requirements of this Chapter or 
other laws, the medical marijuanacannabis work permit shall be immediately suspended.  
The employee shall have ten (10) days from the suspension to request a hearing to 
appeal the suspension of the medical marijuanacannabis work permit.  If the employee 
does not request a hearing to appeal the suspension, the work permit shall be revoked at 
the end of the ten (10) appeal hearing.  If the employee requests an appeal hearing, the 
hearing shall be held by the City Manager or his or her designee within thirty (30) days 
from the date of the appeal hearing request is made.  The City Manager shall hear 
evidence of the alleged dishonest or untrustworthy conduct, and shall hear a response 
from the employee along with evidence refuting or explaining the allegations.  At the 
conclusion of the hearing, the City Manager or his or her designee shall render his or her 
decision in writing whether to overturn the suspension and reinstate the employee work 
permit, or to revoke the work permit within ten (10) days of the hearing date.  The decision 
shall be fair and well-reasoned, based on the credibility of the evidence presented at the 
hearing.    The decision of the City Manager shall be final.    
 

9. The City Manager or his/her designee(s) is hereby authorized to promulgate 
all regulations necessary to implement the work permit process and requirements.  
 

10. The applicant may appeal the denial or revocation of a medical 
marijuanacannabis work permit by filing a notice of appeal with the City Clerk within ten 
(10) days of the date the applicant received the notice of denial, which appeal shall be 
conducted as set forth in Section 9.22.060 entitled “Appeals” of this Chapter.    
 

11. The City Manager or his or her designee shall issue a permit in the form of 
a personal identification card that can be worn by the employee.  The personal 
identification card shall be worn approximately chest-high on their outermost garment, in 

Attachment 5.16



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 15 of 39 
 

a prominent and visible location. The identification card shall be maintained in good and 
readable condition at all times. 

 
 -OPTION 2 – REQUIRE DISPENSARY OWNER TO VERIFY CRIMINAL 
BACKGROUND OF EMPLOYEES- 
 
(B9.22.030 MEDICAL CANNABIS DISPENSARY EMPLOYEE QUALIFICATIONS  
 
(A) Medical Cannabis Dispensary Employee Qualifications and Training; Employer 
Obligations to Monitor Employee Compliance.  
 

(1) The owner or operator of a medical cannabis dispensary shall ensure that 
all employees of the dispensary meet the following qualifications:  
 
  (a1) Employees shall be at least eighteen (18) years of age.;  
 
  (b2) Employees shall not have been convicted of any misdemeanor or 
felony crime that would indicate that the employee may be unreliable or untrustworthy to 
comply with all the requirements of this Chapter 9.22.   
 

(2) Medical cannabis dispensary owners or operators shall ensure that employees 
are educated as to all the requirements of this Chapter 9.22 and applicable state law 
requirements for medical cannabis dispensaries and that they adhere to all applicable 
requirements.   

 
(3) Medical cannabis dispensary owners or operators shall adopt adequate 

mechanisms to monitor employee activities, so that the employer may become 
immediately informed may be likely to steal cannabis or related products, or may be likely 
to dispense cannabis or related products to unauthorized persons including minors, or 
that he or she may not be able to comply any other requirements of this Chapter 9.22 of 
the Nevada City Municipal Code of employee theft of cannabis or products containing 
cannabis or its derivatives and of any employee act involving transfer of cannabis or 
products containing cannabis to any unauthorized person including minors.   Employers 
should adopt employment policies that include provisions that proof of employee theft or 
of dispensing of cannabis to unauthorized persons shall be grounds for immediate 
dismissal and may also include criminal prosecution. 
 

(4) (B) Failure of the owner or operator to take reasonable steps to comply 
with these requirements shall be grounds for permit revocation.   

 
 
 

 
-OPTION 3 – REQUIRE DISPENSARY OWNER TO ENSURE EMPLOYEES COMPLY 
WITH ORDINANCE- 
 

Attachment 5.17



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 16 of 39 
 

(B) Medical Cannabis Dispensary Employee Qualifications and Training; Employer 
Obligations to Monitor Employee Compliance.  
 

(1) The owner or operator of a medical cannabis dispensary shall ensure that 
all employees comply with all the requirements of this Chapter 9.22.   
 

(2) Medical cannabis dispensary owners or operators shall ensure that employees 
are educated as to all the requirements of this Chapter 9.22 and applicable state law 
requirements for medical cannabis dispensaries and that they adhere to all applicable 
requirements.   

 
(3) Medical cannabis dispensary owners or operators shall adopt adequate 

mechanisms to monitor employee activities, so that the employer may become 
immediately informed of employee theft of cannabis or products containing cannabis or 
its derivatives and of any employee act involving transfer of cannabis or products 
containing cannabis to any unauthorized person including minors.   Employers should 
adopt employment policies that include provisions that proof of employee theft or of 
dispensing of cannabis to unauthorized persons shall be grounds for immediate dismissal 
and may also include criminal prosecution[A1]. 
 

(4) Failure of the owner or operator to take reasonable steps to comply with 
these requirements shall be grounds for permit revocation.   
 
 
9.22.040.  MEDICAL MARIJUANACANNABIS DISPENSARIES  
 
The City may authorize one (1) medical marijuanacannabis dispensary to operate within 
the City of Nevada City.  The medical marijuanacannabis dispensary must obtain a 
medical marijuanacannabis business permit from the City before commencing 
operations, must be in compliance with all applicable state and federal laws pertaining to 
its operation, including obtaining all necessary licenses from the state, and shall comply 
with all applicable operational and zoning requirements set forth in the Nevada City 
Municipal Code.  Nothing in this Chapter creates a mandate that the City Council must 
issue a medical marijuanacannabis business permit to a medical marijuanacannabis 
dispensary. 
 
 
9.22.050. Application for Medical MarijuanaCannabis Business Permit: Renewal 
Applications; and Effect of Revocation or Suspension of State License. 
 
A. Initial Application Procedure.  
 

(1) The City Council shall adopt by resolution the procedures which will govern 
the application process, and the manner in which the decision will ultimately 
be made regarding the issuance of any medical marijuanacannabis 
business permit(s).  The resolution shall authorize the City Manager or his 

Attachment 5.18



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 17 of 39 
 

or her designee to prepare the necessary forms, adopt any necessary rules, 
regulations and processes, solicit applications, conduct initial evaluations of 
the applicants, and to ultimately provide a final recommendation to the City 
Council of the top three (3) applicants for consideration. 

 
(2) At the time of filing, each applicant shall pay an application fee established 

by resolution of the City Council, to cover all costs incurred by the City in 
the application process. 

 
(3) After the initial review the City Manager or his designee will make a 

recommendation to the City Council, and the City Council shall make a final 
determination in accordance with the selection procedure set forth in the 
Resolution adopted by the City Council.  

 
(4) THE CITY'S RESERVATION OF RIGHTS: 

 
The City reserves the right to reject any or all applications.  The City may 
also modify, postpone, or cancel any request for applications, or the entire 
program under this Chapter, at any time without liability, obligation, or 
commitment to any party, firm, or organization.  Persons submitting 
applications assume the risk that all or any part of the program, or any 
particular category of permit potentially authorized under this Chapter, may 
be cancelled at any time prior to permit issuance.  The City further reserves 
the right to request and obtain additional information from any candidate 
submitting an application. In addition to any other justification provided a 
failure to comply with other requirements in this Chapter, an application 
RISKS BEING REJECTED for any of the following reasons: 

 
(1) Proposal received after designated time and date. 

 
(2) Proposal not containing the required elements, exhibits, nor 

organized in the required format. 
 

(3) Proposal considered not fully responsive to this request for permit 
application. 

 
(4) Proposal contains excess or extraneous material not called for in the 

request for permit application. 
 
B. Expiration of Medical MarijuanaCannabis Business Permits. Each medical 
marijuanacannabis business permit issued pursuant to this Chapter shall expire twelve 
(12) months after the date of its issuance.  Medical marijuanacannabis permits may be 
renewed as provided in subsection D below. 
 

Attachment 5.19



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 18 of 39 
 

C. Revocation of Permits.  Medical MarijuanaCannabis Business Permits may be 
revoked for any violation of any law and/or any rule, regulation and/or standard adopted 
pursuant to this Chapter 9.22.   
 
D.  Renewal Applications. 
 

(1) An application for renewal of a medical marijuanacannabis business permit 
shall be filed at least sixty (60) calendar days prior to the expiration date of 
the current permit. 

 
(2) The renewal application shall contain all the information required for new 

applications. 
 

(3) The applicant shall pay a fee in an amount to be set by the City Council to 
cover the costs of processing the renewal permit application, together with 
any costs incurred by the City to administer the program created under this 
Chapter.  

 
(4) An application for renewal of a medical marijuanacannabis business permit 

shall be rejected if any of the following exists: 
 

(a) The application is filed less than sixty (60) days before its expiration. 
 
(b) The medical marijuanacannabis business permit is suspended or 

revoked at the time of the application. 
 
(c) The medical marijuanacannabis business has not been in regular 

and continuous operation in the four (4) months prior to the renewal 
application. 

 
(d) The medical marijuanacannabis business has failed to conform to 

the requirements of this Chapter, or of any regulations adopted 
pursuant to this Chapter. 

 
(e) The permittee fails or is unable to renew its State of California 

license. 
 
(f) If the City or state has determined, based on substantial evidence, 

that the permittee or applicant is in violation of the requirements of 
this Chapter, of the City’s Municipal Code, or of the state rules and 
regulations, and the City or state has determined that the violation is 
grounds for termination or revocation of the medical 
marijuanacannabis business permit. 

 
(5) The City Manager or his designee is authorized to make all decisions 

concerning the issuance of a renewal permit.  In making the decision, the 

Attachment 5.20



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 19 of 39 
 

City Manager or his designee is authorized to impose additional conditions 
to a renewal permit, if it is determined to be necessary to ensure compliance 
with state or local laws and regulations or to preserve the public health, 
safety or welfare.  Appeals from the decision of the City Manager or his 
designee shall be handled pursuant to Section 9.22.060 entitled “Appeals.” 

 
(6) If a renewal application is rejected, a person may file a new application 

pursuant to this Chapter no sooner than one (1) year from the date of the 
rejection. 

 
E. Effect of state license suspension, revocation, or termination.  
 
Suspension of a license issued by the State of California, or by any of its departments or 
divisions, shall immediately suspend the ability of a medical marijuanacannabis business 
to operate within the City, until the State of California, or its respective department or 
division, reinstates or reissues the State license.  Should the State of California, or any of 
its departments or divisions, revoke or terminate the license of a medical 
marijuanacannabis business, such revocation or termination shall also revoke or 
terminate the ability of a medical cannabis business to operate within the City of Nevada 
City. 
 
9.22.060.  Appeals. 
 
A.  Appeals from Decisions of the City Manager or his Designee under this Chapter. 
Unless specifically provided elsewhere to the contrary, whenever an appeal is provided 
for in this Chapter from a decision of the City Manager or his or her designee, the appeal 
shall be conducted as prescribed in this Section.   
 
B.  Written request for Appeal.   
 

(1) Within ten (10) calendar days after the date of a decision of the City 
Manager or his designee(s) to revoke, suspend or deny a permit, or to add 
conditions to a permit, an aggrieved party may appeal such action by filing 
a written appeal with the City Clerk setting forth the reasons why the 
decision was not proper.   

 
(2) At the time of filing the appellant shall pay the designated appeal fee, 

established by resolution of the City Council from time to time.  
 
C.  Appeal Hearing.   
 

(1) Upon receipt of the written appeal, the City Clerk shall set the matter for a 
hearing before the City Council. The City Council shall hear the matter de 
novo, and shall conduct the hearing pursuant to the procedures set forth by 
the City.   

 

Attachment 5.21



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 20 of 39 
 

(2) The appeal shall be held within a reasonable time after the filing the appeal, 
but in no event later than ninety (90) days from the date of such filing. The 
City shall notify the appellant of the time and location at least ten (10) days 
prior to the date of the hearing.  

 
(3) At the hearing the appellant may present any information they deem 

relevant to the decision appealed. The formal rules of evidence and 
procedure applicable in a court of law shall not apply to the hearing. 

 
(4) At the conclusion of the hearing the City Council may affirm, reverse or 

modify the decision appealed.  The decision of the City Council shall be 
final.  

 
9.22.070. Permittee Selection Process. 
 
A. Selection and Review of Finalists.  
 

(1) The City Council shall adopt by resolution a procedure by which the top 
three applicants applying for a medical marijuanacannabis business to 
operate a medical marijuanacannabis dispensary in the City will be 
presented to the City Council for a final determination at a public hearing.    

 
(2) The top three finalists shall be invited to attend the City Council meeting, 

where they will be expected to make a public presentation introducing their 
team and providing an overview of their proposal. In order to provide 
adequate time, presentations may be divided over more than one meeting 
over multiple days as determined to be necessary. 

 
(3) At least ten (10) days prior to the hearing, notice of the hearing shall be sent 

to all property owners located within three hundred (300) feet of the 
proposed business locations of each of the finalists to be considered by the 
City Council. 

 
(4f) The City Council shall rank the final three candidates and shall select the 

top candidate, which candidate shall become the prevailing candidate.  The 
City Council’s decision as to the selection of the prevailing candidate shall 
be final.   

 
(5)  Official issuance of the medical marijuanacannabis business permit to the 

medical marijuanacannabis dispensary, however, is conditioned upon the 
prevailing candidate obtaining all required land use approvals.  Following 
the Council’s selection, the prevailing candidate shall apply to the City’s 
planning department to obtain any required land use approvals or 
entitlements for the permittee’s location, if any.  Land use approvals shall 
include compliance with all applicable provisions of  the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). The City Manager shall formally issue 

Attachment 5.22



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 21 of 39 
 

the medical marijuanacannabis business permit once the City Manager and 
Chief of Police have both affirmed that all of the required land use approvals 
have been obtained. 

 
 If the selected permittee is unable to fulfill all the requirements of obtaining 

the medical marijuanacannabis dispensary permit, the City Council, in its 
sole discretion, may award the permit to the next highest ranked finalist, or 
may begin the application process again to allow for selection of a new set 
of finalists.   

 
(6)  Issuance of a medical marijuanacannabis business permit does not create 

a land use entitlement.  The medical marijuanacannabis business permit 
shall only be for a term of twelve (12) months, and shall expire at the end of 
the twelve (12) month period unless it is renewed as provided herein.  
Furthermore, no permittee may begin operations, notwithstanding the 
issuance of a permit, unless all of the state and local laws and regulations, 
including but not limited to the requirements of this Chapter and of the 
permit, have been complied with.  

 
(7) Notwithstanding anything in this Chapter to the contrary, the City Council 

reserves the right to reject any or all applications if it determines it would be 
in the best interest of the City, taking into account any health, safety and 
welfare impacts on the community. Applicants shall have no right to a 
medical marijuanacannabis business permit until a permit is actually issued, 
and then only for the duration of the permit’s term.  Each applicant assumes 
the risk that, at any time prior to the issuance of a permit, the City Council 
may terminate or delay the program created under this Chapter.  

 
(8) If an application is denied, a new application may not be filed for one (1) 

year from the date of the denial. 
 

(9) A person granted a medical marijuanacannabis business permit shall be 
required to pay the permit fee established by resolution of the City Council, 
to cover the costs of administering the medical marijuanacannabis business 
permit program created in this Chapter.   

 
B. Prohibition on Transfer of Medical MarijuanaCannabis Business Permits. 
 

1. No person may transfer ownership or control of a medical marijuanacannabis 
business or transfer any medical marijuanacannabis business permit issued under 
this Chapter.  Medical marijuanacannabis business permits are not a property 
right, and permittees have no economic interest in any permit issued to them. 
Permittees have no right to sell or transfer a medical marijuanacannabis business 
permit to another party, or to have the City Council consider whether they should 
authorize the transfer of a medical marijuanacannabis business permit to another 
party.  Any attempt to transfer ownership of a medical marijuanacannabis business 

Attachment 5.23



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 22 of 39 
 

or of a medical marijuanacannabis business permit shall render the medical 
marijuanacannabis business permit void.   

 
2. Any attempt to transfer a medical marijuanacannabis business permit or a medical 

marijuanacannabis business shall result in the medical marijuanacannabis 
business permit being declared immediately revoked and/or it is void and no longer 
of any effect.   
 

3. In any situation where a permit has been lost as a result of an attempted transfer 
of the medical marijuanacannabis business permit or of the medical 
marijuanacannabis business, or as a result of the abandonment or revocation of 
the permit, any new permit shall be issued using the standard process for the 
issuance of permits in the first instance.  No preference shall be given to any 
person proposed as new owner or assignee by the former permit holder.  In such 
case, prior to accepting any new applications, the City shall post the availability of 
the medical marijuanacannabis business permit at issue on the City’s website. The 
City Manager or his/her designee may take other actions to help ensure the 
broadest pool of applicants for the new permit.  

 
9.22.080. Requirements Before Permittee May Commence Operations. 
 
A.  City Business License.  Prior to commencing operations a medical marijuanacannabis 
business shall obtain a City of Nevada City business license. 
 
B. Building Permits and Inspection.  Prior to commencing operations a medical 
marijuanacannabis business shall be subject to a mandatory building inspection, and 
must obtain all required permits and approvals which would otherwise be required for any 
business of the same size and intensity operating in that zone. This includes but is not 
limited to obtaining any required building permit(s), fire department approvals, Health 
Department approvals and other zoning and land use permit(s) and approvals. 
 
C.  Certification from Planning Director.  Prior to commencing operations, a medical 
marijuanacannabis business must obtain a certification from the Planning Director 
certifying that the business is located on a site that meets all of the requirements of the 
City’s Zoning and Municipal Code, including Chapter 17.142 (Medical MarijuanaCannabis 
Uses and Activities).   
 
D. Right to Occupy and to Use Property. As a condition precedent to the City’s issuance 
of a medical marijuanacannabis business permit pursuant to this Chapter, any person 
intending to open and to operate a medical marijuanacannabis business shall provide 
sufficient evidence of the legal right to occupy and to use the proposed location.  In the 
event the proposed location will be leased from another person, the applicant shall be 
required to provide a signed and notarized statement from the owner of the property, 
acknowledging that the property owner has read this Chapter and consents to the 
operation of the medical marijuanacannabis business on the owner’s property. 
 

Attachment 5.24



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 23 of 39 
 

E. Limitations on City’s Liability. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the City of Nevada 
City shall not assume any liability whatsoever with respect to having issued a medical 
marijuanacannabis business permit pursuant to this Chapter or otherwise approving the 
operation of any medical marijuanacannabis business. As a condition to the approval of 
any medical marijuanacannabis business permit, the applicant shall be required to meet 
all of the following conditions before they can receive the medical marijuanacannabis 
business permit: 
 

(1) They must execute an agreement, in a form approved by the city attorney, 
agreeing to indemnify, defend (at applicant’s sole cost and expense), and 
hold the City of Nevada City, and its officers, officials, employees, 
representatives, and agents, harmless, from any and all claims, losses, 
damages, injuries, liabilities or losses which arise out of, or which are in any 
way related to, the City’s issuance of the medical marijuanacannabis 
business permit, the City’s decision to approve the operation of the medical 
marijuanacannabis business or activity, to process used by the City in 
making its decision, or the alleged violation of any federal, state or local 
laws by the medical marijuanacannabis business or any of its officers, 
employees or agents.  

 
(2) Maintain insurance at coverage limits, and with conditions thereon 

determined necessary and appropriate from time to time by the city 
attorney. 

 
(3) Reimburse the City of Nevada City for all costs and expenses, including but 

not limited to attorney fees and costs and court costs, which the City of 
Nevada City may be required to pay as a result of any legal challenge 
related to the City’s approval of the applicant’s medical marijuanacannabis 
business permit, or related to the City’s approval of a medical 
marijuanacannabis activity. The City of Nevada City may, at its sole 
discretion, participate at its own expense in the defense of any such action, 
but such participation shall not relieve any of the obligations imposed 
hereunder.  

 
9.22.090. Operating Requirements for Medical MarijuanaCannabis Dispensaries. 
 
A. Records and Recordkeeping. 
 

(1) Each owner and operator of a medical marijuanacannabis dispensary shall 
maintain accurate books and records, detailing all of the revenues and 
expenses of the dispensary, and all of its assets and liabilities.  On no less 
than an annual basis (at or before the time of the renewal of a medical 
marijuanacannabis business permit issued pursuant to this Chapter), or at 
any time upon reasonable request of the City, each medical 
marijuanacannabis dispensary shall file a sworn statement detailing the 
number of sales by the medical marijuanacannabis dispensary during the 

Attachment 5.25



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 24 of 39 
 

previous twelve month period (or shorter period based upon the timing of 
the request), provided on a per-month basis.  The statement shall also 
include gross sales for each month, and all applicable taxes paid or due to 
be paid. 

 
(2) Each owner and operator of a medical marijuanacannabis dispensary shall 

maintain a current register of the names and the contact information 
(including the name, address, and telephone number) of anyone owning or 
holding an interest in the medical marijuanacannabis dispensary, and 
separately of all the officers, managers, employees, agents and volunteers 
currently employed or otherwise engaged by the medical 
marijuanacannabis dispensary.  The register required by this paragraph 
shall be provided to the City Manager or his/her designee(s) upon a 
reasonable request. 

 
(3) Each medical marijuanacannabis dispensary shall maintain a record of all 

persons, patients, collectives and primary caregivers served by the medical 
marijuanacannabis dispensary, for a period of no less than four (4) years.   

 
(4) Medical marijuanacannabis dispensaries shall maintain records of their 

inventory acquired, including the name and address of each supplier, the 
date of acquisition and the quantity acquired from each supplier, and the 
location of the cultivation of the supplier, and shall maintain a copy of the 
supplier’s state license to cultivate (if required).  

 
(5) Subject to any restrictions under the Health Insurance Portability and 

Accountability Act regulations, each medical marijuanacannabis dispensary 
shall allow City of Nevada City officials to have access to the dispensary’s 
books, records, accounts, together with any other data or documents 
relevant to its permitted medical marijuanacannabis activities, for the 
purpose of conducting an audit or examination. Books, records, accounts, 
and any and all relevant data or documents will be produced no later than 
twenty-four (24) hours after receipt of the City’s request, unless otherwise 
stipulated by the City. 

 
B. Security Measures.  
 

(1) A permitted medical marijuanacannabis dispensary shall implement 
sufficient security measures to deter and prevent the unauthorized entrance 
into areas containing medical cannabis or medical cannabis products, and 
to deter and prevent the theft of medical cannabis or medical cannabis 
products at the medical marijuanacannabis dispensary. Except as may 
otherwise be determined by the City Manager or his/her designee(s), these 
security measures shall include, but shall not be limited to, all of the 
following: 

 

Attachment 5.26



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 25 of 39 
 

(a) Preventing individuals from remaining on the premises of the medical 
marijuanacannabis dispensary if they are not engaging in an activity 
directly related to the permitted operations of the medical 
marijuanacannabis dispensary. 

 
(b) Establishing limited access areas accessible only to authorized 

medical marijuanacannabis dispensary personnel. 
 

(c) All medical cannabis and medical cannabis products shall be stored 
in a secured and locked room, safe, or vault. All medical cannabis 
and medical cannabis products, shall be kept in a manner as to 
prevent diversion, theft, and loss, except for limited amounts of 
cannabis used for display purposes or for immediate sale at a 
dispensary. 

 
(d) Installing 24-hour security surveillance cameras of at least HD-

quality to monitor all entrances and exits to and from the premises, 
all interior spaces within the medical marijuanacannabis dispensary 
which are open and accessible to the public, and all interior spaces 
where cannabis, cash or currency, is being stored for any period of 
time on a regular basis. The medical marijuanacannabis dispensary 
shall be responsible for ensuring that the security surveillance 
camera’s footage is remotely accessible by the City Manager or 
his/her designee(s), and the City’s Police Department, and that it is 
compatible with the City’s software and hardware.  In addition, 
remote and real-time, live access to the video footage from the 
cameras shall be provided to the City Manager or his/her designee(s) 
and to the City’s police department.  Video recordings shall be 
maintained for a minimum of forty-five (45) days, and shall be made 
available to the City Manager or his designee upon request.  

 
(e) Sensors shall be installed to detect entry and exit from all secure 

areas. 
 

(f) Panic buttons shall be installed in all medical marijuanacannabis 
dispensaries. 

 
(g) Having a professionally installed, maintained, and monitored alarm 

system. 
 

(h) Any bars installed on the windows or the doors of the medical 
marijuanacannabis dispensary shall be installed only on the interior 
of the building. 

 
(i) Security personnel must be licensed by the State of California 

Bureau of Security and Investigative Services personnel and shall be 

Attachment 5.27



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 26 of 39 
 

subject to the prior review and approval of the City Manager or 
his/her designee(s), with such approval not to be unreasonably 
withheld. 

 
(j) Each medical marijuanacannabis dispensary shall have the 

capability to remain secure and operational during a power outage 
and shall ensure that all access doors are not solely controlled by an 
electronic access panel to ensure that locks are not released during 
a power outage. 

 
(k) Entrances into the dispensary shall be locked at all times with entry 

strictly controlled. A “buzz-in” electronic/mechanical entry system 
shall be utilized to limit access to and entry to the dispensary, to 
separate it from the reception/lobby area. Individuals Qualified 
patients must show either their cannabis cardphysician’s 
recommendation for medical cannabis with a government- issued 
photo identification or their state issued identification card and a 
government-issued  photo identification in order to gain access into 
the dispensary.  Primary caregivers must show: (a) a government- 
issued photo identification; (b) a copy of a physician’s 
recommendation for the qualified patients for whom they are 
purchasing cannabis and/or cannabis products at the dispensary; 
and (c) written permission from the qualified patient, or his or her 
authorized representative or parent or guardian if the patient is a 
minor child, authorizing the primary caregiver to purchase cannabis 
on behalf of the qualified patient.       

 
 (l) Uniformed licensed security personnel shall be employed to monitor 

site activity, control loitering and site access, and to serve as a visual 
deterrent to unlawful activities. 
 
 

(2) A medical marijuanacannabis dispensary shall identify a designated 
security representative/liaison to the City of Nevada City, who shall be 
reasonably available to meet with the City Nevada City or his/her designee 
regarding any security related measures or and operational issues. 

 
(3) As part of the application and permitting process a medical 

marijuanacannabis dispensary shall have a storage and transportation plan, 
which describes in detail the procedures for safely and securely storing and 
transporting all cannabis, cannabis products, and any currency.   

 
(4) The medical marijuanacannabis dispensary shall cooperate with the City 

whenever the City Manager or his designee makes a request, upon 
reasonable notice to the medical marijuanacannabis dispensary, to inspect 

Attachment 5.28



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 27 of 39 
 

or audit the effectiveness of any security plan or of any other requirement 
of this Chapter. 

 
(5) A medical marijuanacannabis dispensary shall notify the City Manager or 

his/her designee(s) within twenty-four (24) hours after discovering any of 
the following: 

 
(a) Significant discrepancies identified during inventory. The level of 

significance shall be determined by the regulations promulgated by 
the City Manager or his/her designee. 

 
(b) Diversion, theft, loss, or any criminal activity involving the medical 

marijuanacannabis dispensary or any agent or employee of the 
medical marijuanacannabis dispensary. 

 
(c) The loss or unauthorized alteration of records related to cannabis, 

registering qualifying patients, primary caregivers, or employees or 
agents of the medical marijuanacannabis dispensary. 

 
(d) Any other breach of security. 

 
C. Restriction on Alcohol Sales.   
 
No person shall cause or permit the sale, dispensing, or consumption of alcoholic 
beverages on or about the premises of the medical marijuanacannabis dispensary.   
 
D. Compliance with Laws. 
 
It is the responsibility of the owners and operators of the medical marijuanacannabis 
dispensary to ensure that it is, at all times, operating in a manner compliant with all 
applicable state and local laws, and any regulations promulgated thereunder. Nothing in 
this Chapter shall be construed as authorizing any actions which violate state law or local 
law with respect to the operation of a medical marijuanacannabis dispensary. It shall be 
the responsibility of the owners and the operators of the medical marijuanacannabis 
dispensary to ensure that the medical marijuanacannabis dispensary is, at all times, 
operating in a manner compliant with all applicable state and local laws, the 2008 Attorney 
General Guidelines, any subsequently enacted state law or regulatory, licensing, or 
certification requirements, and any specific, additional operating procedures or 
requirements which may be imposed as conditions of approval of the medical 
marijuanacannabis business permit. Nothing in this Chapter shall be construed as 
authorizing any actions which violate state law with regard to the operation of a medical 
marijuanacannabis dispensary. 
 
E. Fees, Charges and Taxes. 
 

Attachment 5.29



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 28 of 39 
 

(1) No person may commence or continue any medical marijuanacannabis 
activity in the City, without timely paying in full all fees, charges, and any 
applicable taxes required for the operation of a medical marijuanacannabis 
business. Fees and charges associated with the operation of a medical 
marijuanacannabis activity shall be established by resolution of the City 
Council which may be amended from time to time. 

 
(2) A medical marijuanacannabis dispensary authorized to operate under this 

Chapter shall pay all sales, use, business and other applicable taxes, and 
all license, registration, and other fees required under federal, state and 
local law.  Medical marijuanacannabis dispensaries shall cooperate with 
City with respect to any reasonable request to audit the medical 
marijuanacannabis dispensary’s books and records for the purpose of 
verifying compliance with this section, including but not limited to a 
verification of the amount of taxes required to be paid during any period.  

 
F.  Miscellaneous Operating Requirements. 
 

(1) Hours of Operation. Medical marijuanacannabis dispensaries may be open 
for access to the public only between the hours of 8:00 A.M. and 8:00 P.M. 
Monday through Sunday.  

 
(2) Restriction on Consumption. Cannabis shall not be consumed on the 

premises of any medical marijuanacannabis dispensary or elsewhere in the 
City of Nevada City other than within private residences. 

 
(3) No cannabis or cannabis products or graphics depicting cannabis or 

cannabis products shall be visible from the exterior of any property issued 
a medical marijuanacannabis dispensary, or on any of the vehicles owned 
or used as part of the medical marijuanacannabis dispensary. No outdoor 
storage of cannabis or cannabis products is permitted at any time. 

 
(4) Reporting and Tracking of Product and of Gross Sales. Each medical 

marijuanacannabis dispensary shall have in place a point-of-sale tracking 
system to track and report on all aspects of the medical marijuanacannabis 
dispensary including, but not limited to, such matters as cannabis tracking, 
inventory data, and gross sales (by weight and by sale).  The medical 
marijuanacannabis dispensary shall ensure that such information is 
compatible with the City’s record-keeping systems. The system must have 
the capability to produce historical transactional data for review by the City 
Manager or his/her designee.  

 
(5) All cannabis and cannabis products sold, distributed or manufactured shall 

be cultivated, manufactured, and transported by licensed facilities that 
maintain operations in full conformance with the State and local regulations. 

 

Attachment 5.30



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 29 of 39 
 

(6) There shall not be a physician located in or on the grounds of any medical 
marijuanacannabis dispensary at any time for the purpose of evaluating 
patients for the issuance of a medical marijuanacannabis prescription or 
card. 

 
(7) Prior to dispensing cannabis or cannabis products to any person, the 

medical marijuanacannabis dispensary shall obtain verification from the 
recommending physician that the person requesting cannabis or cannabis 
products is a qualified patient. 

 
(8) Emergency Contact. Each medical marijuanacannabis dispensary shall 

provide the City Manager or his/her designee(s) with the name, telephone 
number (mobile preferred, if available) of an on-site employee or of an 
owner and or manager to whom emergency notice can be provided at any 
hour of the day. 

 
(9) Signage and Notices.  

 
(a) In addition to the requirements otherwise set forth in this section, 

business identification signage for a medical marijuanacannabis 
dispensary shall conform to the requirements of the Nevada City 
Municipal Code, including, but not limited to, seeking the issuance of 
a City sign permit. 

 
(b) No signs placed on the premises of a medical marijuanacannabis 

dispensary shall obstruct any entrance or exit to the building or any 
window. 

 
(c) Each entrance to a medical marijuanacannabis dispensary shall be 

visibly posted with a clear and legible notice indicating that smoking, 
ingesting, or otherwise consuming cannabis on the premises or in 
the areas adjacent to the medical marijuanacannabis dispensary is 
prohibited. 

 
(d) Business identification signage shall be limited to that needed for 

identification only, and shall not contain any logos or information that 
identifies, advertises, or lists the services or the products offered.  No 
medical marijuana dispensary shall advertise by having a person 
holding a sign and advertising the business to passersby, whether 
such person is on the premises of the medical marijuana dispensary 
or elsewhere including, but not limited to, the public right-of-way.  

 
(e) Signage shall not be directly illuminated, internally or externally. No 

banners, flags, billboards or other prohibited signs may be used at 
any time. 

 

Attachment 5.31



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 30 of 39 
 

(f) Holders of medical marijuana business permits agree that, as an 
express and ongoing condition of permit issuance and subsequent 
renewal, the holder of the permit shall be prohibited from advertising 
any medical marijuana business located in the City of Nevada City 
utilizing a billboard (fixed or mobile), bus shelter, placard, aircraft, or 
other similar forms of advertising, anywhere in the state.  This 
paragraph is not intended to place limitations on the ability of a 
medical marijuana business to advertise in other legally authorized 
forms, including on the internet, in magazines, or in other similar 
ways.All signage shall comply with applicable requirements of the 
Nevada City Municipal Code including the Zoning Code.    

 
(10) Minors.   
 

(a) Persons under the age of eighteen (18) years shall not be allowed 
on the premises of a medical marijuanacannabis dispensary and 
shall not be allowed to serve as a driver for a mobile delivery service.  
It shall be unlawful and a violation of this Chapter for any person to 
employ any person at a medical marijuanacannabis dispensary who 
is not at least eighteen (18) years of age. 

 
(b) The entrance to the medical marijuanacannabis dispensary shall be 

clearly and legibly posted with a notice that no person under the age 
of eighteen (18) years of age is permitted to enter upon the premises 
of the medical marijuanacannabis dispensary. 

 
(c) Owners and Operators are required to verify the age and the 

necessary documentation of each customer to ensure the customer 
is not under the age of eighteen (18) years, and to verify that the 
potential customer has a valid doctor’s recommendation.  

 
 

(11) Odor Control. Odor control devices and techniques shall be incorporated in 
all medical marijuanacannabis dispensaries to ensure that odors from 
marijuanacannabis are not detectable off-site. Medical marijuanacannabis 
dispensaries shall provide a sufficient odor absorbing ventilation and 
exhaust system so that odor generated inside the medical 
marijuanacannabis dispensary that is distinctive to its operation is not 
detected outside of the facility, anywhere on adjacent property or public 
rights-of-way, on or about the exterior or interior common area walkways, 
hallways, breezeways, foyers, lobby areas, or any other areas available for 
use by common tenants or the visiting public, or within any other unit located 
inside the same building as the medical marijuanacannabis dispensary. As 
such, a medical marijuana dispensary must install and maintain the 
following equipment, or any other equipment which the City Manager or 
his/her designee(s) determine is a more effective method or technology: 

Attachment 5.32



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 31 of 39 
 

 
(1) an exhaust air filtration system with odor control that prevents 

internal odors from being emitted externally. The dispensary 
applicant shall provide a statement from the exhaust air filtration 
manufacturer that the system has been designed to achieve the 
above standard based on the specific building size and layout; 

 
(2) An air system that creates negative air pressure between the medical 

marijuanacannabis dispensary’s interior and exterior, so that the 
odors generated inside the medical marijuanacannabis dispensary 
are not detectable on the outside of the medical marijuanacannabis 
dispensary. The dispensary applicant shall provide a statement from 
the air system manufacturer that the system has been designed to 
achieve the above standard based on the specific building size and 
layout 

 
(12) Display of Permit and City Business License.  The original copy of the 

medical marijuanacannabis business permit issued by the City pursuant to 
this Chapter and the City issued business license shall be posted inside the 
medical marijuanacannabis dispensary in a location readily-visible to the 
public. 

 
(13) Background Check. Pursuant to California Penal Code sections 

11105(b)(11) and 13300(b)(11), which authorizes city authorities to access 
state and local summary criminal history information for employment, 
licensing, or certification purposes, and authorizes access to federal level 
criminal history information by transmitting fingerprint images and related 
information to the Department of Justice to be transmitted to the Federal 
Bureau of Investigation, every person listed as an owner, manager, 
supervisor or employee of the medical marijuanacannabis dispensary must 
submit fingerprints and other information deemed necessary by the City 
Manager or his/her designee(s) for a background check by the Nevada City 
Police Department. Pursuant to California Penal Code sections 
11105(b)(11) and 13300(b)(11), which requires that there be a requirement 
or exclusion from employment, licensing, or certification based on specific 
criminal conduct on the part of the subject of the record, no person shall be 
issued a permit to operate a medical marijuanacannabis dispensary or a 
related work permit unless they have first cleared the background check, as 
determined by the Chief of Police, as required by this section. A fee for the 
cost of the background investigation, which shall be the actual cost to the 
City of Nevada City to conduct the background investigation as it deems 
necessary and appropriate, shall be paid at the time the application for a 
medical marijuanacannabis business permit is submitted. The applicant(s) 
shall provide an initial deposit in an amount the City Manager or his/her 
designee(s) estimates will cover the cost of the background investigation, 
which shall be used and drawn upon as a retainer to cover the actual costs 

Attachment 5.33



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 32 of 39 
 

of such investigation. If this amount is not sufficient, the applicant shall 
provide additional amounts that are necessary and if the applicant is unable 
to provide the additional amounts necessary to complete the investigation, 
the investigation shall cease and shall not continue until such additional 
amounts are paid. Upon completion of the investigation or in the event the 
applicant withdraws their application, any fees paid for this process will be 
deemed non-refundable. 

 
(14) Loitering. The owner and/or operator of a medical marijuanacannabis 

dispensary shall prohibit loitering by persons outside the facility both on the 
premises and within fifty (50) feet of the premises of the business. 

 
(15) Permits and other Approvals. Prior to the establishment of any medical 

marijuanacannabis dispensary or the operation of any such business, the 
person intending to establish a medical marijuanacannabis dispensary must 
first obtain all applicable planning, zoning, building, and other applicable 
permits from the relevant governmental agency which may be applicable to 
the zoning district in which such medical marijuanacannabis dispensary 
intends to establish and to operate. 

 
(16) If a medical marijuanacannabis dispensary permittee is operating as a 

collective or cooperative under Health and Safety Code Section 11362.775, 
subdivision (a), members of the applicant authorized to possess cannabis 
shall sign an agreement with the medical marijuanacannabis dispensary 
which states that members shall not distribute cannabis or cannabis 
products to non-members or in violation of the “Memorandum for all United 
States Attorneys,” issued by the United States Department of Justice, from 
James M. Cole, Deputy Attorney General and any other applicable state 
and federal laws, regulations, or guidelines. 

 
(17) If the medical marijuanacannabis dispensary permittee is operating as a 

collective or cooperative under Health and Safety Code Section 11362.775, 
subdivision (a), the medical marijuanacannabis dispensary shall terminate 
the membership of any member violating any of the provisions of this 
Chapter. 

 
(18) Dispensaries may have on-site, in the retail sales area of the dispensary, 

only that quantity of cannabis and cannabis products reasonably anticipated 
to meet the daily demand readily available for sale.  Dispensaries may also 
sell non-cannabis products, such as cannabis and health related 
educational books and publications, apparel, and the like.  However, sales 
of non-cannabis products shall constitute no more than fifteen percent 
(15%) of the floor area and not to exceed three hundred (300) feet.[consider 
limiting to % of floor area, or % or gross receipts.] 

 

Attachment 5.34



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 33 of 39 
 

(19) All restroom facilities shall remain locked and under the control of 
management.  

 
G. The City Manager or his/her designee may develop other medical marijuanacannabis 
dispensary operational requirements or regulations as are determined to be reasonably 
necessary to protect the public health, safety and welfare.  
 
9.22.100 Delivery by Medical MarijuanaCannabis Dispensary 
[Permitted./Prohibited]. 
 
Legally permitted medical cannabis dispensaries are authorized to make deliveries within 
the City and within any jurisdiction that permits deliveries, subjectch to following 
requirements:  
that all applicable state law requirements: 
 
 (A) The owner, operator, and delivery personnel shall comply with all applicable 
state law requirements;  
 
 (B) The delivery personnel must be an employee of the medical cannabis 
dispensary; 
 
 (C) Before dispensing any products to persons requesting delivery, the delivery 
personnel must verify that the requestor is an authorized customer (either a qualified 
patient or a primary caregiver) by inspecting the documents required by subdivision 
9.22.090 (B)(1)(k).   [fill in] 
 
9.22.1100 Application of Chapter; Other Legal Duties. 
 
A. Promulgation of Regulations and Standards. 
 

(1) In addition to any regulations adopted by the City Council, the City Manager 
or his/her designee is authorized to establish any additional rules, 
regulations and standards governing the issuance, denial or renewal of 
medical marijuanacannabis business permits, the ongoing operation of a 
medical marijuanacannabis dispensary and the City's oversight, or 
concerning any other subject determined to be necessary to carry out the 
purposes of this Chapter.  

 
(2) Regulations shall be published on the City’s website. 

 
(3) Regulations promulgated by the City Manager shall become effective upon 

date of publication.  A medical marijuanacannabis dispensary shall be 
required to comply with all state and local laws and regulations, including 
but not limited to any rules, regulations or standards adopted by the City 
Manager or his designee. 

 

Attachment 5.35



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 34 of 39 
 

B. Community Relations. 
 

(1) Each medical marijuanacannabis dispensary shall provide the name, 
telephone number, and email address of a community relations contact to 
whom notice of problems associated with the medical marijuanacannabis 
dispensary can be provided. Each medical marijuanacannabis dispensary 
shall also provide the above information to all businesses and residences 
located within one hundred (100) feet of the medical marijuanacannabis 
dispensary property and shall provide opportunity for those businesses and 
residents within one hundred (100) feet to visit and to tour the medical 
marijuanacannabis dispensary at least once on a mutually convenient date 
and time. Any additional request shall be at the sole discretion of the 
dispensary operator. 

 
(2) During the first year of operation pursuant to this Chapter, the owner, 

manager, and community relations representative from the medical 
marijuanacannabis dispensary holding a permit issued pursuant to this 
Chapter shall attend a quarterly meeting with the City Manager or his/her 
designee(s) to discuss costs, benefits, and other community issues arising 
as a result of implementation of this Chapter.  After the first year of 
operation, the owner, manager, and community relations representative 
from the medical marijuanacannabis dispensary shall meet with the City 
Manager or his/her designee(s) when and as requested by the City 
Manager or his/her designee(s). 

 
(3) The medical marijuanacannabis dispensary to which a permit is issued 

pursuant to this Chapter shall develop and make available to youth 
organizations and educational institutions a public education plan that 
outlines the risks of youth aabuse ofddiction to marijuanacannabis, and that 
identifies resources available to youth related to drugs and drug addiction. 

 
C. Fees Deemed Debt to City of Nevada City.  
 
The amount of any fee, cost or charge imposed pursuant to this Chapter shall be deemed 
a debt to the City of Nevada City that is recoverable via an authorized administrative 
process as set forth in the Municipal Code, or in any court of competent jurisdiction. 
 
D. Permit Holder Responsible for Violations.  
 
The person to whom a permit is issued pursuant to this Chapter shall be responsible for 
all violations of the laws of the State of California or of the regulations and/or the 
ordinances of the City of Nevada City, whether committed by the permittee or any 
employee or agent of the permittee, which violations occur in or about the premises of the 
medical marijuanacannabis business whether or not said violations occur within the 
permit holder’s presence. 
 

Attachment 5.36



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 35 of 39 
 

E. Inspection and Enforcement.   
 
(1) The City Manager or his/her designee(s) are charged with enforcing the 

provisions of the Nevada City Municipal Code, or any provision thereof, may 
enter the location of a medical marijuanacannabis business at any time 
during the hours of operation without notice, and inspect the location of any 
medical marijuanacannabis business as well as any recordings and records 
required to be maintained pursuant to this Chapter or under applicable 
provisions of State law. 

 
(2) It is unlawful for any person having responsibility over the operation of a 

medical marijuanacannabis dispensary, to impede, obstruct, interfere with, 
or otherwise not to allow, the City to conduct an inspection, review or copy 
records, recordings or other documents required to be maintained by a 
medical marijuanacannabis dispensary under this Chapter or under state or 
local law. It is also unlawful for a person to conceal, destroy, deface, 
damage, or falsify any records, recordings or other documents required to 
be maintained by a medical marijuanacannabis business under this Chapter 
or under state or local law. 

 
(3) The City Manager or his/her designee(s) charged with enforcing the 

provisions of this Chapter may enter the location of a medical 
marijuanacannabis dispensary at any time during the hours of operation and 
without notice to obtain samples of the cannabis to test for public safety 
purposes.  Any samples obtained by the City of Nevada City shall be 
logged, recorded, and maintained in accordance with Nevada City Police 
Department standards for evidence.  

 
F. Concurrent Regulation with State. It is the stated intent of this Chapter to regulate 
medical marijuanacannabis activity in the City of Nevada City concurrently with the state 
of California. 
 
9.22.1210.  Violations and Enforcement. 
 

A. Violations declared a public nuisance.  
 
Each and every violation of the provisions of this Chapter is hereby deemed unlawful and 
a public nuisance. 
 

B. Each violation a separate offense.  
 
Each and every violation of this Chapter shall constitute a separate violation and shall be 
subject to all remedies and enforcement measures authorized by the Nevada City 
Municipal Code. Additionally, as a nuisance per se, any violation of this Chapter shall be 
subject to injunctive relief, any permit issued pursuant to this Chapter being deemed null 
and void, disgorgement and payment to the City of any monies unlawfully obtained, costs 

Attachment 5.37



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 36 of 39 
 

of abatement, costs of investigation, attorney fees, and any other relief or remedy 
available at law or in equity. The City of Nevada City may also pursue any and all 
remedies and actions available and applicable under state and local laws for any 
violations committed by the medical marijuanacannabis business or persons related to, 
or associated with, the medical marijuanacannabis activity.  Additionally, when there is 
determined to be an imminent threat to public health, safety or welfare, the City Manager, 
his/her designee, or the Chief of Police, may take immediate action to temporarily 
suspend a medical marijuanacannabis business permit issued by the City, pending a 
hearing before the City Council. 
 

C. Remedies cumulative and not exclusive. 
 
The remedies provided herein are not to be construed as exclusive remedies.  The City 
is authorized to pursue any proceedings or remedies provided by law. 
 
SECTION 2. Chapter 17.142 (Medical MarijuanaCannabis Businesses and Activity) of 
Title 17 of the Nevada City Municipal Code is enacted as follows: 
 
Chapter 17.142 MEDICAL MARIJUANACANNABIS BUSINESSES AND ACTIVITY 
 
17.142.010.  Purpose.  The purpose of this part is to further fulfill the purposes and intents 
set forth in Chapter 9.22 of the Nevada City Municipal Code.  No person shall operate a 
medical marijuanacannabis dispensary without first obtaining a City medical 
marijuanacannabis business permit and complying with all the requirements of Chapter 
9.22 of the Nevada City Municipal Code and complying with all applicable state law 
requirements including obtaining a license or permit required by the state to operate a 
medical marijuanacannabis business.  
 
17.142.020.  Definitions.  Unless otherwise provided herein, the terms used in this part 
shall have the meanings ascribed to them in Chapter 9.22 of the Nevada City Municipal 
Code. 
 
17.142.030.  Location of Medical MarijuanaCannabis Dispensaries. 
 

Medical marijuanacannabis dispensaries shall be permitted only as follows: 
 

(a) In the Light Industrial (LI) Zones. 
 

(b) No closer than six hundred (600) feet from any portion of any parcel in the 
City limits containing any of the following: 

 
(1) A school, including pre-school, transitional kindergarten, and K-12; 

or 
 
(2) A public park that is managed by the City of Nevada City 

 

Attachment 5.38



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 37 of 39 
 

17.142.040. Other Medical MarijuanaCannabis Businesses Prohibited. 
 
All other types of medical marijuanacannabis businesses including those engaged in 
cultivation, manufacturing, testing facilities, distributors and transporting businesses are 
prohibited in all zones within the City. 
 

 
17.142.0450. Distances measured; Applicable properties.   
 
The distance between parcels shall be the horizontal distance measured in a straight line 
from any property line of the sensitive use to the closest property line of the lot on which 
the medical marijuanacannabis business is to be located, without regard to any 
intervening structures. The distance requirements in this Chapter shall only be applicable 
with respect to properties located in the City’s limits, unless otherwise required by state 
law.  The distance requirements shall not be applicable with respect to any property 
located outside the City limits.  
 
17.142.0560. Certification from Planning Director.  Prior to commencing operations, a 
medical marijuanacannabis dispensary must obtain a certification from the Planning 
Director certifying that the business is located on a site that meets all of the requirements 
of this Title.   
 
 
SECTION 3. Chapter 17.48 of the Nevada City Municipal Code entitled “Light Industrial 
Zone,” is hereby amended to include medical marijuanacannabis dispensaries as a 
permitted use, subject to the requirements of Chapter 17.142: 
 
 
Chapter 17.48 LIGHT INDUSTRIAL ZONE  
 
17.48.020.  Principal Permitted Uses. 
 

In the LI zone, the following uses are permitted:  

A. Automobile and truck service stations and terminals; 

B. Business services, including advertising, credit, bookkeeping, employment and similar agencies, 
business and management consultants, stenographic, duplicating, blueprinting, photocopying 
and messenger services;  

C. Building materials sales yards; 

D. Light construction and special trade contractors, offices and shops, ornamental iron works, and 
sheet metal shops;  

E. Offices, administrative and executive; 

F. Refrigerators, furnaces and water heaters, repairs and servicing; 

G. Electrical transmission and/or substations; 

Attachment 5.39



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 38 of 39 
 

H. Warehousing, except mini-storage, including storage of furniture and household goods, but 
excluding feed and grain when handled in bulk;  

I. Public utility service yard or garage; 

J. Light manufacturing uses and all uses allowed in the EC zone; 

K. Artists' studios, craft workshops, and cabinet shops. 

L. Emergency shelters. 

M.  Medical MarijuanaCannabis Dispensaries pursuant to the provisions outlined in Chapter 17.142. 

 
 
SECTION 4.  Severability.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this 
Ordinance is for any reason held invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, such a 
decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Ordinance. The City 
Council declares that it would have passed this Ordinance and each section, subsection, 
sentence, clause, or phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that one or more sections, 
subsections, sentences, clauses, or phrases, be declared invalid. 
 
SECTION 5. Effective Date. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect commencing 
thirty (30) days after its final adoption and a summary hereof shall be published once 
within fifteen (15) days in the ____________________, a newspaper of general 
circulation printed and published in the County of Nevada and circulated in the City of 
Nevada City and hereby designated for that purpose by the City Council. 
 
This Ordinance was introduced and read by title only on the __th day of _______, 
20162017 and was passed and adopted on this __th day of ________, 20162017 by the 
following vote:  
 
 
 
AYES:     
NOES: COUNCIL MEMBERS:   
ABSENT: COUNCIL MEMBERS:   
 
 

_____________________________ 
       , Mayor 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:       APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_____________________________  ______________________________ 
, City Clerk        , City Attorney 
 
 

Attachment 5.40



City of Nevada City 
Medical Cannabis Dispensary Marijuana Activity Ordinance  Page 39 of 39 
 

 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA ) 
COUNTY OF NEVADA ) ss. 
CITY OF NEVADA CITY ) 
 
 
I, _________, City Clerk of _______________, do hereby certify that the foregoing 
ordinance was introduced on the ______th day of ____________, 20162017, was 
regularly adopted at a meeting thereof on the ____th day of __________, 20162017 and 
was published/posted pursuant to law. 
 
 
 
 

_____________________________ 
, City Clerk 

 
 

Attachment 5.41



APPLICATION PROCEDURE 

FOR MEDICAL CANNABIS BUSINESS PERMITS 

The application process for a permit to operate a Medical Cannabis Dispensary (“MCD”) in 

Nevada City will open on _________, ______, 2017. Applications will be available at the 

[insert department name and address].  For questions regarding the application process, 

please review the FAQ’s, at the City of Nevada City’s webpage: [insert web address]. This 

outlines the application process, required materials, and other information necessary to operate 

a MCD in Nevada City. To be considered, final applications must be submitted by 10:00 AM 

on ________, ________, 2017 at the [insert department name and address].  

Applicants are further notified that a briefing meeting will be held on either [insert possible 

dates], 2017 at City Hall.  Information on the exact date, time and location for the meeting 

will be posted on the City’s webpage at [insert city’s web address] prior to the opening date 

on __________.    

BEFORE YOU APPLY: 

 Review the information to learn about the application process and which documents you
will need.

 Review the application in its entirety to ensure that it is complete and accurate.
 Review the information on the medical cannabis business application webpage:

[ insert web address] which includes the following information:

• A complete copy of Ordinance No. XX.
• Nevada City Municipal Code (“NCMC”) Chapter 9.22 which contain the

City regulations on Medical Cannabis Dispensaries.
• Local Zoning Ordinance Chapter 17.142 (“Medical Cannabis Uses and

Activities”).
• Live Scan Form.
• Frequently Asked Questions and other general information about the permitting

process.
• State laws governing MCD’s, including the Medical Cannabis Regulation and

Safety Act.
• The California Department of Justice Guidelines for the Security and Non-
Diversion of Marijuana Grown for Medical Use and Senate Bill 420 (Medical
Marijuana Program Act).

GENERAL INFORMATION: 

(1) Application Process: Evaluation and Ranking: The selection process shall consist
of the following Four Phases:  



 

 

(2) Phase 1:  Preliminary determination of eligibility. 

(3) Phase  2:  Initial ranking. 

(4) Phase  3:  Second ranking. 

(5) Phase 4: Public Meeting and City Council Final Selection. 

 

For more information, see Evaluation and Selection Process below. 

(2) Criminal History Check: As part of Phase 1 of the Application Process each 

individual applying to be a principal of the MCD (“Principal”) must apply for a Live Scan criminal 

history check. Applicants are encouraged to utilize entities which are authorized to process Live 

Scan documents to the DOJ/FBI, and have the capability to provide passport quality photographs 

which is required as part of the application process. 

In order to ensure that you have the right form and the required information, we recommend that 

you use the form that has been provided to you in the application package. This form can also be 

found on the City of Nevada City website listed above. However, in any case you must include 

proof of Live Scan payment with the application. The Live Scan process involves submitting 

fingerprints to the DOJ/FBI, which will review for criminal offender record information (CORI). 

CORI reports will be provided to the Nevada City Police Department for the sole purpose of 

determining eligibility for operating a Medical Cannabis Dispensary. See NCMC Section 9.22.0 (m) 

for background check requirements.  The City may deny a permit application if the applicant has 

been convicted of a crime listed in California Business and Professions Code section 19323. 

(3) As part of Phase 1 applicants will be required to identify by APN, and address 

(where available), the property they intend to use for their proposed MCD.  Applicants must also 

obtain a “Zoning Verification Letter” for that property from the Nevada City Planning 

Department.  The purpose of the Zoning Verification Letter is to ensure that the property the 

applicant is applying for meets locational requirements. The review process is expected to take 

approximately ten (10) working days and costs $TBD. The “Zoning Verification Letter” will need 

to be included with the application package. Please note that the issuance of a “Zoning Verification 

Letter” does not constitute written evidence of any kind of permission being given by the City of 

Nevada City, and it does not convey any right to operate a MCD in the City.  Final decisions on 

the issuance of permits will be made by the City Council following the approved application 

procedure process.  The issuance of a Zoning Verification letter is not a “permit” within the 

meaning of the Permit Streamlining Act, nor does it constitute an entitlement of any kind under 

the City’s Zoning or Building Code.  A regulatory permit for the purpose of regulating a MCD 

does not constitute a permit that runs with the land on which the MCD is established. Request for 

Zoning Verification Letters require a written request to the Planning Department and will not be 

completed over the counter.   

(4)  Application: Applicants must hand deliver three (3) complete comprehensive and 

signed copies of the Nevada City Medical Cannabis Dispensary Application Form, and all 

attachments, if any, along with a flash drive which contains one comprehensive and signed copy of the 



 

 

application in a pdf format, and payment of $TBD for the initial application fee by 10:00 AM on 

_______, 2017, to the Planning Department in City Hall. Payment must be made by a certified 

check, cashier’s check or money order made payable to the City of Nevada City. Application Fees are non-

refundable.  

 A complete application will consist of the following information: 

a. The Nevada City Medical Cannabis Dispensary Application Form; 

b. Proof of Live Scan submittal and payment for each of the Principals; 

c. Zoning Verification Letter; and 

d. All of the information about the MCD to be evaluated in Phase 2 and Phase 3 which is described 

in the application and Evaluation Process section below in this procedure. The only 

information that can be submitted after the initial application is proof of property 

ownership. However, any change in location will require a new “Zoning Verification Letter” and 

must be submitted with the application package prior to Phase 3 of the selection process. 

e. Payment of the application fee. 

LATE AND INCOMPLETE APPLICATIONS WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED. 
 

5. Medical Cannabis Expertise Examination: The City at its sole discretion may require one 

Principal from each application to take and pass the Medical Cannabis Expertise Examination. The 

test must be taken by a Principal who affirms under penalty of perjury that they hold at least a ten 

percent (10%) ownership interest in the proposed MCD, and will be actively engaged in the day 

to day operations and oversight of the proposed MCD.  City may request proof that the proposed 

Principal meets this requirement.   

The test may be administered for the top ten (10) finalists to award up to twenty-five (25) additional 

bonus points. The examination will test the applicant’s familiarity with the Nevada City Medical 

Cannabis Dispensary Ordinance, the Medical Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act, California Law 

related to medical cannabis, and the Attorney General’s Guidelines on Medicinal Cannabis, and 

the degree to which the Principal will actually be involved in the day to day operations and 

oversight of the MCD.  This Optional Phase 2A would be taken prior to the scheduling of 

interviews for Phase 3, should the City deem it necessary.  

 
6. Amendments to the Application: Applicants will not be allowed to make amendments to 

their application or supplement it, except as may be specifically authorized in these procedures. 

During Phase 1 applicants will be notified if any of the Principals are ineligible and/or if their 

application is incomplete and will not move forward in the application process.  



 

 

 

7. Payment of Application Fees:  A payment of $TBD will be due as part of the initial 

application. The individual designated as the MCD contact on the application will be notified by e-

mail as to whether the application is advancing to Phase 2, and subsequently to Phase 3. A payment 

of $ TBD must be paid to the City before Phase 2, and a payment of $ TBD will be due before 

Phase 3. As part of Phase 4 the top three (3) applicants, in each of the permitted categories which 

will be presented to City Council, will be required to pay a fee of $ TBD in order to move forward 

for final consideration.   

Deadlines for these payments will be included in the e-mail notification to the primary contact 

person. 

8.  Public Meeting: During Phase 4 the top three (3) applicants must participate in a public 

meeting that will be held at the City of Nevada City Council Chambers located at 317 Broad Street, 

Nevada City, California. Notice of this meeting will be provided by the City to any affected parcels 

located within 300 feet of the proposed location for each of the top three (3) applicants in each category, 

in accordance with NCMC Section 9.22.070 (A)(3). The cost of providing this notification will be paid 

by the applicants as part of the fee in Phase 4 of the selection process.  Applicants are notified that, in 

addition to the Phase 4 fee, they will be required to separately purchase the radius map and labels for the 

public meeting.  Labels and radius map are required at least twenty four (24) days prior to the date of the 

community meeting.  Staff will prepare and mail out the notice.  Applicants will be required to pay $15 per 

mailing and $100 for preparation of notice. 

EVALUATION AND SELECTION 

PROCESS: 

 Phase 1: Determination of Eligibility and Application 
 Each Principal must undergo a criminal history check by obtaining a 

background check through the Live Scan process.  The City may deny a permit 
application if the applicant has been convicted of a crime listed in California Business 
and Professions Code section 19323. 

 Applications must be complete to be considered. Applications will be considered 
complete only if they include all of the information required for Phases 1, 2 and 3.   

 Proposed location of business. 
 

 Phase 2: Initial Ranking (1,500 Points) 
 Applications will be evaluated based on the following criteria: 

 Proposed Location of business (300 Points) 
 Business Plan (400 Points)  
 Neighborhood Compatibility Plan (400 Points) 
 Safety and Security Plan (400 Points) 

 The top 10 applications, if applicable, will move on to Phase 3. 
 

 Phase 2A:  (Optional Phase, to be required at the City’s request only) 
 One Principal may be required to pass a Medical Cannabis Expertise 



 

 

Examination, demonstrating a working knowledge of state and local 
compliance standards as well as the Attorney General’s Guidelines on 
Medicinal Cannabis.  

 

 Phase 3: Second Ranking (2,500 Points) 
 The top 10 applications, if applicable, will be interviewed and evaluated 

by the City Manager based on the criteria listed below. 
 Prior to the scheduling of the interviews in Phase 3, the final ten (10) 

applicants will be required to have their proposed site inspected by 
designated city staff to ascertain current conditions of the facility.  

 The second ranking will be scored based on the following criteria:  
 

 Final Location (proof of ownership or a signed and notarized statement 
from the Property 

 Owner (300 Points) 

 Business Plan (200 Points)  
 Community Benefits (300 Points) 
 Enhanced Product Safety (200 Points) 
 Environmental Benefits (200 Points) 
 Labor & Employment (200 Points) 
 Local Enterprise (200 Points) 
 Neighborhood Compatibility Plan (300 Points) 
 Qualifications of Principals (300) 
 Safety and Security Plan (300 Points)  

 

 After all the applicants from Phase 3 scores have been tabulated they will be 

combined with Phase 2 to establish a new ranking of the top ten (10) applicants. 

The top three (3) applicants, if applicable, will move on to Phase 4 of the selection 

process.   
     

 Phase 4: Public Meeting and City Council’s Final Selection  

Phase 4 Steps to be followed: 

1. Public Meeting of top three (3) applicants for each category. 

2. City Manager’s final review and evaluation. 

3. City staff prepares and presents final report to City Council.  

4. City Council makes final selection.  

 

During Phase 4 the top three (3) applicants shall participate in a public meeting that will be held in 

the Nevada City City Hall Council Chambers on a date and time to be determined by City staff. At the 

Public Meeting the community will be allowed to present concerns and/or support, and provide 

additional considerations for potential permit conditions that will be created by staff. The Public 

Meeting will not be determinative as to who gets the permit but shall inform staff of potential 

concerns for which a condition or conditions may be necessary to address.  Decisions, 

recommendations and conditions will be based primarily on site inspection results, business 

feasibility, and the viability of the proposed location.  After the completion of the Public Meeting 



 

 

and prior to the City Manager’s final recommendation to City Council, the City reserves the right 

to request and obtain additional information from any candidate who submitted a proposal. Upon 

the completion of the final review process, the City Manager will tabulate its final scoring of the 

top three (3) applicants for each category, and present to City Council final scoring of the top three 

(3) applicants from each category.  The top three (3) applicants from each category should be 

prepared to attend a City Council meeting in Nevada City, in order to provide a public presentation 

before the Mayor and City Council introducing their team and providing an overview of their 

proposal. 

Notice of the public meeting must be provided pursuant to the Nevada City Zoning Code. Notice of 

the public meeting shall be sent to all property owners located within three hundred (300) feet of 

the proposed business locations of each of the top three (3) finalists.  Applicants are required to 

purchase the radius/mapping labels for the community meeting.  Labels and radius map are 

required at least twenty four days prior to the date of the community meeting.  Staff will prepare 

the notice and mail out the notice.  Applicants will be required to pay $15 per mailing and $100 

for preparation of notice. 

Following an objective ranking of the application materials, interview process, and upon the 

completion of the public meeting, City staff shall prepare a report bringing forward to the City 

Council the final ranking by the City Manager of the top three (3) candidates in each category.  

City Council may award the initial eligible MCD permit, provided that the applicants have 

obtained all necessary land use entitlement from the City and the City has completed any necessary 

CEQA review needed before the additional land use entitlements can be issued. If a top ranked 

applicant does need to obtain any land use entitlements from the City, the City Council defer 

awarding the permit until the top ranked applicant has receive the additional entitlements from the 

City.  Should the top ranked applicant be unable to receive necessary land use entitlements, the 

City Council may award the permit to the 2nd ranked applicant.   

 

 Please note that being awarded a MCD permit does not constitute a land use 
entitlement and does not waive or remove the requirements of applying for and 
receiving permits for any and all construction including electrical, plumbing, fire, 
planning permits or reviews, and any other permits, licenses, or reviews that may 
be required by the relevant departments or governmental entities in charge of said 
permits. Nor does it guarantee that the plans submitted via the MCD application 
process meet the standards or requirements of those permitting departments. All 
permit awardees will still be required to complete all the permitting processes for 
the proposed construction or occupation of their facility. 

 

DESCRIPTION OF EVALUATION CRITERIA: 

 



 

 

 Proposed Location. Your application must include the APN, address, and a detailed 

description of the proposed location. (Note that proof of ownership, or a notarized letter of 

the owner’s willingness to lease will not be given any additional consideration until Phase 

3). This section should also describe all sensitive uses within six hundred (600) linear feet 

of a school, preschool, or public park as described in NCMC Section 17.142.030. The 

MCD must be located in the appropriate City zone and meet all of the locational requirements 

as in described in NCMC Section 17.142.   

 Business Plan. With as much detail as possible, the Business Plan should describe: 
 Description of day-to-day operations. 
 How the MCD will conform to local and state law. See the Attorney General’s 
Guidelines for the Security and Non-Diversion of Marijuana Grown for Medical 
Use. 
 If operating as a cooperative/collective initially, mechanisms for ensuring that the 

MCD will operate on a Not-for-Profit basis until the dispensary is able to obtain a 

state license to operate in compliance with the MCRSA. 
 How medical cannabis will be tracked and monitored to prevent diversion. 
 A schedule for beginning operation, including a narrative outlining any proposed 

construction and improvements and a timeline for completion. 
 

The Business Plan should include: 
 A budget for construction, operation, maintenance, compensation of employees, 

equipment costs, utility costs, and other operation costs. The budget must 
demonstrate sufficient capital in place to pay startup costs and at least three 
months of operating costs, as well as a description of the sources and uses of 
funds. 

 Proof of capitalization, in the form of documentation of cash or other liquid 
assets on hand, Letters of Credit or other equivalent assets. 

 A pro forma for at least three years of operation. 
 

 Neighborhood Compatibility Plan. For the proposed location, your application should address how 
the MCD, including its exterior areas and surrounding public areas, will be 
managed, so as to avoid becoming a nuisance or having impacts on its neighbors 
and the surrounding community.   
  
 

 Site Plan.  A site plan (accurate, dimensioned and to-scale [minimum scale of 1/4”]) should 
be included for each potential location. 
 

 Safety and Security Plan. For each proposed location, your application should include: 
 A detailed safety plan. This plan should describe the fire prevention, suppression, 

HVAC and alarm systems the facility will have in place. It should include an 

assessment of the facility’s fire safety by a qualified fire prevention and 

suppression consultant. An appropriate plan will have considered all possible fire, 

hazardous material, and inhalation issues/threats and will have both written and 

physical mechanisms in place to deal with each specific situation.     

 A detailed security plan. This plan should include a description and 

detailed schematic of the overall facility security. It should have details on 



 

 

operational security, including but not limited to general security policies 

for the facility, employee specific policies, training, sample written policies, 
transactional security, visitor security, 3rd party contractor security, and 

delivery security. In particular, applications should address ingress and 
egress access, perimeter security, product security (at all hours), internal 

security measures for access (area specific), types of security systems 
(alarms and cameras), and security personnel to be employed. The security 

plan shall also include an assessment of site security by a qualified 
security consultant. Security plans will not be made public. 

 A floor plan showing existing conditions. If changes are proposed as part 
of the project, then a proposed floor plan should also be submitted. The floor 
plan(s) should be accurate, dimensioned and to-scale (minimum scale of 
1/4”). 

 Community Benefits. The application should describe benefits that the MCD 
would provide to the improve the local community, such as employment for local 
residents of the City, community improvements that will occur as a result of their 
MCD project, other community contributions or economic incentives to the City.   

 Enhanced Product Safety. The application should state how the MCD will 
ensure enhanced consumer safety beyond that required by NCMC Chapter 9.22. 

 Environmental Benefits. The application should describe any proposed “green” 
business practices relating to energy and climate, water conservation, and materials and 
waste management. 
 

 Labor & Employment. The application should describe to what extent the MCD will 
adhere to heightened pay and benefits standards and practices, including recognition of the 
collective bargaining rights of employees. Specific practices that are subject to 
consideration include the following: 

 Providing compensation to and opportunities for continuing education and 
training of employees/staff (applications should provide proof of the MCD 
policy and regulations to employees); 

 Providing a “living wage” to facility staff and employees. Wage scale should be 
provided in writing for all levels of employment at the facility. “Living Wage” 
shall mean 200% of the minimum wage mandated by California or Federal law, 
whichever is greater. 

 Local Enterprise. The application should state the extent to which the MCD will 
be a locally managed enterprise whose Principals reside within Nevada City and/or 
the County of Nevada  

 Qualifications of Principals. The application should include information concerning 
any special business or professional qualifications or licenses of principals that would 
add to the number or quality of services that the MCD would provide, especially in areas 
related to medical cannabis, such as scientific or health care fields. 

The City’s Reservation of Right’s 

The City reserves the right to reject any and/or all proposals, with or without any cause or reason. 

The City may also, modify, postpone, or cancel the request for permit applications without 

liability, obligation, or commitment to any party, firm, or organization. In addition, the City 

reserves the right to request and obtain additional information from any candidate submitting a 

proposal. Furthermore, a proposal RISKS BEING REJECTED for any of the following reasons: 

1. Proposal received after designated time and date. 



 

 

2. Proposal not containing the required elements, exhibits, nor organized in the required 

format. 

3. Proposal considered not fully responsive to this request for a permit application. 

4. Proposal contains excess or extraneous material not called for in the request for permit 

application. 

CONTACT: 

If you have any questions or would like an update on the status of your application, please 

contact Amy Wolfson at 530-2496, ext. 130 or by email at Amy.Wolfson@nevadacityca.gov 

 



                               City of Nevada City 

 
City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

 

  

 

 
TO:    Planning Commission 

 

FROM: Mark Prestwich, City Manager 

  Amy Wolfson, City Planner 

Crystal Hodgson, Deputy City Attorney 

 

HEARING DATE:  January 26, 2017 

 

RE: Cannabis Cultivation Ordinance   

 

ACTION REQUESTED 

 

Review and approve the following resolutions:  

 

RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
RECOMMENDING APPROVAL OF A NOTICE OF EXEMPTION (Zoning Code Amendment 
– Chapter 17.140 Cannabis Cultivation) 
 
RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
RECOMMENDING APPROVAL OF AN ORDINANCE ADDING CHAPTER 17.140 TO THE 
NEVADA CITY MUNICIPAL CODE ENTITLED “CANNABIS CULTIVATION” 
 
BACKGROUND 
 

Previous Marijuana Cultivation Ordinance  

 

On December 10, 2015, the Planning Commission passed Resolution 2015-55 recommending approval of an 

Ordinance Adding Chapter 17.140 to the Nevada City Municipal Code Entitled “Cannabis Cultivation.”  The 

City Council heard a first reading of the Ordinance on January 13, 2016, and adopted the Ordinance on January 

27, 2016.   In brief, the Ordinance permitted qualified patients, persons with identification cards, and primary 

caregivers to cultivate up to 25 square feet of marijuana within enclosed structures on single family residences, 

for medical use only, after acquiring a City permit and following the health and safety regulations set forth in the 

Ordinance.  State law requires the City to publish an ordinance (or a summary thereof) along with the names of 

the City Council members who voted for or against the ordinance in a newspaper of general circulation within 

15 days of the passage date in order for the ordinance to take effect.  Through inadvertent error, the City Clerk’s 

office failed to publish the Ordinance, and therefore, it never took effect.  

 

Before the Ordinance was introduced, the City did not explicitly allow cannabis to be cultivated within the City.  

Therefore, the City effectively still bans medical cannabis cultivation within the City.     

 

Upon learning that the Ordinance never took effect, staff checked with the Police Department to find out how 

many people had obtained medical marijuana cultivation licenses under the Ordinance to determine who might 

be affected by the error.  The Police Department reported that they had issued zero (0) licenses under the 

Ordinance.  Therefore, the Planning Commission may consider a new cannabis cultivation ordinance without 

fear of depriving any medical cannabis permit holder of rights they may have exercised under the previous 

Ordinance, because there are no citizens who took advantage of the rights given by the previous Ordinance.   

 



City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

LEGAL BACKGROUND & AUTHORITY 

 

State Cannabis Cultivation Laws  

 

Medical Cannabis Cultivation Laws 

California medical marijuana laws date back to November 5, 1996, when California voters passed Proposition 

215 (known as the Compassionate Use Act of 1996 or “CUA”), which decriminalized the cultivation and use of 

marijuana by seriously ill individuals upon a physician’s recommendation.  In January 2004, the legislature 

passed the Medical Marijuana Program Act (“MMPA”).  Among other things, the MMPA established a program 

providing for voluntary registration of qualified medical marijuana patients and their primary caregivers through 

a statewide identification card system.  (Health & Safety Code sections 13362.71(3) 11362.78.)  In addition to 

establishing the identification card program, the MMPA also recognizes a qualified right to collective and 

cooperative cultivation of medical marijuana.  (Sections 11362.7, 11362.77, and 11362.775.)  Effective January 

1, 2016, the state adopted the Medical Marijuana Regulation and Safety Act, which was renamed in June the 

Medical Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act (“MCRSA”).    The MCRSA does not expand the category of 

people who may use marijuana, a person must still be a qualified patient with a physician’s recommendation to 

receive immunity for using marijuana, but it phases out the collective and cooperative model of marijuana 

cultivation and distribution, and replaces it with a state licensing system that treats the medical marijuana 

industry like other cash crops in the state.   

 

Under the MCRSA, both a state and local license or entitlement is required before a person may cultivate 

marijuana except that a qualified patient (or person with an identification card) may cultivate up to 100 square 

feet of marijuana for his or her personal medical use and a primary caregiver may cultivate up to 500 square feet 

of marijuana for the use of his or her qualified patients’ personal medical use without obtaining a marijuana 

cultivation license from the state.          

 

Non-Medical Marijuana Cultivation Laws 

With the passage of Proposition 64, known as the “Control, Regulate and Tax Adult Use of Marijuana Act” 

(“AUMA”) on November 8, 2016, there is now a state right to cultivate marijuana for non-medical purposes on 

the grounds of a private residence. The AUMA permits persons 21 years and older to cultivate up to 6 plants 

indoors or outdoors on the grounds of a private residence; although, Health and Safety Code section 11362.2 

added by the Act would limit the total number of plants grown at any one single private residence (which is 

defined to include a house, apartment unit, mobile home, or other similar dwelling) to no more than six (6) 

plants.   

 

The AUMA specifically prohibits cities and counties from completely prohibiting indoor cultivation for non-

medical use, but allows cities and counties to completely ban cultivation outdoors upon the grounds of a private 

residence.1  The AUMA also expressly allows cities and counties to enact and enforce reasonable regulations to 

regulate the indoor cultivation of marijuana for non-medical use.2   Although local governments are permitted 

under the AUMA to prohibit outdoor cultivation of marijuana, if a local jurisdiction adopts such a ban (or 

prohibits the retail sale of marijuana or marijuana products) they will be ineligible to receive grants funding 

(comprised of proceeds of the 15% state tax imposed on the retail sales of non-medical marijuana) from the state 

Board of State and Community Corrections to assist with law enforcement, fire protection, or other local 

programs addressing public health and safety associated with the implementation of the AUMA.   

 

Federal Law 

Notwithstanding the CUA, the MMPA, the MCRSA, and the AUMA, marijuana possession, use, and cultivation 

remain criminal offenses under federal law, which categorizes marijuana as a drug with “no currently accepted 

medical use.”   

 

 

                                                 
1 Health and Safety Code section 11362.2, subdivision (b)(2) and (3). 

2 Health and Safety Code section 11362.2, subdivision (b)(1). 



City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

Local Authority 

Under its police power, the City may make and enforce within its limits all local, police, sanitary and other 

ordinances and regulations not in conflict with general laws.  Cal. Const., Art. XI, Section 7. A land use 

regulation lies within the police power if it is reasonably related to the public welfare.  Associated 

Homebuilders, Inc. v. City of Livermore, 18 Cal.3d 582, 600-01 (1976). 

 

The justifications for the banning of outdoor marijuana cultivation and for regulating indoor marijuana 

cultivation under the City’s police power include: 1) a risk to public safety based on the value of marijuana 

plants and the accompanying threat of break-ins, robbery and theft, and attendant violence and injury; 2) strong 

“skunk-like” fumes emitted from mature plants which can interfere with the use and enjoyment of neighboring 

properties by their occupants; and 3) the potential for theft and use by school age children where medical 

marijuana is cultivated in a location close to schools.      

 

No State Law Preemption 

In a decision issued on February 6, 2013, Browne v. County of Tehama, 213 Cal. App. 4th 704 (2013), the 

California Court of Appeal considered for the first time whether a city or a county in California may lawfully 

limit outdoor cultivation of medical marijuana.  At issue was Tehama County’s ordinance limiting the number 

of medical marijuana plants that may be grown outside precluding marijuana cultivation within one thousand 

(1,000) feet of schools, parks, and churches, and requiring that an opaque fence at least six (6) feet in height be 

installed around all marijuana grows.  Upholding the ordinance, the court held that Tehama’s ban is not 

preempted by state law.  As stated by the court:  

 

The fundamental flaw in Petitioners’ argument is their misplaced view that the [Compassionate 

Use Act] somehow creates or grants unrestricted rights.  Petitioners suggest that the CUA grants 

every qualified patient the right to cultivate… medical marijuana…But the CUA does not create 

any such right…Since the CUA does not create a right to cultivate medical marijuana, 

restrictions on such enforcement do not conflict with the CUA.  Id. at 719-20.          

 

Later in 2013, the California courts again considered the question of regulation of the cultivation of medical 

marijuana by a city.  In Maral v. City of Live Oak, 221 Cal.App.4th 975, a decision issued on November 2, 

2103, the Court of Appeal held that the CUA and the MMPA do not preempt a city’s police power to completely 

prohibit the cultivation of all marijuana within that City.  On March 26, 2014, the California Supreme Court 

refused to hear an appeal of this case and denied depublication of the Court of Appeal decision in Maral.  

 

Also in 2013, the California Supreme Court issued the long-awaited decision in City of Riverside v. Inland 

Empire Patients Health and Wellness Center, Inc. et al., 56 Cal. 4th 729, (2013), upholding the ban by the City 

of Riverside on medical marijuana collectives, cooperatives and dispensaries.  The Court held that Riverside’s 

ban on medical marijuana dispensaries was not preempted by California law, as set forth in the CUA or the 

MMPA and thus, the ban was valid.  (Id. at 761.)  The Court’s holding was broad enough to confirm that cities 

are not preempted by California law from regulating marijuana cultivation to prevent all or some types of 

cultivation within their jurisdictions. 

 

The MCRSA explicitly recognizes local jurisdiction authority to regulate marijuana cultivation.   

 

Negative Effects of Outdoor Marijuana Cultivation 

Over the last several years, the City has received complaints of negative effects of outdoor marijuana grows.  

Many of the complaints came from residents and neighbors concerned with the strong odor associated with 

growing a large quantity of mature marijuana plant, with the proximity of children to areas under cultivation, 

visibility of grows from the public right-of-way, and the potential for increased neighborhood crime associated 

with outdoor grows.   

 



City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

OPTIONS FOR REGULATING CULTIVATION  

 

Given the state laws pertaining to medical and non-medical marijuana cultivation, the City has various 

options for regulating the cultivation of marijuana within the City.  As a starting point, keep in mind 

that as of November 9, 2016, all persons 21 years or older may grow up to 6 live marijuana plants on 

the grounds of a private residence, subject to the AUMA’s overall limit of no more than 6 plants per 

private residence.  This means that if more than one person 21 years or older lives together, they may 

not each grow 6 plants; they are collectively permitted to grow up to a total of 6 marijuana plants on 

the grounds of a single private residence.  The City does not have the authority under state law to allow 

persons within its jurisdiction to grow more marijuana plants for non-medical use than the state law 

allows; however, under MCRSA the City may allow persons within its jurisdiction to cultivate 

marijuana for medical purposes in excess of the AUMA’s limit.  The following list explains the 

options for regulating both medical and non-medical marijuana cultivation:  

 

1. Regulation of Medical Marijuana Cultivation: 

A. Prohibit all medical marijuana cultivation. 

-Patients and primary caregivers 21 and older would still be able to cultivate up to 6 plants 

on the grounds of their primary residence under the AUMA.  

B. Permit patients (and persons with identification cards) and primary caregivers to cultivate 

marijuana for medical purposes in excess of the amounts permitted by the AUMA.   

-Then determine if the excess marijuana for medical purposes should be limited to indoor or 

outdoor cultivation, if the City should require a permit for this cultivation, what health and 

safety regulations should be enacted pertaining to the medical cultivation, what the overall 

limit on the excess amount should be, and what the age limit should be (18 and older or 21 

years and older).   

 

2. Regulation of Non-medical Marijuana Cultivation: 

A. Prohibit outdoor cultivation. 

-If the city prohibits outdoor cultivation it will be ineligible for certain grants funds under 

the AUMA. 

B. Adopt regulations on outdoor cultivation. 

-i.e., must have opaque fence, must not use excess water, artificial lighting, or hazardous 

fertilizers that may leak into City waste water system, etc.  

C. Adopt regulations on indoor cultivation. 

-i.e., must not be located in kitchen, bathroom, or bedroom, must install odor filtration 

system, must keep out of reach of minors (secured), must not use excessive water, lighting 

requirements, prohibition on use of hazardous fertilizers that may leak into City waste water 

system, etc.  

 D.  Require a City permit for non-medical cultivation. 

-Although consider City staff time and resources that may be necessary to implement such a 

requirement. 

 E.   Do nothing, and state law will control.  

 

DRAFT ORDINANCE  

 
Planning and Police Department staff have proposed one option in the attached draft Ordinance for the Planning 

Commission’s consideration. The proposed ordinance would prohibit all outdoor marijuana cultivation and 

would permit indoor cultivation consistent with that allowed by the AUMA, except that qualified patients, 

persons with identification cards, and primary caregivers (as those terms are defined by the California Health 

and Safety Code) who are over 21 years of age may apply to the Police Chief or his/her designee for 



City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

authorization to cultivate more than 6 marijuana plants, but no more than 18 live plants, for medical use only 

based on a demonstrated medical necessity.  Such determination shall be valid for one year.    

The Ordinance also adds a number of regulations on where and how indoor cultivation may take place, 

including:  

• Indoor cultivation must occur only on uncarpeted areas, with proper lighting, shielded from

public view from a public right-of-way; 

• Cultivation must be in a fully enclosed secure structure inaccessible to minors;

• Structures used for indoor marijuana cultivation must have proper ventilation to prevent mold

damage and plant odors or particles from becoming a public nuisance; 

• Indoor marijuana cultivation may not exceed twenty-five (25) square feet unless a grower can

demonstrate medical necessity to the Police Chief. 

As stated above, this draft ordinance is merely one option among many that the Planning Commission 

may choose to recommend to the City Council for adoption.   

GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY 

The proposed ordinance is consistent with the City of Nevada City General Plan in that the General 

Plan, its objectives, polices and goals do not permit or contemplate outdoor marijuana cultivation or 

unregulated indoor marijuana cultivation.  The proposed ordinance is consistent with the General 

Plan’s goal of promoting health, safety and welfare.   

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 

Staff recommends that the Planning Commission recommend approval of a Resolution Approving a 

Notice of Exemption finding that the adoption of the Ordinance is exempt from the requirements of the 

California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) pursuant to Title 14, Chapter 3, California Code of 

Regulations (CEQA Guidelines), Section 15061(b)(3).  The proposed Ordinance will ban outdoor 

cultivation of marijuana and allow a very limited amount of marijuana to be grown indoors in excess 

of what state law currently allows.  There is no possibility that the adoption of the Ordinance will have 

a significant effect on the environment, because the Ordinance permits only a small number of 

marijuana plants to be grown indoors, similar in size to the amount of houseplants of non-marijuana 

varieties that may already exist in normal households, with similar electric, water, and fertilizer usage.   

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that the Planning Commission, after hearing from the public and consideration, 

recommend the draft ordinance for adoption to the City Council, with any modifications and 

recommend adoption of a Notice of Exemption for the ordinance. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Resolution Recommending Approval of a Notice of Exemption

2. Resolution Recommending Approval of an Ordinance Adding Chapter 17.140 to the 
Nevada City Municipal Code entitled “Cannabis Cultivation” (with attached Ordinance) 



 
RESOLUTION NO. 2017-XX                     

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF NEVADA CITY, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, 
RECOMMENDING APPROVAL OF A NOTICE OF 

EXEMPTION  
(Ordinance Adding Chapter 17.140 entitled “Cannabis 

Regulations”) 
   

WHEREAS, City planning and legal staff have reviewed the Ordinance Amending the Nevada 
City Municipal Code to add Chapter 17.140 entitled “Marijuana Cultivation” (“Project”) and 
determined that it is exempt from review under the California Environmental Quality Act pursuant to 
Title 14, Chapter 3, California Code of Regulations, Section 15061 (b)(3) – Activity is not subject to 
CEQA because there is no possibility the project will have a significant effect on the environment; and 
 

WHEREAS, a Notice of Exemption has been prepared for the Project. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Planning Commission of the City of Nevada City 

as follows: 
 
Section 1. Based on the review and determination of the Planning Department, the Planning 

Commission of the City of Nevada City finds that the Project is exempt from review under the 
California Environmental Quality Act. 
 

Section 2. A Notice of Exemption is recommended for approval for the Project. 
 
Section 3. Upon approval of the Project by the City Council, the City Clerk may file the Notice 

of Exemption with the County Clerk of Nevada County and, if the Project requires a discretionary 
approval from any state agency, with the State Office of Planning and Research, pursuant to the 
provisions of Section 21152(b) of the Public Resources Code and the State EIR Guidelines adopted 
pursuant thereto. 

 
PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the Planning Commission of the City of Nevada 

City at a public meeting held on the 19th of January, 2017. 
 
 
       _______________________________________ 
       ____________________,CHAIRMAN 
ATTEST:   
 
 
By:  __________________________________      
        Secretary 



 
NOTICE OF EXEMPTION 

   
 
 

TO:  Office of Planning and Research  FROM:  City of Nevada City 

  1400 Tenth Street       317 Broad Street 
  Sacramento, CA 95814      Nevada City, CA 95959 
 

 Nevada County Clerk/Recorder’s Office 

Environmental Filings 
Eric W. Rood Administrative Center 
950 Maidu Avenue, Nevada City CA 95959 

 
 
Project Title:  Ordinance Amending Nevada City Municipal Code to Add Chapter 17.140 entitled 
“Marijuana Cultivation” 
 
Project Address:  317 Broad Street, Nevada City, California 95959 
 
Project Location – City: City of Nevada City 
Project Location – County: Nevada 
 
Project Description:  The ordinance amends the Nevada City Municipal Code to add Chapter 17.140 
containing marijuana cultivation regulations.  Chapter 17.140 prohibits outdoor marijuana cultivation, 
and permits limited indoor cultivation by qualified patients and primary caregivers.   
 
Name of Public Agency Approving Project: City of Nevada City 
 
Name of Person or Agency Carrying Out Project:  City of Nevada City 
 
Exempt Status:  (Check One) 
  Ministerial (Section 21080(b)(1); 15268); 
  Declared Emergency (Section 21080(b)(3); 15269(a)); 
  Emergency Project (Section 21080(b)(4); 15269(b)(c)); 
     X  “Common Sense” Exception (Section 15061(b)(3)) 
__   Categorical Exemption.  Type and section number:   
  Statutory Exemptions. State code number:  
 
Reasons why project is exempt: The project is an ordinance that amends the Nevada City Municipal 
Code to add Chapter 17.140 entitled “Cannabis Cultivation.”  Chapter 17.140 prohibits all outdoor 
cultivation within the City, and allows qualified patient and primary caregivers to cultivate a limited 
amount of marijuana plants indoors, subject to the other requirements contained in the Chapter.  The 
ordinance allows such a small amount of indoor marijuana to be grown by a select few qualifying 
individuals, and energy, water, and fertilizer/pesticide usage will be substantially similar to existing 
typical household non-marijuana indoor plant grows, so that there will be an overall negligible impact to 
the environment.  Therefore, the project is exempt from CEQA as there is no possibility that the project 
will have a significant impact on the environment (Title 14, Chapter 3, Section 15061(b)(3).) 
 
Lead Agency Contact Person: Amy Wolfson, City Planner  Number:     
 
Signature & Title:          Date:      
 

  Signed by Lead Agency     Signed by Applicant Date received for filing:    
 



RESOLUTION NO. 2015-XX

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE 
CITY OF NEVADA CITY, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, 

RECOMMENDING ADOPTION OF AN ORDINANCE 
ADDING CHAPTER 17.140 ENTITLED “CANNABIS 

CULTIVATION” 

The Planning Commission of the City of Nevada City finds and determines that: 

Section 1. 

A. The Ordinance Amending the Nevada City Municipal Code to add Chapter 17.140
entitled “Cannabis Cultivation” (“Ordinance”) is exempt from review under the California 
Environmental Quality Act pursuant to California Code of Regulations Section 15061 (b)(3) – Activity is 
not subject to CEQA because there is no possibility the Ordinance will have a significant effect on the 
environment; and 

B. The activities permitted under the Ordinance are consistent with and implement the
goals and policies of the Nevada City General Plan; 

Section 2. The Planning Commission hereby recommends City Council approval of 
the Ordinance Amending the Nevada City Municipal Code to add Chapter 17.140 entitled “Cannabis 
Cultivation” in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and incorporated herein by this reference.     

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the Planning Commission of the City of Nevada 
City at a public meeting held on the 26th of January, 2017. 

_______________________________________ 
____________________,CHAIRMAN 

ATTEST:  

By:  __________________________________ 
        Secretary 



EXHIBIT “1” 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF NEVADA CITY, CALIFORNIA, 
ADDING CHAPTER 17.140 TO THE NEVADA CITY MUNICIPAL CODE 
ENTITLED “CANNABIS CULTIVATION”  

 
WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City, pursuant to its police power, may adopt 

regulations to protect the health, safety and welfare of the public, Cal. Const. art. XI, § 7, 
Cal. Govt. Code § 37100, and thereby is authorized to declare what use or condition 
constitutes a public nuisance; and 

 
WHEREAS, Section 38771 of the California Government Code 38771 authorizes the 

City through its legislative body to declare actions and activities that constitute a public 
nuisance; and 

 
WHEREAS, in 1970, Congress enacted the Controlled Substances Act (21 U.S.C. 

Section 801 et seq.) which, among other things, makes it illegal to import, manufacture, 
distribute, possess, or use Cannabis for any purpose in the United States and further 
provides criminal penalties for Cannabis possession, cultivation and distribution; and 

 
WHEREAS, the People of the State of California have enacted Proposition 215, the 

Compassionate Use Act of 1996 (codified at Health and Safety Code Section 11362.5 et 
seq.) (the “CUA”), which exempts qualified patients and their primary caregivers from 
criminal prosecution under enumerated Health and Safety Code sections for use of 
Cannabis for medical purposes; and 

 
WHEREAS, the California Legislature enacted Senate Bill 420 in 2003, the Medical 

Marijuana Program Act (codified at Health and Safety Code Section 11362.7 et seq.) (the 
“MMPA”), as amended, which created a state-wide identification card scheme for qualified 
patients and primary caregivers; and 

 
WHEREAS, on October 11, 2015, the Governor signed into law Senate Bill 643, 

Assembly Bill 266, and Assembly Bill 243, collectively referred to as the Medical Marijuana 
Regulation and Safety Act (“MMRSA”), effective January 1, 2016, which establishes a state 
licensing system for medical marijuana cultivation, manufacturing, delivery, and dispensing, 
regulating these activities with licensing requirements and regulations that are only 
applicable if cities and counties also permit Cannabis cultivation, manufacturing, 
dispensing, and delivery within their jurisdictions.  Under the MMRSA, cities and counties 
may continue to ban medical Cannabis cultivation, manufacturing, dispensing, and delivery, 
in which case the new law would not allow or permit these activities within the cities and 
counties; and   

 
WHEREAS, notwithstanding the CUA, the MMPA, and the MMRSA, marijuana 

remains a schedule I substance pursuant to Cal. Health & Saf. Code § 11054 (d)(13); and 
 
WHEREAS, marijuana also remains a schedule I substance pursuant to federal law, 

21 U.S.C. § 812, Schedule 1 (c)(10), and federal law does not provide for any medical use 
defense or exception (Gonzales v. Raich, 545 U.S. 1 (2005); United States v. Oakland 
Cannabis Buyers’ Coop., 532 U.S. 483 (2001)); and  

 



WHEREAS, the California Supreme Court has established that neither the CUA nor 
the MMPA preempt local regulation in the case of City of Riverside v. Inland Empire 
Patients Health and Wellness Center, Inc., 56 Cal. 4th 729 (2013); and 

 
WHEREAS, the MMRSA expressly allows cities and counties to ban marijuana 

cultivation consistent with current state law including the City of Riverside v. Inland Empire 
Patients Health and Wellness Center, Inc., 56 Cal. 4th 729 (2013); 

 
WHEREAS, the MMRSA provides that if a city, county, or city and county does not 

have land use regulations or ordinances regulating or prohibiting the cultivation of 
Cannabis, either expressly or otherwise under the principles of permissive zoning, or 
chooses not to administer a conditional permit program pursuit to the MMRSA, then 
commencing March 1, 2016, the state will be the sole licensing authority for medical 
marijuana cultivation applicants (Health & Safety Code section 11372.777(c)(4));   

 
WHEREAS, the City intends by the adoption of this ordinance to regulate Cannabis 

cultivation within the City for the express and specific purpose of preserving the City’s 
authority to ban and/or adopt future regulations pertaining to marijuana cultivation as is 
required by California Health and Safety Code section 11372.777(c)(4), effective January 1, 
2016, added by the MMRSA; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Nevada City finds that it is in the interest 

of the health, safety and welfare of the City to make prohibit outdoor Cannabis cultivation 
and to limit and regulate the indoor cultivation of Cannabis within the City;  

 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the outdoor cultivation of Cannabis 

significantly impacts, or has the potential to significantly impact, the City’s jurisdiction. 
These impacts include the following:  

 
A. Public safety agencies, city residents, and other public entities have reported 

adverse impacts from outdoor Cannabis cultivation, including disagreeable odors 
and release of pollen that can aggravate the respiratory system; increased risk of 
burglary and other property crimes; and acts of violence in connection with the 
commission of such crimes or the occupants' attempts to prevent such crimes.  

B. The creation of persistent strong odors as Cannabis plants mature and flower is 
offensive to many people and creates an attractive nuisance, alerting persons to the 
location of valuable Cannabis plants and creating an increased risk of crime.  

C. The unregulated cultivation of Cannabis can adversely affect the health, safety and 
well-being of the city and its residents. Comprehensive regulation of premises used 
for Cannabis cultivation is proper and necessary to avoid the risks of criminal 
activity, degradation of the natural environment, smells and indoor electrical fire 
hazards that may result from unregulated Cannabis cultivation, especially if the 
amount of Cannabis cultivated on a single premises is not regulated and substantial 
amounts of Cannabis can be cultivated in a concentrated place.  

D. Unlimited and unregulated indoor cultivation of substantial amounts of Cannabis also 
frequently requires excessive use of electricity, which often creates an unreasonable 
risk of fire from the electrical grow lighting systems used in indoor cultivation.  

E. Children are particularly vulnerable to the effects of Cannabis use, and the presence 
of Cannabis plants has proven to be an attractive nuisance for children, creating an 
unreasonable hazard in areas frequented by children including hospitals, schools, 
church parks or playgrounds, childcare centers, recreation centers or youth centers. 



Cultivation of any amount of Cannabis at, or near these sensitive uses presents 
unique risks that the Cannabis plants may be observed by juveniles, and therefore 
be especially vulnerable to theft or recreational consumption by juveniles. Further, 
the potential for criminal activities associated with Cannabis cultivation in such 
locations poses heightened risks that juveniles will be involved or endangered. 
Therefore, cultivation of any amount of Cannabis in such locations or premises is 
especially hazardous to public safety and welfare, and to the protection of children 
and the person(s) cultivating the Cannabis plants.  

 
F. The cultivation of Cannabis in other cities has resulted in calls for service to the 

police department, including calls for robberies thefts, and physical assaults from 
Cannabis that is grown outdoors;  

 
G. Cannabis growth poses significant safety risks for surrounding neighbors, 

including but not limits to, risks of violent confrontation in connection with 
attempts to steal Cannabis, risk of fire from improperly wired electrical lights 
within structures growing Cannabis, risk of guard dogs and security measures 
associated with structures and properties growing Cannabis; and 
 

H. Staff and residents of the city have observed that the smell associated with 
Cannabis cultivation is severe enough that it interferes with the use and 
enjoyment of property in the city. 

 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City, California, pursuant to the provisions of the 

California Environmental Quality Act (hereinafter “CEQA”) (California Public Resources 
Code Sections 21000 et seq.) and State CEQA guidelines (Sections 15000 et seq.) has 
determined that the Ordinance is exempt pursuant to Section 15061(b)(3) of Title 14 the 
California Code of Regulations; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the provisions of this Ordinance are 

consistent with the City of Nevada City’s General Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds that this Ordinance will not adversely affect 

property values and will not be detrimental to the City; and  
 
 WHEREAS, on  [INSERT DATE]                                            , 2015, following 

proper notice and public hearing, the City’s Planning Commission adop ted Resolution No. 
[INSERT RESO. NO.]  recommending to the City Council the adoption of an Ordinance 
amending Title [INSERT TITLE NO.] of the Nevada City  Municipal Code, relating to 
Cannabis cultivation; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City Council has considered evidence presented by the Planning 

Commission and City Staff at a duly noticed public hearing held on [INSERT DATE]; and 
 
WHEREAS, all legal prerequisites prior to the adoption of this ordinance have 

occurred. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY DOES 

ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1: The City Council finds that all the facts, findings, and conclusions set forth above 
in this Ordinance are true and correct. 



 
SECTION 2: Chapter 17.140 is hereby added to the Nevada City Municipal Code to read as 
follows: 
 

Chapter 17.140 
CANNABIS CULTIVATION 

Sections: 

17.140.010    Purpose. 

17.140.020    Definitions. 

17.140.030    Outdoor cultivation of Cannabis. 

17.140.040    Indoor cultivation of Cannabis. 

17.140.045    Cultivation permit. 

17.140.050    Public nuisance. 

17.140.055    Sale of medical Cannabis prohibited. 

17.140.060    Enforcement. 

17.140.070    Penalty for violation. 

17.140.010 Purpose. 

The purpose and intent of this chapter are to require that medical Cannabis be cultivated only in appropriately secured, 

enclosed, and ventilated structures, so as not to be visible to the general public, to provide for the health, safety and 

welfare of the public, to prevent negative impacts to property values, to prevent odor created by Cannabis plants from 

impacting adjacent properties, to prevent crime associated with Cannabis, and to ensure that Cannabis grown for 

medical purposes remains secure and does not find its way to nonpatients, minors, or illicit markets. Nothing in this 

chapter is intended to authorize the cultivation, possession, or use of Cannabis for nonmedical purposes in violation of 

state or federal law. It is not the intent of this chapter to create conflict or inconsistency between this chapter and (A) the 

Constitutions of the United States or the state of California; (B) the federal Controlled Substances Act; or (C) California 

law.  

17.140.020 Definitions. 

For purposes of this chapter, the following definitions shall apply, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise: 

“Abatement” means the removal of Cannabis plants and improvements that support Cannabis cultivation which occupy 

an area or cubic feet in excess of the area and cubic feet that is allowed under this chapter. 

“Bedroom” means a room inside a residential building being utilized by any person primarily for sleeping purposes. 

“Child care center” means any licensed child care center, daycare center, or child care home, or any preschool. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.010
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.020
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.030
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.040
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.045
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.050
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.055
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.060
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/ranchocordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.070


“Cultivated area” means any area indoors that is the greater of either (A) the total area of a property that is densely or 

primarily occupied by Cannabis cultivation; or (B) one square foot per juvenile or mature Cannabis plant indoors on the 

property. 

“Cultivation” or “Cannabis cultivation” means the planting, growing, harvesting, drying, or processing of Cannabis plants, 

or any part thereof. 

“Fully enclosed and secure structure” means a space within a building, greenhouse or other structure which has a 

complete roof enclosure supported by connecting walls extending from the ground to the roof, which is secure against 

unauthorized entry, provides complete visual screening, and which is accessible only through one or more lockable 

doors and inaccessible to minors. 

“Indoors” means within a fully enclosed and secure structure. 

“Cannabis” means the plant Cannabis sativa L. and any of its derivatives that is six inches in height or taller, grown in 

accordance with state law. 

“Outdoors” means any location within the city of Nevada City that is not within a fully enclosed and secure structure. 

“Parcel” means property assigned a separate parcel number by the Nevada County assessor. 

“Premises” means a single, legal parcel of property. Where contiguous legal parcels are under common ownership or 

control, such contiguous legal parcels shall constitute a single “premises” for purposes of this chapter. 

“Primary caregiver” means a “primary caregiver” as defined in Section 11362.7(d) of the Health and Safety Code, as 

may be amended from time to time. 

“Qualified patient” means a “qualified patient” as defined in Section 11362.7(f) of the Health and Safety Code. 

“Rear yard” means the rear open space portion of any premises, whether fenced or unfenced. 

“Residential structure” means any building or portion thereof legally existing which contains living facilities, including 

provisions for sleeping, eating, cooking, and sanitation on a premises or legal parcel located within a zoning district that 

allows residential uses. 

“School” means an institution of learning for persons under 21 years of age, whether public or private, offering regular 

course of instruction including, without limitation, a kindergarten, elementary school, middle or junior high school, or 

senior high school. 

“Single-family dwelling” means a detached building designed for and/or occupied by one family which does not share 

walls with another dwelling. 

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=HSC&sectionNum=11362.7
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=HSC&sectionNum=11362.7


“Solid fence” means a fence constructed of substantial material (such as wood or vinyl) that prevents viewing the 

contents from one side to the other. 

17.140.030 Outdoor cultivation of Cannabis. 

All outdoor cultivation of Cannabis within the city is prohibited. It is hereby declared to be unlawful and a public nuisance 

for any person owning, leasing, occupying, or having charge or possession of any parcel within any zoning district in the 

city of Nevada City to cause or allow such parcel to be used for the outdoor cultivation of Cannabis.  

17.140.040 Indoor cultivation of Cannabis. 

A. It is hereby declared to be unlawful and a public nuisance for any person owning, leasing, occupying, or having 

charge or possession of any parcel in the city of Nevada City to cause or allow such parcel to be used for the cultivation 

of Cannabis plants within a fully enclosed and secure structure on the parcel, except as provided in subsections (B) and 

(C) of this section. 

B. Who Is Permitted to Cultivate Cannabis Indoors. 

1. Only a person who is at least 18 years old and either a qualified patient or a primary caregiver may 

engage in indoor cultivation of medical Cannabis. 

2. Residency Requirement. The qualified patient or primary caregiver shall reside full-time on the 

premises where the indoor cultivation of medical Cannabis occurs. 

3. Permission of Owner. Tenants shall obtain the written permission, with notarized signature of the 

property owner(s) prior to cultivating Cannabis. Such written permission shall be submitted to the city 

together with the completed cultivation permit application. 

4. Permit Required. Prior to engaging in any indoor cultivation of Cannabis pursuant to this chapter, a 

qualified patient or primary caregiver shall obtain a cultivation permit from the city’s Chief of Police or his 

or her designee, as provided by NCMC 17.140.045. 

C. Indoor Cultivation Standards. Cannabis cultivated indoors, within the city of Nevada City, shall be in conformance 

with the following standards: 

1. Indoor cultivation of Cannabis is permitted only on parcels with single-family residential units. 

2. Cannabis cultivation is permitted only within fully enclosed and secure structures inaccessible to 

minors. If the fully enclosed and secure structure is a residence, it shall be a single-family dwelling. No 

cultivation may occur in duplexes, triplexes, or other multifamily dwellings. A fully enclosed and secure 

structure used for the cultivation of Cannabis that is separate from the main residence on a premises 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/RanchoCordova06/RanchoCordova0690.html#6.90.045


must maintain a minimum 10-foot setback from any property line and the area surrounding the structure 

must be enclosed by a solid fence at least six feet in height. 

3. Cannabis cultivation may not occur in both a detached structure and inside a residence on the same 

parcel. Only one cultivation area is allowed per parcel. 

4. Cannabis cultivation may not occur in a residence where persons under 18 years of age reside, 

whether full- or part-time. 

5. Cannabis cultivation areas in a structure shall not be accessible to persons under 18 years of age. 

Cultivation areas shall be secured by lock and key or other security device which prevents unauthorized 

entry. 

6. Indoor cultivation of Cannabis shall not exceed 25 square feet, regardless of how many qualified 

patients or primary caregivers are residing at the premises, unless the Chief of Police or his or her or 

designee has approved a request under subsection (D) of this section. 

7. Cannabis cultivation shall not occur on any carpeted area. 

8. Cannabis cultivation lighting shall not exceed 1,200 watts and shall comply with the California 

Building, Electrical and Fire Codes as adopted by the city. 

9. The use of gas products (CO2, butane, etc.) or generators for Cannabis cultivation or processing is 

prohibited. 

10. Cannabis cultivation for sale is prohibited. 

11. From a public right-of-way, there shall be no exterior evidence of Cannabis cultivation. 

12. The residence shall be occupied and is required to maintain a functioning kitchen and bathroom(s), 

and the use of primary bedrooms are for their intended purpose. These rooms shall not be used for 

Cannabis cultivation. 

13. Any Cannabis cultivation area located within a residence shall not create a humidity or mold problem 

in violation of Nevada City building and state health and safety codes. 

14. Any structure used for the cultivation of medical Cannabis must have proper ventilation to prevent 

mold damage and to prevent Cannabis plant odors or particles from becoming a public nuisance to 

surrounding properties or the public. A public nuisance may be deemed to exist if the cultivation 

produces odors which are disturbing to people of normal sensitivity residing or present on adjacent or 

nearby property or areas open to the public. 



15. The Cannabis cultivation area shall not adversely affect the health or safety of the nearby residents 

by creating dust, glare, heat, noise, smoke, traffic, vibration, or other impacts, and shall not be 

hazardous due to use or storage of materials, processes, products or wastes. 

16. The Cannabis grower shall pay any applicable city taxes relating to Cannabis. 

17.  Cannabis cultivation may not occur within 600 feet of a school. 

D. Indoor Cannabis Cultivation in Excess of 25 Square Feet. Any proposed Cannabis cultivation by an individual that 

may exceed the cultivation area standard maximum of 25 square feet per residence shall require administrative review 

by the Chief of Police or his or her designee, and shall meet the criteria set forth above, as well as the additional criteria 

set forth in subsections (D)(1) through (3) of this section: 

1. Documentation of medical need, such as a physician’s recommendation; and 

2. Inspection of the cultivation area by a building inspector or code enforcement officer to confirm that no 

health or safety concerns are present; and 

3. The building official may require additional specific standards to meet the California Building Code and 

Fire Code, including, but not limited to, installation of fire suppression sprinklers.  

17.140.045 Cultivation permit. 

A. Prior to commencing any indoor medical Cannabis cultivation, a qualified patient or primary caregiver must obtain a 

medical Cannabis cultivation permit from the Chief of Police or his or her designee. The following information will be 

required with the initial permit application and subsequent permit extensions: 

1. A notarized signature from the owner of the property consenting to the cultivation of medical Cannabis 

at the premises on a form acceptable to the city, and when the applicant is not the sole owner of the 

property, then written permission of the owner’s consent to allow Cannabis cultivation to occur on the 

premise with the owner’s notarized signature. 

2. The name of each person owning, leasing, occupying, or having charge of any legal parcel or 

premises where medical Cannabis will be cultivated. 

3. The name of each qualified patient or primary caregiver who participates in the medical Cannabis 

cultivation. 

4. A copy of a current valid medical recommendation or county-issued medical Cannabis card for each 

qualified patient identified as required above, and for each qualified patient for whom any person 

identified as required above is the primary caregiver. 



5. The physical site address of where the medical Cannabis will be cultivated. 

6. A signed consent form, acceptable to the city, authorizing city staff, including the Chief of Police  or his 

or her designee, to conduct a quarterly inspection of the detached, fully enclosed and secure structure or 

area of the residence used for the cultivation of Cannabis upon 24 hours’ notice. 

B. The initial permit shall be valid for one year and each renewal permit shall be valid for one year.   

C. To the extent permitted by law, any personal or medical information submitted with a medical Cannabis cultivation 

permit application or permit extension shall be kept confidential and shall only be used for purposes of administering 

this chapter. 

D. The Chief of Police, or his or her designee, may, in his or her discretion, deny any application for a medical Cannabis 

cultivation permit, or extension thereof, where he or she finds, based on articulated facts, that the issuance of such 

permit, or extension thereof, would be detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare. A prior criminal conviction for a 

drug-related offense by the permit applicant shall be grounds for denial. The Chief of Police shall deny an application for 

a medical Cannabis cultivation permit, or extension thereof, that does not demonstrate satisfaction of the minimum 

requirements of this chapter. Such denial shall be given to the applicant in writing and shall describe the grounds for the 

denial. 

E. A person who is denied a Cannabis cultivation permit under this section may appeal such denial within 10 days of the 

date the Chief of Police issues the written denial required by subsection (D) of this section. 

F. Upon timely request by the person requesting the Cannabis cultivation permit, the appeal hearing process and 

related procedures of a denial of its permit pursuant to this section shall proceed pursuant to the provisions of this Title 

17. 

G. The finance director may establish a fee or fees required to be paid upon filing of an application for permit(s) as 

provided by this chapter, which fees shall not exceed the reasonable cost of administering this chapter.  

H. Permittees shall comply with all state laws, guidelines, and license requirements applicable to Cannabis cultivation 

including those set forth and promulgated under the Medical Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act.  Failure to comply 

with any state law, regulations, or license requirement pertaining to Cannabis cultivation shall be grounds for City permit 

revocation.  Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to allow a permittee to cultivate Cannabis within the City of 

Nevada City in violation of state law.   

17.140.050 Public nuisance. 

It is hereby declared to be unlawful for any person owning, leasing, occupying, or having charge or possession of any 

parcel within the city of Nevada City to create a public nuisance in the course of cultivating Cannabis plants or any part 

thereof. A public nuisance may be deemed to exist if such activity produces: 



A. Odors which are disturbing to people of normal sensitivity residing or present on adjacent or nearby property or areas 

open to the public; 

B. Repeated responses (more than three times in a one-year time period) to the parcel from law enforcement officers; 

C. Repeated disruption (more than three times in a one-year time period) to the free passage of persons or vehicles in 

the neighborhood; 

D. Excessive noise in violation of applicable city noise standards in the general plan or municipal code; 

E. Any other impacts on the neighborhood which are disruptive of normal activity in the area.  

17.140.055 Sale of medical Cannabis prohibited. 

It shall be unlawful for any person cultivating medical Cannabis pursuant to this chapter to sell or offer for sale the 

Cannabis permitted to be grown under this chapter.  

17.140.060 Enforcement. 

A. The violation of this chapter is hereby declared to be a public nuisance. Any person violating any provision of this 

chapter shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction, shall be punished by a fine not to exceed the 

amount provided in Penal Code Section 19, as may be amended from time to time, by imprisonment in the county jail 

not to exceed six months, or by both a fine and imprisonment. 

B. A violation of this chapter may be abated by the city attorney by the prosecution of a civil action for injunctive relief 

and by the abatement procedure set forth in Chapter 8.04 NCMC. 

C. Abatement Procedure. The code enforcement officer and/or the Chief of Police, or his or her designee (hereafter the 

“enforcement official”), are hereby authorized to order the abatement of any violation of this chapter by following the 

abatement procedure as defined in Chapter 8.04 NCMC. In addition, the enforcement official may require the property 

owner or tenant to personally abate/remove all medical Cannabis plants and improvements to the property that exceed 

the limits set by this chapter. 

17.140.070 Penalty for violation. 

A. Cultivation of Cannabis on parcels within the city that does not comply with this chapter is a misdemeanor subject to 

the penalties and enforcement as provided in NCMC sections 1.12.010. 

B. The remedies and penalties provided herein are cumulative, alternative and nonexclusive. The use of one does not 

prevent the use of any others, including those in NCMC section 1.12.010 and Chapter 8.04 NCMC, and none of these 

penalties and remedies prevents the city from using any other remedy at law or in equity which may be available to 

enforce this chapter or to abate a public nuisance.  

 

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=PEN&sectionNum=19
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/RanchoCordova16/RanchoCordova1618.html#16.18
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/RanchoCordova01/RanchoCordova0101.html#1.01.190
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/RanchoCordova/html/RanchoCordova16/RanchoCordova1618.html#16.18


SECTION 3:  Any provision of the Nevada City Municipal Code or appendices thereto 
inconsistent with the provisions of this Ordinance, to the extent of such inconsistencies and no 
further, is hereby repealed or modified to that extent necessary to effect the provisions of this 
Ordinance. 

SECTION 4:  Should any provision of this Ordinance, or its application to any person or 
circumstance, be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unlawful, unenforceable 
or otherwise void, that determination shall have no effect on any other provision of this 
Ordinance or the application of this Ordinance to any other person or circumstance and, to that 
end, the provisions hereof are severable. The City Council of the City of Nevada City declares 
that it would have adopted all the provisions of this ordinance that remain valid if any 
provisions of this ordinance are declared invalid. 

SECTION 5:  The Mayor shall sign and the City Clerk shall certify to the passage and adoption 
of this Ordinance and shall cause the same to be published and posted pursuant to the 
provisions of law in that regard and this Ordinance shall take effect 30 days after its final 
passage. 

APPROVED FOR INTRODUCTION AT A REGULAR MEETING on the ____th day of 
_________, 2015, by the following vote: 

AYES: COUNCIL MEMBERS:  
NOES: COUNCIL MEMBERS:  
ABSENT: COUNCIL MEMBERS:  

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED this _____th day of __________, 2017, by the 
following vote: 

AYES: COUNCIL MEMBERS:  
NOES: COUNCIL MEMBERS:  
ABSENT: COUNCIL MEMBERS:  

_____________________________ 
_________________, Mayor 

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

_____________________________ 
__________, City Clerk  _______________, City Attorney 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA ) 



COUNTY OF ________ ) ss. 
CITY  OF ____________ ) 

I, ___________, City Clerk of _______________, do hereby certify that the foregoing 
ordinance was introduced on the ______th day of ____________, 2017, was regularly adopted 
at a meeting thereof on the ____th day of __________, 2017 and was published/posted 
pursuant to law. 

_____________________________ 
_______________, City Clerk 



                               City of Nevada City 

 
City Hall  ·  317 Broad Street  ·  Nevada City, California 95959  ·  (530) 265-2496 

 

 
 
 
TO:    Planning Commission 
 
FROM: Amy Wolfson, City Planner 
 
SPECIAL MEETING DATE:  January 26, 2017 
 
RE: Recommendation for Simplifying Rules and Regulations   
 
ACTION REQUESTED 
Provide recommendation to City Council for streamlining rules and regulations as specified below, or as may be 
modified by the Planning Commission.  
 
BACKGROUND 
At the August 25, 2016 “Six-Month Strategic Objectives” workshop City staff and elected officials laid out a 
preliminary 6-month schedule intended to set in motion the accomplishment of several goals within a total 
timeframe of three-years. One such three-year goal was to “Enhance and Maintain the Infrastructure and 
Facilities.” Among the objectives intended to reach this goal, tasked to the City Planner and Commissioner 
Moon, was the following:  

 
Identify rules and regulations (e.g., streets, trees, sidewalks) for the public and how to simplify 
them to be more user friendly for citizens and merchants and present recommendations for action 
to the Planning Commission and City Council. 

 
DISCUSSION: 
After discussing with City staff and Commissioner Moon, staff has determined that streamlining business 
between the community and the City may best accomplish this objective. To that end, staff is recommending the 
following mechanisms for achieving this objective: 
 

1. Develop a pre-approved exterior lighting catalog that can be administratively approved by staff. Staff 
recommends that the catalog be used for replacement lighting only and not new lighting.  

2. Formally authorize a fee waiver for the removal of any tree that is clearly dead or dying. 

3. Re-format Planning Department applications and develop a process for digital application submittal. 

4. Authorize staff to approve signage that is substantially the same in design, color, and font, for which the 
change is in the business name only. 

5. Consider a language update to Section 17.68.080(k) of the City Municipal Code which restricts “neon 
signs” or “signs containing any outline tubing” within the Historical District. Staff recommends that this 
language be simply updated to encompass any internally illuminated signage.   Staff feels this language 
is easier to enforce and easier for the public to understand. 

 
If the above recommendations are ultimately accepted by City Council, and staff is directed to further develop 
the mechanisms to carry them out, staff expects that the final products would be presented to the Planning 
Commission for further consideration and prior to final approval.  
 
PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff is seeking feedback on any of the above recommendations and any other mechanisms for furthering the 
subject objective that staff may present to City Council.   


	0-6 114 Silva PCSR 1-26-2016 w Atts.pdf
	Att 3, Dunne Approved Plans.pdf
	Fire Conditions
	dunne_062316
	DUNNE RES PROGRESS 2-29-16
	A0 COVER SHEET
	A1 SITE PLAN
	A5 EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS







